
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date: Thursday 21 June 2018

Time: 10.00 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: Room 103, West Midlands Combined Authority, 16 Summer Lane, Birmingham, B19 
3SD

Membership
David Lane (Chair)
Councillor Craig Collingswood (Vice-Chair) City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor Sucha Bains Coventry City Council
Councillor Kerrie Carmichael Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Keith Chambers Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Steve Clark Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Sean Farnell Coventry & Warwickshire LEP
Councillor John Fisher Redditch Borough Council
Councillor Mariam Khan Birmingham City Council
Councillor Alexander Phillips Shropshire Council
Councillor June Tandy Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council

Quorum for this meeting shall be eight members.

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Lyndsey Roberts, Governance Services Officer
Telephone 0121 214 7501
Email lyndsey.roberts@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack



Agenda
Page 2 of 3

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages Time

Meeting Business Items

1.  Apologies for Absence Chair None

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of the need to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interests they have in an 
item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of it 
was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or £40 
(hospitality).

Chair None

3.  Chair's Remarks Chair None

4.  Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2018 Chair 1 - 8

5.  Matters Arising
(a) Health & Safety Reporting
(b) Whistleblowing

Tim Martin
Tim Martin

Verbal 
Report

6.  Forward Plan Chair 9 - 12

Business Items for Noting/Approval

7.  Strategic Risk Register Loraine Quibell 13 - 18

8.  WMCA Constitution Review Update Tim Martin Verbal 
Report

9.  Review of Arrangements for Standards and 
Conduct in the Combined Authority

Tim Martin 19 - 22

10.  Devolution Deal - Update on Changes to Fire 
Service Governance

Tim Martin 23 - 26

11.  Internal Audit Update Peter Farrow 27 - 32

12.  Investment Portfolio Governance Audit Update 
2018

Sean Pearce 33 - 60

13.  Annual Accounts 2017/18 for West Midlands 
Combined Authority

(a) Audit Findings Summary
(b) Audit Findings – West Midlands Combined 

Authority
(c) Audit Findings – West Midlands Integrated 

Transport Authority Pension Fund

Grant Patterson 
Grant Patterson

Grant Patterson

61 - 216



Agenda
Page 3 of 3

(d) Letters of Representation
(e) WMCA Annual Accounts and WMITA 

Pension Fund Accounts

Grant Patterson
Linda Horne

14.  Exclusion of the Public and Press
To pass the following resolution: 
That in accordance with s100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business as it is likely to involve the disclosure of 
exempt information as specified in paragraph 5 of 
the Act.

Chair None

15.  Health & Safety Governance Structures Mark Ashmore 217 - 224



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Friday 16 March 2018 at 10.00 am

Minutes

Present
David Lane (Chair)
Councillor Craig Collingswood (Vice-
Chair)

City of Wolverhampton Council

Councillor Sucha Bains Coventry City Council
Councillor Margaret Bassett Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Keith Chambers Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Simon Peaple Staffordshire Non-Constituent Authorities
Councillor Alexander Phillips Shropshire Council
Councillor June Tandy Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council

Item
No.

Title

54.  Inquorate Meeting
Please note that in accordance to the WMCA Constitution, this meeting was 
inquorate. However, the recommendations contained within the minutes 
were submitted to the WMCA Board on 25 May 2018 for formal approval and 
adoption.

55.  Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Kerrie Carmichael 
(Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council), Councillor Steve Clark (Dudley 
Metropolitan Borough Council), Councillor John Fisher (Redditch Borough 
Council) and Councillor Mariam Khan (Birmingham City Council)

56.  Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were made in relation to matters under 
consideration at the meeting.

57.  Chair's Remarks
The Chair reported that the City of Wolverhampton Council in partnership 
with Grant Thornton hosted a Midlands Audit Committee Forum on 15 
March, which saw councillors and Audit Committee members from Local 
Authorities come together to discuss key themes and their governance 
responsibilities.  The Chair thanked Councillor Craig Collingswood, Grant 
Patterson and Peter Farrow for an informative and very useful session.  The 
Governance Services Officer agreed to circulate a copy of the presentations 
presented on the day.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 7

58.  Minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2018
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 January were agreed and signed by 
the Chair as a correct record.

59.  Matters Arising
(a) Health and Safety Reporting 

Due to a burst water pipe and flooding to the first floor area at 16 
Summer Lane a decision was made to close the building to staff.  The 
business continuity process was followed and managed effectively.

(b) Whistleblowing Reporting 
The West Midlands Combined Authority had launched a new method 
for whistleblowing concerns and reporting suspected fraud for both 
officers and members of the public.  Anyone who wished to raise their 
concerns could submit a Whistleblowing and Fraud Form found on the 
WMCA website.

The Chair requested a review of the process and an understanding of 
all staff to the process.  The Head of Governance noted this request 
and undertook to look into this.

(c) Wolverhampton Interchange Overspend - Lessons Learned 
A lessons learned report with regard to the Wolverhampton Metro 
extension element of the Wolverhampton Interchange scheme was 
considered by the Investment Board on 13 March 2018. 

The Chair asked whether the summary could be shared with Audit, 
Risk & Assurance Committee, and dependent on whether the 
committee considered that it adequately covered the issues and 
lessons learned, it would determine whether a more detailed internal 
audit review would be required.

(d) Devolution Deal Update
The Head of Governance provided an update on the Second 
Devolution Deal.  He agreed to circulate the Devolution Action Plan 
that was considered by the Combined Authority Board on 9 March 
2018.

With regard to the West Midlands Fire Service, the Combined 
Authority Board would consider the outcomes of the consultation 
undertaken on the future fire service governance arrangements in 
May 2018.  The Chair asked for a report on the West Midlands Fire 
Authority Governance Proposals to be presented to Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee in June 2018.

60.  Forward Plan
The committee considered the plan of items to be reported to future 
meetings of the committee.  

Page 2



Page 3 of 7

Following the recent Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee self-assessment 
exercise, the initial results had been shared with the Chair.  However, in 
recognition of the forthcoming local elections it had been decided to put the 
exercise on hold until the composition and membership of the committee had 
been confirmed post-election.  The exercise had been added to the forward 
plan and time would be allocated at the September meeting in order to revisit 
it.

The following items were to be added to the forward plan.

 Standards Report (21 June 2018).  This should also include non-
elected Combined Authority appointees to the various boards and 
committees that it was establishing to ensure that there was 
consistency.

 Audit Findings Report (21 June 2018).  This should also include 
Pension Fund.

 West Midlands Fire Authority Governance Proposals (21 June 
2018).

 General Data Protection Regulations (September 2018).

 Brexit and the anticipated effect on finances and devolution aims 
(November 2018).

 HR Vacancies Update (November 2018).

 Grant Thornton Audit Plans (January 2019).

Resolved

(1) That the report be noted.

61.  Governance Structures
The committee considered a report of the Head of Governance that provided 
an overview of the Governance Structures of the Combined Authority and the 
Boards, Bodies and Committees that were associated with it.

The Chair indicated that Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee was 
independent of the executive and Overview and Scrutiny Committee and as 
part of the review of the West Midlands Combined Authority’s Constitution, 
the committee asked for this to be clarified in the Constitution.

Resolved

(1) The information regarding Governance Structures provided in the report 
be noted.

Page 3



Page 4 of 7

62.  Capability and Vacancy Risks
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance that provided a 
progress update on how the WMCA planned to meet capability and capacity 
demand through its resourcing and planning processes to ensure vacancies 
were managed effectively.

In respect of questions from Councillor Craig Collingswood, the Interim Head 
of Organisational Development provided further information on secondments, 
recruitment, consultants, budget and financial monitoring reports, skills and 
the development of existing employees.

Resolved 

(1) That the contents of the report be noted.

(2) The actions and considerations taken including systems and planning 
processes to manage Capability and Vacancy Risks be noted.

63.  WMCA Progress Report March 2018
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on progress in 
the delivery of the responsibilities of the external auditors against the 
external audit plan.

In terms of reporting, the final accounts audit was due to begin on 8 May 
2018 and the external auditor’s findings for 2018 would be included within 
the audit findings report to the committee on 21 June 2018.

Resolved 

(1) The contents of the report be noted.

64.  Informing the Audit Risk Assessment
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on the effective 
two-way communication between auditors and the Authority’s Audit, Risk & 
Assurance Committee, as ‘those charged with governance’.

Resolved 

(1) That the contents of the report be noted.

(2) That in respect of financial monitoring, the wording was to be amended 
to reflect that Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee receive financial 
updates by exception.

65.  Informing the Audit Risk Assessment for West Midlands Integrated 
Transport Authority Pension Fund
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on the effective 
two-way communication between auditors and the Authority’s Audit, Risk & 
Assurance Committee, as ‘those charged with governance’.

Page 4



Page 5 of 7

Resolved 

(1) That the content of the report be noted.

66.  WMCA Annual Governance Statement
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on draft Annual 
Governance Statement.

The Annual Governance Statement was a statutory document which 
explained the processes and procedures in place to enable the Combined 
Authority to carry out its functions effectively.  

Resolved 

(1) The draft Annual Governance Statement be approved, subject to 
some minor changes, prior to its inclusion within the financial 
statements for 2017/18.

67.  Outturn Report for Internal Audit 2017/18
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on the opinion 
of the Chief Audit Executive on the adequacy of WMCA control environment 
which was relevant in compiling the 2017/2018 Annual Governance 
Statement.

Resolved 

(1) The contents of the report be noted.

(2) The current position on the implementation of audit recommendations 
provided in 2017/2018 as set out in the report be noted.

(3) That no major risk exposure had been discovered since the last Outturn 
Report for 2016/17 be noted.

68.  Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18
The committee considered a report of the Chief Audit Executive on the 
annual internal audit opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Combined Authority’s governance, risk management and internal control 
processes.

It was reported that 15 audits had been completed during 2017/18 where an 
audit opinion had been provided.  A limited assurance rating had been given 
in the following areas:

- Establishment of the Mayoral Office 
- Data Security (including General Data Protection Regulations)

The Head of Internal Audit provided further information as to the reasons for 
the ‘limited’ assurance ratings provided for the above audits.  With regard to 
the establishment of the Mayoral Office, the committee highlighted the need 
to ensure that lessons were learned.  

Page 5



Page 6 of 7

Resolved

(1) The report be noted. 

69.  WMCA Assurance Overview March 2018
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on the views of 
the Corporate Assurance Manager’s opinion on the Authority’s systems of 
Projects & Programme Assurance and Business Assurance for this reporting 
period October 2017 - March 2018.

In respect of questions from Councillor Craig Collingswood, the Corporate 
Assurance Manager agreed to review the format of future reports to include a 
red, amber and green rating.  Future reports would also include activities that 
were on the horizon to enable Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee to have a 
detailed understanding of future activities.

In relation to the Wolverhampton Interchange Programme, the Head of 
Finance and Business Planning agreed to circulate a briefing note on the 
process used by the Combined Authority in the event of a change in financial 
assumptions with regard to interest rates.

Resolved

(1) The assurance reviews and activities that had been undertaken in the 
last six months be noted.

(2) The committee was satisfied with the assurance activity October – March 
2018.

70.  Internal Audit Plan 2018/19
The committee considered a report of the Chief Audit Executive on the 
Internal Audit Plan 2018/19. The internal audit document provided the 
Authority with a risk-based internal audit plan based upon an assessment of 
assurance needs.

Resolved

(1) That the risk based internal audit plan for 2018/19 be approved.

71.  Exclusion of the Public and Press
Resolved

(1) That, in accordance with s100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business as it involves information relating to an action taken or to be 
taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime.

Page 6



Page 7 of 7

72.  Follow Up Review 2017/18 Cyber Security Arrangements
As part of the Internal Auditor’s Annual Report 2017/18, the committee 
received a summary on the recommendations made by Internal Audit in its 
report on Cyber Security that was issued in May 2016.  During the period 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee had received regular updates from the 
Authority on how progress was being made in combatting the growing risk of 
Cyber security.

Resolved that the report be noted.

73.  Data Security Arrangements 2017-18
As part of the Internal Auditor’s Annual Report 2017/18, the committee 
received a summary on an audit of the Authority’s data security 
arrangements including records management and General Data Protection 
Regulation readiness.

The General Data Protection Regulation would apply from 25 May 2018 to all 
UK organisations handling personal data.

The Authority had created approximately 35 policies, documents and 
procedures that were currently in draft form.  The Audit, Risk & Assurance 
Committee asked the Director of Finance to ensure that all policies and 
procedures had been published and enacted as opposed to remaining in 
draft form by 21 June 2018.  The Director of Finance assured the committee 
that this would be addressed prior to the next meeting of the committee. 

Resolved 

(1) That the report be noted.

74.  Date of Next Meeting
The next meeting would be held on Thursday 21 June 2018 at 10:00am.

The meeting ended at 12.00 pm.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



WMCA Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee - Forward Plan 
 

Title of Report Description of 
Purpose 

Date of Meeting Lead Officer/Member 

Accounts - Additional 
Meeting 

 19 July 2019 Linda Horne 
 
 

General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) - 
Update 
 

To receive an update on the 
implementation of GDPR. 

21 September 2018 Gurmit Sangha 

Assurance Report Update 
 

Corporate assurance 
undertaken since the last 
update 
 

21 September 2018 Joti Sharma 

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits 
 

21 September 2018 
 

Peter Farrow 

WMCA Vacancies – Update To receive an update on 
capability and vacancy risks 
 

12 November 2018 Rita Rais 

Brexit Report To receive a report on 
Brexit and the anticipated 
effect on finances and 
devolution aims.  Also on 
the CA process used to 
cover risks. 
 

12 November 2018 Tim Martin/Linda Horne 

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits. 
 

12 November 2018 
 

Peter Farrow 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



Title of Report Description of 
Purpose 

Date of Meeting Lead Officer/Member 

Strategic Risk Register 
 

To consider and comment 
on the contents of the 
Strategic Risk Register 
 

12 November 2018 
 

Loraine Quibell 

Assurance Report Update  Corporate assurance 
undertaken since the last 
update 
 

14 January 2019 
 

Joti Sharma 

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits 
 

14 January 2019 Peter Farrow 

Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 To approve the Internal 
Audit Plan 
  

14 January 2019 
 

Peter Farrow 

External Audit Plan  To receive the External 
Audit Plan 
 

14 January 2019 Grant Patterson 

Strategic Risk Register 
 

To consider and comment 
on the contents of the 
Strategic Risk Register 
 

15 April 2019 Loraine Quibell 

Annual Internal Audit Report To note progress on audits 15 April 2019 
 

Peter Farrow 

Outturn Report 18/19 
  

To approve the Outturn 
Report 
 

15 April 2019 Tim Martin 

WMCA Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

To approve the Annual 
Governance Statement 

15 April 2019 Tim Martin 

WMCA Annual Accounts To approve the WMCA 
Annual Accounts 

21 June 2019 
 

Linda Horne 

P
age 10



Title of Report Description of 
Purpose 

Date of Meeting Lead Officer/Member 

WMCA Audit Findings To receive an update from 
external audit 
 

21 June 2019 Grant Patterson 

WMITA Pension Fund – 
Audit Findings 

To receive an update from 
external audit 
 

21 June 2019 Grant Patterson/Terry Tobin 

Contingency Meeting -
Accounts  

 15 July 2019 Linda Horne 

 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 4

  
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 21 June 2018

Report title Strategic Risk Register

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, Chief Executive of the WMCA
Email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7200  

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce, Finance Director
Email: sean.pearce@wmca.org.uk
Tel:  0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by None

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Consider and comment on the contents of the Strategic Risk Register (Appendix 1).

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 4

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report is provided to support the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee with their 
responsibility of providing oversight of Risk Management within the West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA). 

2.0 Background

2.1 Robust Risk identification and management arrangements are in place with regular 
monitoring being undertaken between Senior Managers, Programme Management and 
Commission representatives, following the principles of the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy. 

2.2 A quarterly review of the WMCA Strategic Risk Register was undertaken by Leadership Team 
in May 2018.  The review confirmed the register continues to reflect the current risk position 
and includes any potential impact likely to be generated from the potential stakeholder, 
capability and capacity risks arising from the transition of the West Midlands Fire Service to 
WMCA in 2019, the absorption of the West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner role by 
the Mayor in 2020 and the transfer of the Adult Education Budget to WMCA from 2019. 

2.3 The review by Leadership Team concluded there would be benefit in undertaking a more 
detailed review of its strategic risks, giving further consideration to the operational impact that 
risks would bring and to establish any additional risks requiring inclusion on the register. The 
Head of Governance is now supporting Leadership Team in the development and delivery of 
a risk workshop.      

3.0 Strategic Risk Register

3.1 11 risks continue to be recorded as strategic risks on the risk register. Full details of the risks 
including the associated remedial actions and any movement in the risk status is detailed 
within the risk register as Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 Risks captured within the register are recorded under the following headings, with the 

measurement of risk indicated prior to risk mitigation being considered, (inherent risk score) 
and the measurement of risk once mitigations have been applied, (residual risk score) being 
provided in the table below.   

Risk Inherent risk 
score

Residual risk 
score

Stakeholder & Political relations 12 8
Financial Assumptions of the 
Devolution deals 16 12

Delivery 12 8
Resources 12 9
Leadership team 8 4
Commerciality 8 8
Reputation 6 4
Governance 12 8
Information Security 12 9
Health & Safety 4 3
External factors 6 3

Page 14



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 4

3.3 Of the risks detailed above, the ‘Financial assumptions of the Devolution deals’, 
‘Resources’ and Information Security remain as key risks to the organisation. 

3.4 Financial assumptions of the Devolution deals  
3.4.1 Significant work has, and continues to be undertaken to realign the financial 

assumptions of the Investment programme from those previously determined 
at inception of the WMCA. It was determined at this time that 6% of the overall 
funding had been secured and further work was required to ensure the entire 
Investment Programme could be delivered as envisaged by the costs budgeted 
at that time. 

  
3.4.2 A financial review in December 2017 confirmed that 30% of funding is now 

secured and a programme is in place to ensure all other funding sources 
including public sector and local contributions, business rates, HS2 funding, 
Gain Share and the mayoral precept will be achieved.

3.4.3 In addition, a review of the Investment Programme governance and appraisal 
processes has been commissioned to ensure effective arrangements are in 
place to support delivery of the Programme. 

 
3.5 Resources

3.5.1 Detailed workforce planning, monitoring and management continues to be 
undertaken by the HR team as organisational plans and recruitment 
requirements evolve. HR Business Partners are focussing on the identification 
and management of resource pressures that need early consideration, 
particularly where capacity and capability issues are known. 

3.5.2 A flexible approach is currently being adopted with a mixed model of resourcing 
being progressed to meet demand, alongside the development of detailed plans 
in preparation of the wider capability and capacity requirements resulting from 
the increasing environment referenced in 2.2 above.    

 
3.6       Information Security

3.6.1 A key focus for Information Security and Data Protection has been the 
continuing preparedness in advance of the introduction of the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) on 25th May 2018.

3.6.2 To support GDPR readiness, a training programme has been rolled out to all 
staff to support their understanding and responsibilities associated with both 
GDPR and Information Security. A very high completion rate of 90%+ has been 
achieved to date. The statutory role of Data Protection Officer has been 
established, and all interactions with external parties have been reviewed and 
updated to meet WMCA obligations as a Data Controller.    

Page 15



 [PUBLIC]

Page 4 of 4

4.0 Wider WMCA Implications

4.1 The effective identification and management of strategic risks is essential in ensuring wider 
WMCA implications are successfully removed, managed or adopted as appropriate. 

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.    

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 Equality considerations are taken into account in the assessment of individual risks.  There 
are currently no direct implications arising from the risks contained in the corporate risk 
register or the contents of this report.    

8.0 Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Strategic Risk Register 

Page 16



Risk Description Likelihood Impact
Inherent 

Score
Controls and measures already in place Further actions required to mitigate risk Likelihood Impact Residual Risk Movement

Stakeholder & Political Relations

The devolution of new powers and budgets from government to the Authority 

under a reformed governance model will increase pressures on financial, 

operational, governance and scrutiny functions. There may be challenges in 

maintaining the relationships across the Region which helped to deliver The 

WMCA. 

3 4 12

Ongoing close working with LEP’s, Constituent and non-constituent members 

with regular communications in place to ensure all parties are fully engaged. 

Collaborative working to be maintained and extended where opportunities allow. 

The expectations of all members is to be clearly understood and shared through 

ongoing engagement with all partners and businesses at all stages of the 

Portfolio delivery. 

Wide stakeholder engagement and consultation activities completed to ensure 

successful proposal and transfer of WMFS to WMCA in 2019.   

Wide representation at Governance Boards are to be maintained. 

New opportunities being identified by Leadership Team to maintain and 

improve relations with stakeholders, including major commerical partners.

Joint implementation team being established to progress the transfer of WMFS 

to WMCA.

2 4 8

Financial Assumptions of the Devolution Deals

Assumptions of the Devolution deal have been made against expected economic 

growth, local precepts, business rate retention and interest rate levels. Not all 

have proved to be acheivable to date. 

If these assumptions are not regularly monitored and reviewed to ensure 

assumptions and budgets remain valid, then should these prove to be incorrect, 

insufficient funds will be available to meet the Investment Programme funding 

requirements or the model will not meet financial expectations and a number of 

delivery schemes will be unachievable, or members of the Combined Authority 

will be liable for outstanding financial commitments.  

4 4 16

Medium term financial strategy and Treasury management strategy in place, 

monitored and approved at Board level. 

 

Close working with Government to understand the ongoing financial position and 

its effects on the region including the:

Ownership and accountability of funding sources

Borrowing powers of the WMCA and/or mayor for regeneration

Ownership of Local Growth funds

Risks and implications of any existing Enterprise Zone business rate income 

commitments

Continuation of working with Government and constituent authorities 

regarding the assumptions relating to business rates. Mayoral rights to levy 

supplementary business rates has been incorporated into 2017 Devolution deal 

and is to be developed through an internal steering board.  

Funding for Growth programme set up to look at alternative funding streams.

Agreement required between all constituent and non-constituent members on 

a response strategy in the event of financial expectations not being achieved. 

Due to the funding gap in the programme, a ranking and sequencing exercise is 

to be undertaken by Q2 of 2018.

Possible delay to the secondary legislation to implement Business Rate 

Supplementary powers under review. 

3 4 12

Delivery

There is a risk the WMCA will come into disrepute if the organisation is unable to 

effectively deliver its obligations and aspirations as detailed in the Devolution 

programmes, the Strategic Economic and Mayoral Renewal plans or the 

Transport Act 2000.

3 4 12

WMCA Board undertakes overall responsibility for delivery of  the Strategic 

Economic Plan, future devolution deal development, investment decisions and 

for allocating resources. 

Clear governance structures have been developed and approved by WMCA Board 

to provide direction and roles and responsibilities for individuals, boards and 

committees.  These will remain under regular review to ensure they remain fit for 

purpose as the WMCA evolves. 

The Devolution Agreement Strategic Implementaion Plan (DASIP) has been 

agreed by DCLG and provides regular KPI reporting to Government.  

Robust assurance arrangements in place to ensure delivery meets all governance 

requirements inlcuding the DCLG Assurance Framework.   

                                                                                                                

WMCA Board and Leadership team providing oversight of any shortfalls in 

Investment Programme funding and opportunities for investment from 

stakeholders. 

The availability of sufficient capacity and appropriate skills in the marketplace 

to deliver the forward agenda is key to delivery and is on the Leadership 

agenda.   

 

A review of investment programme governance and appraisal processes has 

been commissioned to ensure effective arrangements are in place to support 

the delivery of the Investment Programme

2 4 8

Resources

If capacity and skills amongst WMCA senior managers and Officers are insufficient 

or conflicts with other priorities, this may impact on the ability to deliver the 

WMCA Strategic Economic plan or the Mayor's Renewal plan and impinge on the 

organisation's ability of securing future funding opportunities.  

3 4 12

Retention of high quality resources is a focus of WMCA Board and resource 

structures are regularly monitored at departmental, Leadership and board level.  

The governance structure and monitoring provides for early warning of possible 

pressures and required interventions to be sourced.  

Regular communications in place with all staff to maintain engagement across all 

levels of the organisation.  

Regular monitoring of the Annual Business Plan provides early warning of non-

achievement in expected deliverables. 

Leadership team regularly monitors the organisational structure to ensure its 

capability continues to meet the future aspirations of the organisation.

Workforce planning in place by HR to plan and manage key recruitment 

requirements to meet 2018/19 recruitment expectations. 

3 3 9

Leadership Team

There is a risk the capacity of the Leadership team is not sufficient to enable 

business decisions to be made in a timely manner, for instance due to difficulties 

in recruitment or excessive workloads. 

2 4 8

Leadership team has been established with key individuals who have an expertise 

in  their specific field and have established relations with key stakeholders to 

support the continued delivery of WMCA's agenda.        

Continued oversight of all functions is maintained by the CEO with weekly review 

meetings to enable early intervention. 

Close working arrangements in place with member authorities in order for all 

parties to provide mutual support as required. 
1 4 4

Commerciality

The WMCA has chosen to use commercial company delivery models in some 

areas.  Challenging economic conditions and/or material loss of revenue from 

investments may result in commercial income streams not being able to deliver 

commercial revenue targets and/or the services which are contracted to be 

provided. 

2 4 8

Formal governance structures are in place between WMCA and commercial 

bodies. 

WMCA directors appointed to companies providing regular interface between 

parties.

Compliance of all financial accounting arrangements.

Assurance & Governance checklist in place to review and confirm satisfactory 

arrangements are in place for all 'Arms Length companies'  

Close working arrangements to be maintained with WMCA commercial 

partners.
2 4 8

Inherent Risk Score Residual Risk Score

P
age 17



Risk Description Likelihood Impact
Inherent 

Score
Controls and measures already in place Further actions required to mitigate risk Likelihood Impact Residual Risk Movement

Inherent Risk Score Residual Risk Score

Reputation

There is a risk that the reputation of the WMCA will be compromised if the 

organisation does not present itself as, or deliver an effective and efficent 

organisation resulting in negative media coverage and an inability to deliver 

expectations.

Where the WMCA has significant monetary investment and/or where the Mayor 

is heavily involved in projects/proposals run by partners, for example the 

Commonwealth Games, the operation of Arms Length Companies or high profile 

sporting or cultural events in the region; the WMCA needs to manage the 

additional indirect reputational risks that are posed by association with these 

projects/proposals.

2 3 6

Communications engaged in all business activity, providing regular liaison with 

the Mayor's office to ensure a pro-active and consistent message is delivered by 

all, at all times. 

WMCA spokespersons provided with media training.

Regional Communications Group established ensuring access to media facilities 

for all WMCA members and stakeholders.

 Progress of financial contributions monitored to enable coverage of all WMCA 

successes or early intervention of possible challenges. 

Close engagement with wider organisations.     

Ensure regular review of Communication issues including forward planning 

Communications Grid. 

Ensure that major Regional initiatives e.g. Commonwealth Games have clear 

and transparent governance arrangements in place. 

2 2 4

Governance

A lack of , or non- adherence, to formal governance arrangements will result in a 

risk of  ineffective or  unsuccessful delivery of WMCA objectives and possible legal 

challenge  impacting on the WMCA's ability to meet its obligations and future 

aspirations. 

3 4 12

Comprehensive governance arrangements are in place and contained in the 

WMCA constitution, approved by the Board. 

The Head of Governance and Monitoring officer has direct access to the 

Leadership Team and WMCA Board, and responsibility for oversight of all 

assurance activities, including Audit. 

WMCA assurance framework developed in conjunction with, and approved by 

DCLG.

Governance activities are managed centrally to ensure robust arrangements are 

in place and conform to all legal requirements. 

Ongoing programme of Internal audits undertaken to provide an independent 

review that governance arrangements and internal policies are adhered to and 

remain effective. 

Risk based 2018/19 Internal Audit plan developed and awaiting approval by 

Leadership Team and Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee.  

2 4 8

Information Security / Data Protection

An inability to follow data protection requirements or to maintain secure ICT 

systems will cause the loss or misuse of personal data and ICT systems including 

opportunities for cyber crime and will result in legal challenges and an inability to 

maintain operations. 

3 4 12

A Retention and Disposal policy is in place which follows the 8 principles of the 

Data Protection Act.  

Comprehensive suite of ICT security systems and monitoring in place to maintain 

secure ICT systems and protect against potential cybercrime structured in line 

with the 10 Steps to Cyber Security' as set by the National Cyber Security Centre.  

Role of Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) undertaken by the Finance 

Director, providing board-level accountability for Information Security. 

Establishment of the compulsory role of Data Protection Officer as required by 

the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

Compulsory GDPR training in progress for all WMCA employees.

A suite of policies and procedures including Data Protection, Retention and 

Disposal, Information Security Incident reporting, Breach notification 

procedures and Privacy Notices are being reviewed and updated to reflect 

GDPR obligations. 

3 3 9

Health & Safety

Health & Safety procedures need to be maintained to ensure safe working 

conditions for staff, visitors and users of all WMCA facilities. Failure to provide a 

safe environment for all users will result in potential legal challenges due to 

unsafe, or unreliable infrastructure particularly on the transport network. 

1 4 4

Health & safety duties are delivered to ISO18001 standard with ongoing 

compliance externally assessed 6 monthly.

Quarterly inspections of all assets undertaken to ensure H&S compliance is 

maintained including review of accident reports. 

Monthly H&S position statement provided to satisfy Management Boards of the 

Organisation's Corporate responsibilities.  

Health & safety obligations are considered in the development of all projects and 

programmes.

Ongoing engagement with all WMCA departments to ensure adherence of H&S 

policies.  

Quarterly briefings to Leadership Team to support the oversight of 

organisational Health & Safety issues.   

Immediate engagement with emergency services and /or HSE to provide pro-

active management of any H&S incidents.  

1 3 3

External Factors

If external challenges or changes in policy from global, EU or government / 

political or financial change are not factored into WMCA plans, the delivery 

ambitions may become unachievable. 

2 3 6

All parties remaining cognisant of external factors including the short, medium 

and long term effects of the  exit from Europe. 

Maintaining awareness of existing and new legal and environmental regulations 

to ensure compliance at all times. 

Innovative programme delivery mechanisms to be sourced, working towards joint 

venture modelling (similar to the Metro Alliance) working collectively with the 

private sector on sharing of risk and costs with partners. 

Close liaison with HS2 Board to deliver synergies across programmes and 

providing a collective investment vehicle for growth to local residents and 

businesses.  

Working continually with the Department for Business, Energy and Industry 

Strategy (BEIS) to ensure the government agenda is met

Brexit implications continue to be monitored and the organisation remains 

cognisant of it's developments and the emerging risks. 

1 3 3

P
age 18



Page 1 of 4

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 21 June 2018

Report title Review of Arrangements for Standards and Conduct in 
the Combined Authority

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman OBE,
Chief Executive
Email: Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7200

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin, Clerk and Monitoring Officer
Email: Tim.Martin@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7435

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

(1) Note the information in this report.

(2) Authorise the Monitoring Officer to make arrangements for the selection of an 
Independent Person(s) in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee.

(3) Request the Monitoring Officer to finalise arrangements for a Code of Conduct to cover 
individuals working within and contributing to the WMCA governance structures who are 
not covered by the Code of Conduct for Elected Members.

(4) Request an update on these actions at their next meeting.

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 4

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The Committee requested the Monitoring Officer to undertake a review of the arrangements 
that had been put in place at the inception of the Combined Authority to discharge the 
responsibilities for Standards and conduct. This Report sets out the details of those 
arrangements and indicates some areas that require strengthening to complete the process.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Combined Authority was first established in 2016 and confirmed as a Mayoral Combined 
Authority in April 2017. Much work was done at that stage by the Officers and Members of 
the Constituent and Non-Constituent Authorities, working with existing staff of the then Centro 
Transport Body to complete all the necessary actions to ensure that the Authority was up and 
running and in good shape to meet its new responsibilities.

2.2 Although not a Local Authority in the traditional sense of the word many of the basic legislative 
checks and balances which apply to such bodies also apply to the Combined Authority. As a 
public authority whose main decision-makers are in the main, local democratically elected 
politicians, the local government provisions around standards and conduct are applied by the 
Combined Authority by Localism Act 2011.

2.3 Members of the Committee will no doubt be familiar with provisions for Standards and 
conduct in their own authorities and following the changes imposed by the Localism Act, there 
is now a degree of local choice in how these responsibilities are discharged so long as certain 
requirements are met. The principle that all public bodies should be able to demonstrate high 
standards of conduct for both Members and Officers is one that the Combined Authority would 
also subscribe to. Measures have been put in place to ensure that the legal requirements of 
the Localism Act 2011 are met, subject to the comments below.

2.4 As well as elected councillors who are appointed to serve on WMCA Boards and Committees 
and who are covered by the existing “statutory” Code of Conduct there are other non-elected 
individuals who are asked to become involved in the work of the Combined Authority either 
as co-optees or in another capacity. This is dealt with further at paragraph 4.3 below however 
the principle should be that these persons will also be covered by  a Code which subscribes 
to the common standards set out by the seven principles of public life, even where there are 
some statutory provisions under the Localism Act that do not strictly apply.

3.0 Requirements of the Localism Act and the Combined Authority Arrangements

3.1 The Localism Act requires all authorities promote and maintain high standards of conduct. 
Every Authority must adopt a Code of Conduct which adheres to the seven principles of public 
life

 Selflessness
 Integrity
 Objectivity
 Accountability
 Openness
 Honesty
 Leadership

Page 20



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 4

3.2 The Combined Authority has a Code of Conduct that was drafted as part of its Constitution 
and adopted upon inception of the Authority which complies with these requirements. The 
Code of Conduct is in a standard form and was informed by local codes already adopted in 
the Constituent Authorities.

3.3 The Act also requires arrangements to be made for the keeping of a Register of Interests and 
a Register of Gifts and Hospitality and for the declaration of any relevant issues at meetings. 
These arrangements are all in place and the Gifts and Hospitality arrangements were subject 
to an internal audit last year, with all recommendations now being discharged.

3.4 Naturally there is also the requirement for having a mechanism for dealing with any 
complaints that are made under the Code of Conduct. There is no longer a strict requirement 
to maintain a Standards Committee but most authorities still follow this route as being a more 
transparent route than any other. The Combined Authority’s decision was to incorporate the 
functions of a Standards Committee into the Terms of Reference of the Audit Risk and 
Assurance Committee. This is a perfectly legitimate way of dealing with this requirement 
however to date the Committee has not been required to exercise any of these functions.

4 Proposed Measures to Strengthen the Current Arrangements

4.1 The Localism Act requires the appointment of an Independent Person to be consulted in the 
case of a complaint being considered both by the Authority and by the subject Member in 
the complaint. (The function of the Independent person is to offer advice and comments and 
not to determine the complaint itself) At the time the Combined Authority was established 
the Authority appointed an Independent Chair of the Audit Committee and on the face of it 
this may have been considered to have discharged the requirement. Further consideration 
of the legislation indicates however that the Independent Person must be fully independent 
of the Authority and someone who is Chair of a key Committee does not fully satisfy this 
requirement, albeit that they may, in other respects, be fully independent. Any Independent 
person must be appointed following a public advertisement process and confirmed at Board 
level. It is proposed that the Monitoring Officer work with the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Committee to progress this including interviewing any proposed candidates for 
recommendation.

4.2 When dealing with complaints it is always hoped that a resolution can be reached through 
informal means if this is appropriate. This can involve, meetings, mediation or advice and 
guidance from the Monitoring Officer. Where this has not been successful, or where the 
seriousness of the matter makes this inappropriate consideration of complaints should be 
undertaken by a small subcommittee. It is proposed that this be established at the first 
meeting of the new Municipal year at which point some further training can be given to the 
members on this sub-committee.

4.3 One area where the Combined Authority differs from others is in the number of people who 
become involved in work of the Authority, for instance through Commissions, Task Forces, 
Working Groups etc. but who may  be either elected or co-opted members of this or another 
public authority. These individuals are often chosen for the skills or experience they can bring 
to the work of the Combined Authority over a limited period of time dealing with specific 
issues. These individuals will not automatically be covered by the Authority’s Code of 
Conduct. Nevertheless, it is important for reasons of transparency and public confidence that 
this position is regularised and that it is clear, by reference to an explicit policy which can be 

Page 21



 [PUBLIC]

Page 4 of 4

signed by these persons, that they subscribe to the seven principles of public life and the 
general ethical standards of the Combined Authority. A policy is being prepared to cover 
these appointments which will be reported to the next meeting of the Committee in 
September..

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 The legal implications are set out in the main body of the report. The principal requirements 
of the Standards regime are set out in the Localism Act 2011 and the Combined Authority is 
brought within the ambit of those requirements by specific provision in the Act although it is 
not a mainstream local authority.

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising from the subject matter of this Report 
although the principles of equal treatment and fairness would be particularly important in 
terms of determining any complaints received by the Combined Authority under its Code of 
Conduct

8.0 Other implications

8.1 None. 

9.0 Schedule of background papers

9.1 Not applicable.

10.0 Appendices 

Page 22



Page 1 of 4

     AUDIT RISK & ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

Date 21 June 2018

Report title Devolution Deal - Update on Changes to Fire Service 
Governance

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman Chief Executive
Email: Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7200

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin, Clerk and Monitoring Officer
Email Tim.Martin@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7435

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the update provided.

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 4

1.0 Purpose

1.1 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Service (WMFRA) have been considering and consulting on 
changes to the governance model for the fire service for some time as part of the 
Government’s direction for Fire Service reform and the high level duty placed on emergency 
services for greater collaboration. This Report updates the committee on the stage that the 
proposals have reached and reviews the actions to be taken over rest of the financial year.

2.0 Background

2.1 WMFRA commissioned an independent review and appraisal of future governance options 
for the Fire Service. A public consultation was subsequently held which in part looked at other 
governance models. The findings identified that a Mayoral Combined Authority model was 
preferred.

2.2 Following this in March 2017 the WMCA Board supported the WMFRA’s broad proposal for 
the transfer of its functions to the Mayoral Combined Authority and discussions began 
between WMCA, the MWFRA and the Home Office on this proposed route.

2.3 A Governance Review and a Scheme were subsequently prepared and approved by the 
Board under the provisions of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009.

2.4 It is considered that the Mayoral Combined Authority model provides good opportunities for 
the joint transformation of public services to West Midlands Communities, providing value for 
money in the delivery of public safety. The benefits can be broadly summarised under four 
main themes: public safety delivered through a range of responses to emergency services, a 
workforce to support joined up services and reduce vulnerability, continued improvement and 
transformation, and operational independence.

2.5 Specific consultation was carried out with all Constituent Authorities through their governance 
processes and the proposals received unanimous support from each authority. A public 
consultation was also undertaken on the final proposals and reported to the WMCA Board on 
25th May.

2.6 On 25th May the WMCA approved the final submission of the request to change the 
governance arrangements to the Secretary of State and the evidence and request to begin 
the formal process of drafting the appropriate Order has now been submitted.

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 The WMFRA is currently an independent public authority. The proposed changes will bring 
significant changes to the way in which the corporate governance of the organisation is 
delivered. At this stage because time is short, the minimum changes necessary are proposed 
in order to reduce the impact on the organisations and in the short term it is primarily 
governance which will change rather than other things.

Page 24



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 4

3.2 The WMFRA as an independent body will cease to exist. Staff will transfer to the Combined 
Authority under TUPE however at this stage it is intended to maintain existing staffing 
structures in order to preserve continuity. Consideration will be given in the future as to what 
changes and efficiencies are possible in the new arrangements however there is a 
demanding timescale to implement this by April 2019 and it is important that services to the 
public are not adversely affected in any way.

3.3 It is also important to note that a key feature of the arrangements is that the operational 
independence of the Chief Fire Officer(CFO) is preserved and that the CFO is responsible 
for the delivery of all the services currently the responsibility of the CFO and WMFRA.

3.4 The proposals contain the establishment of a Mayor’s Fire Advisory Committee which will 
advise and assist the Mayor on the discharge of his duties. It has been agreed that Scrutiny 
and Review of the service will be undertaken by the Combined Authority’s existing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. Audit duties will fall within the responsibility of ARAC however at 
this stage no scoping has been undertaken to establish the volume of work that may arise. It 
may be necessary to establish a sub-committee or similar arrangements to cover the work 
and to develop specific expertise in this area. Further discussion will need to be undertaken 
on this over the next few months including consultation with the Chair of ARAC as proposals 
emerge. It is hoped that the new arrangements will be ready to be discussed with the wider 
committee during the Autumn

4.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc.

4.1 We have begun to plan for implementation of the transfer of functions to the Combined 
Authority. There is much to be done over the next few months with a number of different work 
streams which have been identified. A joint Implementation team has been identified with 
colleagues from WMFRA and now that Board approval has been obtained to submit the 
request to the Home Office this work is beginning in earnest.

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The costs of preparing the governance review that considered the business case for the 
proposed change in governance arrangements have primarily been met by West Midlands 
Fire and Rescue Authority with additional support provided by West Midlands Combined 
Authority Corporate Services team from within existing approved resources.

5.2 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority and West Midlands Combined Authority will now 
be engaging with stakeholders and partners and in particular the Home Office to ensure that 
the additional costs of delivering the proposed change in governance arrangements are 
quantified and appropriately funded and to understand the flexibilities available to minimise 
the impact of changes on council tax payers in the West Midlands region.  

5.3 The existing pension arrangements for the Firefighters Scheme include an annual top up 
grant from MHCLG to fund the payment of retirement benefits due. West Midlands Combined 
Authority will be seeking assurance from central government that the existing arrangements 
to provide the top up grant will continue following the proposed change in governance 
arrangements.

Page 25



 [PUBLIC]

Page 4 of 4

5.4 The potential mechanism to ring-fence West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority funding and 
existing reserves within West Midlands Combined Authority’s accounts to protect essential 
fire services that was proposed as part of the recent public consultation exercise will be 
evaluated as part of the due diligence process that is now underway.

5.5 As noted a project team will be established and a project and resource plan developed 
including the identification of any transition costs and funding.

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 The proposals to change the WMFRA governance are undertaken pursuant to section 105 
of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 which allows 
responsibility for public services to be transferred between Authorities, including a 
Combined Authority. There are specific provisions in the 2009 Act (as amended) which set 
out the process for these changes and which are reflected in the commentary above.

6.2 Part of the work being undertaken as part of the Implementation project will be to ensure 
that risks, liabilities and obligations are all captured and dealt with appropriately. Although 
WMFRA represents a new area of work and responsibility we will have the support and 
expertise of existing staff who will be remaining in place to deal with the service.

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 An Equalities Impact assessment was undertaken as part of the proposals and equalities 
issues will be part of the planning process leading to the transfer. The protection of vulnerable 
groups and individuals is obviously a key consideration in the provision of the existing 
services by WMFRA and will be continued under the new arrangements.

8.0 Other implications

8.1 none 

9.0 Schedule of background papers

9.1 Report to Combined Authority Board 25th May 2017 “Governance of West Midlands Fire 
Service Public Consultation Outcomes Report

10.0 Appendices 

Page 26



Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 21 June 2018 
Report title Internal Audit Update
Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, Chief Executive
Email: Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7200

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin, Chief Audit Executive
Email: Tim.Martin@wmca.org.uk 
Tel: 0121 214 7435

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Not applicable

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the contents of the latest Internal Audit Update Report.

Page 27

Agenda Item 11



1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Committee with an update on the 
work completed by internal audit so far, this financial year.
 

2.0 Background

2.1 In accordance with the agreed work programme for internal audit, the reports 
provide an independent and objective opinion on the Combined Authority’s 
effectiveness in managing their risk management, governance and control 
environment.  

2.2 The reports will also feed into the Annual Internal Audit Report that will be 
prepared at the end of the financial year. The Annual Report will provide an 
overall audit opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the governance, risk 
management and internal control processes, based upon the outcome of the 
reviews completed during the year. This opinion can then be used to feed into 
the Combined Authority’s Annual Governance Statement that accompanies the 
Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 There are no implications

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no implications

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no  implications

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no  implications

7.0 Other implications

7.1 Not applicable

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 None

9.0 Appendices 

           

Page 28



 Internal Audit Update Report Quarter 1 
2018-2019

Delivered by City of Wolverhampton Council – Audit Services

Page 29

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjkh6zMqOvOAhUDuhQKHceGAR8QjRwIBw&url=http://birminghamnewsroom.com/mayoral-west-midlands-combined-authority-consultation-begins/&psig=AFQjCNG5T-wmDivFbU8WsGgucE-6xrxtHQ&ust=1472721188003891


This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Sensitivity: PROTECTSensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

1 Introduction
The purpose of this report is to bring the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee up to date 
with the progress made against the delivery of the 2018 - 2019 internal audit plan.
The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee has a responsibility to review the effectiveness 
of the system of internal controls and to monitor arrangements in place relating to corporate 
governance and risk management arrangements. Internal audit is an assurance function 
which provides an independent and objective opinion to the organisation on the control 
environment, comprising risk management, control and governance. This work update 
provides the committee with information on recent audit work that has been carried out to 
assist them in discharging their responsibility by giving the necessary assurances on the 
system of internal control.
The information included in this progress report will feed into, and inform our overall opinion 
in our internal audit annual report issued at the year end. Where appropriate each report we 
issue during the year is given an overall opinion based on the following criteria: 

Limited Satisfactory Substantial

There is a risk of 
objectives not being met 
due to serious control 
failings.

A framework of controls is in 
place, but controls need to 
be strengthened further.

There is a robust 
framework of controls 
which are applied 
continuously. 

2 Summary of progress

The following reviews from the Internal Audit Plan are underway:

 Business Planning Arrangements
 Health and Safety 

The remaining reviews from the Internal Audit Plan for 2018 - 2019 are as follows:

 Human Resource Planning, Capacity and Capability Strategy
 Devolution Deal Objectives and Financial Assumptions
 Business Continuity
 Budget Management Role and Responsibilities
 Joint Data Team Initiative
 Key Financial Systems

- Payroll
- Accounts payable
- Accounts receivable
- General ledger
- Budgetary control
- Treasury Management

 Birmingham Eastside Extension Project
 Governance Arrangements
 Midland Metro Operational Transfer
 Asset Management

Page 30



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 5 of 5

Sensitivity: PROTECTSensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Follow up of previous recommendations
We continue to monitor the implementation of previous key recommendations, and any 
major issues of concern relating to their non-implementation, will be reported back to the 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee. 

We are currently following up the following 2017 - 2018 audits:

 Expenses, Gifts and Hospitality
 Programme Management Office Project Appraisal and Support Functions
 Transport for West Midlands Capital Programme Prioritisation

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee
Date 21 June 2018
Report title Investment Portfolio Governance Audit Update 

2018

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive of the WMCA
Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7552

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce, WMCA Director of Finance 
Tel (0121) 214 7936
Email Sean.Pearce@wmca.org.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

None

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the progress made to date against the original actions in the Internal Audit 
findings for [11.1 to 11.8].

2. Note timescales for completion of recommendations from Arcadis review [section 3].

3. Note the detailed review of Investment Portfolio governance and control processes 
under taken by Arcadis [Appendix 1].

Page 33

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Sean.Pearce@wmca.org.uk


2

Purpose of Report

1. This report has been produced to provide in flight assurance to the Audit, Risk & Assurance 
Committee that progress has been made against the original recommendations in the Internal 
Audit review of Investment Portfolio Governance Arrangements for Programme Approval & 
Appraisal. It is set out in two parts, first a summary narrative on the progress made internally 
following the appointment to key senior posts within WMCA and the action plan developed as 
part of the audit and second a focused summary to provide a clear update on actions agreed.

Update on Assurance Framework and Governance Review and Timeframes

2. The development of actions to address key audit findings as well as the internal process to 
strengthen assurance on the Investment Programme has been supported by the 
Commissioning of Arcadis to support development of the Assurance and Governance 
Framework as well as Benefits Realisation alongside a wider maturity assessment of the 
Investment Portfolio. This was commissioned in two parts and will be reported to the 
Investment Board initially. Set out in the action plan above are those areas relevant to the 
Internal Audit Report review. 

3. The work has been commissioned in two phases, with the first focusing on confirming the 
current position and work required and Phase 2 delivering the key elements of that work .The 
outcome of phase one was to confirm that the WMCA Assurance Framework is suitable to 
deliver the assurance on the Investment Portfolio and that this needs to be enhanced and 
updated to reflect the changing nature of the programme. The Phase 1 work highlighted the 
development of an Investment Portfolio strategic direction, defined end to end process 
developments, how integrated programme management can be applied and opportunities to 
develop standardisation in the approval processes and efficient monitoring and measurement 
of cases put forward. This supported the development of strategic and operational risk 
management at all stages of programme. One key area that has developed since the Internal 
Audit Report is an increased level of performance management and support from the PMO 
function to help deliver governance and assurance processes across the Portfolio as 
recruitment to key posts has progressed and a restructure of the team approved.

4. This has all been supported by an improved level of reporting at a ‘Portfolio’ Level of the 
Investment Portfolio rather than solely a focused report on each Investment Decision at 
Investment Board and WMCA Board where key decisions are required at that level. 

5. Phase 2 of the review is currently being concluded with internal review prior to reporting into 
the Investment Board in July or September 2018 (the chair of the Investment Board will be 
changing given the AGM later this month). Key processes and guides will be strengthened to 
set out a high-level guide on securing funding from the investment portfolio and put forward a 
clear and simplified end to end process for an enhanced and effective governance structure. 
The outputs will ensure that there is alignment between WMCA and the delivery organisations 
on goals and requirement of the investment portfolio as well as setting out the WMCA structure 
to help delivery organisation secure funding through the governance process. 

6. Based on recommendation from the review of the Investment Portfolio Controls and 
Assurance, a draft document to define an enhanced governance and assurance framework 
has been agreed for internal consideration in June 2018 in line with the commitments provided 
to Audit, Risk and Risk Assurance Committee and an initial Portfolio Level Benefits Map 
created

Page 34



3

Strengthened & Defined Interfaces with Internal Teams and Agreed Terminology

7. To help embed the recommendations from the Arcadis review, internally it has been 
recognised that WMCA need to use clear and consistent terminology to support the 
governance and assurance arrangements for the Investment Programme. This will assist in 
supporting in the understanding of the various different boards and roles of complimentary 
teams in this operational environment across the wide group of stakeholders.

a. Consistent use of Project, Programme & Portfolio terminology
i. To help embed consistent and correct terminology. The Investment Programme 

will be correctly referred now to as the Investment Portfolio which contains a 
collection of Programmes and Projects.

b. Strengthened compliance, appraisal and assurance arrangements

i. Arrangements within the Portfolio Management Office have been strengthened 
following the internal audit review to ensure compliance to WMCA Assurance 
Framework. Business Cases submitted by the Delivery Organisations need to 
ensure that they comply with the requirements specified in the Assurance 
Framework.

ii. Appraisal processes for assessing business cases have also been strengthened. 
A consistent set of questions are asked to assess all business cases submitted 
to Technical Appraisal Panel. This outcome along with the assurance review is 
submitted to the approvals boards prior to informing the decision making 
processes.

iii. An independent Programme Assurance team is established separate from the 
Portfolio Management Office. The independent team is able to challenge the 
business case submissions and ensure that compliance to agreed controls is 
being followed. The Programme Assurance team will also undertake a level of 
independent project/ programme assurance review based on a risk complexity 
model. This is complimentary to the operational and process compliance 
assurance undertaken by the Portfolio Management Office. 

c. Role & Responsibilities of the Delivery Organisations 

i. To help distinguish the roles and responsibilities of WMCA as a (part) funder of 
the Major Programmes/ Projects and a Delivery Organisation. A Delivery 
Organisation has not been defined as the organisation responsible for the project/ 
programme across the whole lifecycle from initiation to delivery. The Delivery 
Organisations will be either a constituent or non-constituent authority 
organisation, LEP or Transport for West Midlands. 

Additional Resources/ Appointments to support the delivery of the Investment Portfolio

8. In the lead up to the Internal Audit Review on Investment Portfolio in August 2017 there had 
been several personnel changes for posts related to the Investment Programme. 

9. At a Strategic Director Level, to help strengthen the governance arrangements for the 
Investment Portfolio ahead of the Arcadis review being concluded, the Director of Finance 
(Sean Pearce) was appointed in October 2018 who is overall accountable lead of the delivery 
of the Investment Programme. Julia Goldsworthy also joined WMCA as Director of Strategy 
and will ensure that the Investment Portfolio continues to be aligned to the SEP. 

Page 35



4

10. Most recently, a new post for Head of Strategic Programme Delivery has specifically be 
created to lead the Programme Management Office, HS2 Programme Delivery team and 
WMCA Project Management team. Specifically in relation to the Investment Portfolio, this 
postholder will be accountable for maintaining and operating the Investment Programme 
governance. The Head of Strategic Programme Delivery will be the lead officer responsible 
for the overall programme delivery and oversight for the Investment Portfolio and commences 
employment at the WMCA in early July 2018.

Page 36



5

Summary of Progress against Internal Audit Actions Quick Wins

11. Considerable progress has been made against the original internal audit recommendations:

Audit Action Owner Timescale Objective Status RAG
11.1 Assurance 

Framework 
and Project 
Approval

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce

December 2018

March 2018

Longer term objective
1. Governance,  Roles & Responsibilities 

and Assurance Framework Review

Quick Win
1. Implementation of Investment 

Programme Risk Register 
2. Investment Programme governance 

services support 
3. PMO will be accountable for Investment 

Programme records
4. PMO accountable for monitoring/ 

tracking risks/ change control requests 

The Longer Term action is on track in terms 
of the reviews currently underway. The 
intention remains that the outcome of the 
review is fully implemented by the target date.

The Actions referenced as Quick Wins have 
been implemented with the Risk Register 
having been developed internally being 
reported for the first time into the Investment 
Board in July or September 2018.

Governance Services support the democratic 
processes that include the Investment Board 
and WMCA Board with the West Midlands 
Development Capital Ltd supporting the 
Investment Advisory Group. 

AMBER/ 
GREEN

75% 
Complete

11.2 Governance 
of Technical 
Appraisal 
Panel

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce

December 2018

March 2018

Longer term objective 
1. Review membership, Review interface 

with performance group and embed 
green book best practice

2. How is CA gaining technical assurance?

Quick Win
1. TAP Attendance recorded 
2. Investment Programme governance 

services support 
3. TAP revised roles, sign off due diligence 

process for business case appraisal 

The Longer Term action is on track and forms 
part of the current review referenced in the 
previous section now being considered 
internally in June 2018.

Quick Win actions are implemented and 
Governance Services is specifically referenced 
above.

Specifically the ACD document has been 
revised to better support decision making.

AMBER/ 
GREEN

75% 
Complete

P
age 37



6

4. ACD document development for action 
tracking 

11.3 Pre-Project 
Lifecycle 

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce

December 2018

March 2018 

Longer term objective – part of wider 
governance review 

Quick Win
1. Performance management group 

confirm process for evaluating change 
control requests and alignment to SEP 
priorities (prior to implementation of 
scheduling exercise) 

Quick Win action 1 has been implemented. 

Definition of a robust change control process 
is underway.  This also forms part of the 
overall Assurance review currently underway

Governance arrangements have been 
developed to consider Change Requests 
currently and they are reviewed by CA 
representatives on the Investment 
Performance Management Group and require 
sign off by the Investment Board dependent 
on value.

A process for approving Programme Change 
Control requests is being operated with 
Change Requests at a portfolio level forming 
part of the scheduling work.

GREEN

100% 
Complete

11.4 Project 
Appraisal, 
Scoring & 
Evaluation 

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce

December 2018

June 2018

March 2018 

Longer term objective – part of wider 
governance review 

Medium Term – review of DEIM

Quick Win
1. Development of TAP checklist
2. Operational improvements for TAP 

meetings to strengthen due diligence 

The Longer Term objective is currently on 
track and incorporate into the review 
referenced above.
Quick Win actions 1 & 2 have been 
implemented.

Appraisal documentation is now utilised for all 
projects which ensures that consideration is 
given to projects alignment to SEP and this is 
scored accordingly.

AMBER/ 
GREEN

75% 
Complete

P
age 38



7

Review of DEIM is being considered as part of 
wider Governance Review aligned to the work 
on Benefits realisation.

11.5 Business 
Case 
Governance

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce

December 2018 Longer term objective – part of wider 
governance review 

This is a longer term objective and part of the 
scope of current review scope. 

N/A

11.6 Local 
Assurance 
Process

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce 

March 2018 Quick win
1. PMO to ensure that documentary 

evidence is obtained in all instances 

Quick Win action 1 has been implemented.

Process has been updated to request 
documentary evidence.  Details of evidence 
are provided in the individual Assurance 
Covering Documents for each project

GREEN

100% 
Complete

11.7 SEP Board Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce 

December 2018

July 2018

Longer term objective – part of wider 
governance review to understand the role of 
SEP Board 

Quick Win
1. Establishment of benefits realisation 

role 
2. Economic Intelligent Unit to support 

scheduling exercise

Quick Win action 1 has been implemented.

Scheduling work is currently underway though 
Mayor and Constituent Authority Leaders and 
an update will be provided once this work has 
been completed. Full reporting of the current 
position with regard to future approvals is 
provided to the WMCA Investment Board. 

AMBER/ 
GREEN

75% 
Complete

11.8 Monitoring & 
Evaluation 
Plan

Director of 
Finance - 
Sean Pearce

December 2018

March 2018

Longer term objective – part of wider 
governance review 

Quick Win
1. Need to confirm that all FBC have 

submitted their monitoring and 
evaluation plans

Quick Win action 1 has been implemented.

The PMO now checks to ensure that all 
documentation required as part of FBC, 
including monitoring & evaluation plans, is 
provided

Further strengthened by use of appraisal 
documentation. This is being applied to the 3 
Programmes that have reached FBC.

GREEN

100% 
Complete

P
age 39



8

Assurance Provision to ARAC

12. The longer term actions from the Internal Audit date were given a target date of 
implementation of December 2018 due to the Arcadis Review. Phase 1 of the Arcadis Review 
identified any issues and areas for improvement around the governance, process and the 
operational team structure (output is attached). Phase 2 has now been produced in draft form 
to share with the Investment Board in the first instance in July or September 2018. Phase 2 
further details recommendations of how issues can be addressed as highlighted in Phase 1. 
Task & Finish groups are also to be set-up to prepare action plans for each of the 
recommendations. It is the expectation that Task & Finish activity concludes in July 2018 and 
then an implementation plan is developed. 

13. A follow-up internal audit would be independently undertaken by the internal audit team to 
confirm that the actions from the internal audit have been implemented. The findings of the 
audit would be shared with Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee. 

Conclusion 

14. Progress being made against the Internal Audit Report is on track with key work currently 
underway through a review commissioned to be delivered alongside internal resource. The 
appointment of the new Head of Strategic Programme Delivery will reinforce the leadership 
in this area and working together with the PMO Manager, the Team Manager for Project 
Management and the HS2 Growth Manager the plan continues to be to deliver the 
improvement programme in full to support the Investment Portfolio Internal Audit Review and 
wider aspirations of the Combined Authority for the Programme.

Page 40



WMCA
INVESTMENT CONTROL & ASSURANCE 
Phase 1 – Review and Recommendations

First Iteration

P
age 41



© Arcadis 2015

CONTENTS

Section 1 – Overview 4

Section 2 – Executive Summary 5

Section 3   Phase 1 Scope and Plan 6

Section 4 – As-Is Review: Key Findings & Insight 9

Section 5 – Design Principals, Recommendations and Next steps 12

P
age 42



© Arcadis 2015 11 April 2018 3

GLOSSARY

CAPEX Capital Expenditure OBC Outline Business Case

CEO Chief Executive Officer OJEU Official Journal of the European Union

Devo Deal Devolution Deal PMO Project Management Office

DfT Department for Transport R&R Rules and Regulations

ESG Executive Steering Group RACI Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, Informed

EU European Union SEP Strategic Economic Plan

FBC Full Business Case SOC Strategic Outline Case

IP Investment Programme TAP Technical Appraisal Panel

LA Local Authority(s) TfWM Travel for West Midlands

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership WMCA West Midlands Combined Authority

MD Managing Director WMGC West Midlands Growth Company

P
age 43



© Arcadis 2015

Overview

11 April 2018 4

Objectives

To carry out an Investment Programme controls and assurance review, and propose measures to deliver the following:
• Investment Programme aligned to maximise delivery of benefits and outcomes
• Drive simplicity and clarity – giving a clear line of sight from the WMCA portfolio to Investment Programme to project delivery
• Control and assurance  framework that appropriately balances WMCA control against project delivery autonomy
• A scalable approach which accommodates growth with assured delivery for both WMCA and non-WMCA led delivery

Phase 1:
• Review of assurance framework, processes and governance through focus interviews, document reviews, organisational model and finding of 

previous audits.  
• Identify findings and propose design principals as foundations for recommendations

Scope of this Review

Stakeholders Engaged Processes & Data Reviewed Organisation & Tools Reviewed

Tim Martin – Head of Governance
Claire Jones – PMO Manager
Joti Sharma – Risk Assurance
Andrew Morgan – Benefits Manager
Hardial Phull – IP Assurance Manager
Ben Khan – Arcadis
Andrew Wood – Risk Manager
Nigel French – Finance
Carl Pearson – Finance
Dan Essex – Governance

Processes:
Assurance framework Process
Business Case Submission Process
Approval Boards and Meetings
Evaluation Process and Criteria
TfWM Assurance & Approvals Process
Project Financing Support
Programme Management Process/PMO 
Governance and Administration

Data:
Framework/SEP/Monitoring and Evaluation
Audit Reports(Internal and External)
Business Cases and Evaluation Sheets

Organisations:
WMCA Leadership
WMCA Governance and Assurance
WMCA Finance
Local Authorities & Partnerships
Transport for West Midlands

Tools/Technology: 
SharePoint 
Accellion

P
age 44



© Arcadis 2015

Executive Summary

11 April 2018 5

Key Strengths Key areas to address

• A detailed, descriptive Assurance 
framework in place and well 
communicated

• A desire to implement a robust 
Investment Programme & 
Assurance framework

• Existing elements of functional 
and organisational structure and 
capability within WMCA 

• Working relationships between 
LA/Partners and WMCA

• Missing definition and detail for 
control and assurance measure 
for the IP framework

• Inconsistent interpretation of the 
Assurance framework

• Investment Programme’s lack of 
alignment to economic goals

• Lack of evidence based decision 
making

• Limited technical assessment for 
robust financial planning and risk 
management

• Limited commercial controls, 
financial value management and 
early legal involvement 

• No outline Proposal process( 
Stage 0) 

• An opportunity to review 
Investment Programme 
management technology. 

Top Recommendations

• Introduce simplicity by 
optimising the approval stages

• Optimising the PMO operating 
model for governance and 
assurance

• Introduce communication and 
Stakeholder Management

• Introduce evidence backed 
governance and decision making 
through enhanced  application of 
“The FIVE CASE” framework 
business case model. 

• Introduce commercial assurance 
& governance through the 
business case stages

• Adoption of online based tool for 
automation of processes, 
controls and reporting

The recommendations seek to develop a control and assurance model that is fit for purpose and delivers highest possible impact on outcome 
and benefits.  

P
age 45



WMCA Investment Programme
Phase 1 Scope and Plan

P
age 46



© Arcadis 2015

Investment Programme Control and Assurance: 
PROJECT CHARTER

11 April 2018 7

Deliverables When Objectives Risks

a) An enabled Investment Programme that delivers the highest 

possible impact measured by benefits and economic 

outcomes

b) Assurance framework that is enabled to prioritise funding 

and plan for delivery based on the Strategic Economic Plan

c) Integrated delivery framework hierarchy with strong 

governance and evidence based decision making 

In
 l

in
e

 w
it

h
 8

 W
e

e
k

 P
la

n

Develop a best practice integrated delivery 

framework which connects corporate vision and 

strategy through a benefits led approach to 

investment decision making

Risk Mitigation

• Project may not deliver 

expected outcomes without 

alignment of objectives, 

deliverables, assessments, 

and inputs 

• Business intelligence from 

stakeholders is critical to 

relevance of 

recommendations

• Agree Charter up front 

• Set up weekly stakeholder 

briefing and regularly review 

draft outputs

• Early and ongoing engagement 

on data, information and 

stakeholder availability

Activities

• Define the WMCA investment governance and assurance 

approach and methodology

• Interviews with key WMCA stakeholders to map the existing 

Investment Programme assurance framework, processes, 

capacity and capability 

• Desktop review of existing information to identify gaps

• Define the implementation approach and plan for delivery of 

the WMCA Investment Programme

• Design the organisational structure for the leadership and 

delivery of the WMCA Investment Programme including 

defining ownership and membership of the key programme 

governance and assurance forums.

• Define and communicate WMCA Investment Programme 

project lifecycle stage gate requirements.

• Refine and update assurance flow and decision making 

across the full assurance hierarchy

• Create an assurance calendar. 

• Outline the programme management and governance 

reporting framework.

In Scope Out of Scope

Collation and review of 

existing data

Focus interviews with 

WMCA key 

stakeholders

Review current 

assurance framework

Define design principles

Develop accountability 

and responsibility 

framework

Terms of reference and 

outline membership for 

decision making groups

Minor projects

Terms of reference for 

anything outside of the 

WMCA assurance 

framework decision 

making groups

Portfolio prioritisation 

process

Critical Success Factors

• Clear objectives defined and documented

• Timely meetings with key WMCA personnel

• Availability and quality of information

• Quick decision making

• Support and availability of WMCA resources

• Recommendations are recognised and understood by 

stakeholders

• Connectivity and alignment with Benefits Management workplan 

delivery.

P
age 47



© Arcadis 2015

Investment Programme Controls and Assurance Scope: 
DELIVERY PLAN

11 April 2018 8

P
age 48



WMCA Investment Programme 
As-is Review Findings & Insights

P
age 49



© Arcadis 2015

AS-IS REVIEW FINDINGS:
FINDINGS

11 April 2018 10

1. The role / relationship of PMO and the Programme Assurance team is not fully understood

2. Governance roles, responsibilities are not fully understood across the assurance framework

3. Investment decisions currently, are not evidenced based

4. There is limited/no risk management for projects flowing through the assurance framework

5. There is no overt requirement for “value assessment” and “value management planning” instilled in the financial case requirements

6. Levels of capability around technical assessment to incorporate financial risk management and support decision making

Key findings

ADDITIONAL FINDINGS
1. There is a lack of clarity around Investment Programme terminology used across combined authority and delivery partners

2. Local Authorities believe they already own a portion of the Investment Programme money from Devo 1

3. There is no evidence as to how the contingent risk in funding is being measured or managed

4. There is a level of funding complexity from partial funding of programme and projects

5. Lack of understanding around the role of the SEP board in the decision making process. No outline Proposal (Stage 0) to manage alignment to SEP 

early in the planning

6. There is duplicate decision making on business cases that have already been through other appraisals processes

7. No clear timeframe expectation on business case approvals process 

8. Lack of understanding around the role of the Investment Approval Board run by Finance Birmingham 

9. Lack of robust Reporting and Dashboard for Investment Programme and inflight projects

10.There is no evidence of a programme of audits being undertaken on existing schemes to assess risk and alignment to strategic economic plan

P
age 50



© Arcadis 2015

AS-IS REVIEW FINDINGS:
FINDINGS by Areas

11 April 2018 11

Overall Management
• There is unnecessary bureaucracy and slow decision making – processes, which 

need to be streamlined
• There are no defined strategies for relationship management between 

combined authority and delivery partners
• There are inconsistencies from strategy through to operations. 

Risk Management
• No clear evidence of how risks are measured?
• There is no standardised risk reporting methodology or a risk register 
• No protocols in place to escalate risk from project, to programme or portfolio 

level

Management Control
• There are inconsistencies regarding project management methodology across 

Pillars (Priorities) – Project Management Handbook is required
• There are Change Control & Change leadership gaps – a dynamic and consistent 

reporting and approval mechanism is required. 
• Access to more ‘live’ information is required to make people more accountable 

with a clear audit trail

Financial and Cost Management
• There is no coherent financial risk contingency evaluation – this is due to 

minimal technical capabilities in some areas
• Improvement required to financial systems, communications and assurance
• Risk of not delivering Growth Fund within set timescales, no ability to re-profile 

expenditure
• No commercial assurance, No Market backed costs, no savings glide paths in 

OBC & FBC stages

Resource Management
• Need PMO resource to evaluate what we are doing
• Investment in people is great, lots of training etc.
• Honesty and openness required – need to be realistic about what can be 

achieved
• A lot of resource to pull on from Districts – not the same level of technical 

expertise in WMCA.

Organisational Governance
• PMO operating model should be re-evaluated for capability, capacity and skill 

development. 
• Need fully defined reporting and dashboard
• Need to have flexible decision making system not reliant on lots of committees
• There is a duplication of committees / panels – question the relevance of panels 

and who sits on them
• Improve the approvals process and evidence scoring mechanism
• Gateway approvals process –There is lack of evidence backed decision making

Stakeholder and Communications
• More effective sharing of information with partnerships required – no 

comprehensive communication plans
• Communications between WMCA and LEP – not very clear
• Communications strategy and protocols required – one message, dedicated 

person to manage this and a consistent system

Benefits Management & Realisation
• Devo Deal very specific on outcomes required – there is no consistent output 

measurement at the moment
• PMO needs to understand full cycle of projects and capture benefits

*Findings limited due to lack of stakeholder availability

P
age 51



Delivering Investment Programme 
Design Principals, Recommendations and Next Steps

P
age 52



Design Principles have been identified through focus interviews, research and benchmarking

• Escalation – Controls and Assurance measures should have the ability to provide early warning indicators of performance and clearly identify

accountability.

• Scalable – Control and Assurance measure should have the ability to increase or decrease in scope as more funding is secured or projects

are paused / stopped in the future. Also should be able to support other areas outside the Investment Programme

• Forecasting – Control and Assurance must support the ability to develop a pipeline of projects

• Flexibility – Control and Assurance measures should have flexibility to work around modes of delivery within Constituent Authorities, with

the ability to balance overhead costs and the scale of the Portfolio.

• Safety – Control and Assurance should not compromise on any aspect of safety and provide opportunities to improve

• Visibility – Control and Assurance measures should be simple, clearly defined and widely communicated to all stakeholders

• Adding Value – Control and assurance measures should improve skills and capabilities across the Portfolio and share best practice to

continuously improve.

• Benefit Realisation - Support consistent and effective Programme / Project management processes that ensure policy initiative benefits are

realised with deliverable schemes

• Transparency – Control and Assurance measures must provide one version of the truth

• Standardisation - Ensure the standardisation of Programme / Project processes and improve coordination across the organisation whilst

minimising bureaucracy

Design principles identify what Investment Programme controls and measures should be in place, to achieve the Objectives. 
They are statements of control and assure what the assurance framework should achieve and what it should be measured against.

Investment Programme Control and Assurance Design Principles  

P
age 53



© Arcadis 2015

Creating Control and Assurance
Areas of Focus 

11 April 2018 14

Control and 
Assurance

Decision 
Making 

Benefits 
Management

Programme 
Management & 

tools (PMO)

Leadership & 
Governance

Comms & 
Engagement

People & 
Culture

Fund Management (Grants)

Business Case Development

Relationship Management 

Assurance

Gateways & Appraisal

Progress Tracking 

Stakeholder Management 

Benefit Management 

Interdependency Management 

Reporting

Risk Management 

Resourcing / Capacity Planning

Programming / Scheduling 

Commercial  Management  

Change Management 

Document Control

Change Leadership

Lessons Learnt

Training & Development

Best Practice 

✓ Increased transparency of a unified approach to project, programme and portfolio management.

✓ Clear appraisal leading to the selection and progression of the right schemes.

✓ Establish a hub of best practice that can be accessed by the whole organisation.

✓ Manage project performance, track benefits and provide clear expectations for delivery staff.

✓ Single version of the truth supported by real time live information accessed by innovative technical solutions.

✓ More financial, technical and commercial accountability and evidence-based decision making.

Areas that require Definition and Detail Corporate 
Audit & 

Assurance

P
age 54



© Arcadis 2015

Control and Assurance Recommendations

11 April 2018 15

Decision 
Making 

Benefits 
Management

Programme 
Management & 

Tools (PMO)

Leadership & 
Governance

Comms & 
Engagement

People & Culture

A robust PMO Organisation that can define Objectives, 
Policy, Process, Governance & Responsibilities. Use an 
IT platform that supports delivery of the portfolio 
(Programme); It is able to define tangible outcomes 
required at each Milestone – with documentary 
evidence required for end of stage review). Supports 
Programme Director in Delivery organisations

Re-issue clear objectives of the Investment 
Programme fund and criteria for allocation of funds. 
Re-establish Management and evaluation Boards, 
reduce duplications in approvals process, introduce 
mechanism for early alignment of projects and 
programmes to economic plans.  

Introduce Single point of contacts between WMCA 
and Delivery organisation. A clear and 
comprehensive communications plan for 
implementation of Investment Programme for both 
internal and external stakeholders. A plan that can 
take everyone along on a journey

Implement simplified decision making based on Five 
Case framework, WebTag, Dft standards. Risk 
management and scoring system that includes, 
commercial assurance such as market back costs and 
value management plans. Early technical assurance of 
proposed schemes will result in financial risk 
management through the decision making process.

A comprehensive upskilling within WMCA and 
delivery organisations with formal inductions 
and capability enhancement. 

Based on as is review of the existing assurance framework and using the following design principals following recommendations are proposed for 
each of the areas 

There is a need to capture baseline measurement 

to identify the current performance of the 
Investment Programme so that any improvement 

arising form the benefits management strategy 

can be measured with clear timelines and 

milestones. 

P
age 55



© Arcadis 2015

Investment Programme Controls and Assurance
Next Steps – Phase 2

11 April 2018 16

Develop terms of reference for following:

1. Re-establish and re-socialise Investment Programme vision, governance strategy and leadership strategy

2. Simplify Investment Programme engagement common principals, evaluate control and assurance options and standardise terminologies

3. Propose organisational structure, PMO target operational model and role of Corporate Assurance  

4. Introduce clear Investment Programme engagement model that simplifies relationship between combined authority (PMO & Audit) and 
delivery partners with clear expectations, support mechanism, roles and responsibilities

5. Define control & assurance measures for business cases using the “Five case business framework” for well documented and evidence based 
evaluation approach.

6. Embed assessment and “value management planning” within business cases for robust financial risk management and contingency 
planning

7. Define and re-formalise the appraisal boards with clear agendas, structure, roles and responsibilities

8. Propose an internal and external stakeholder engagement and communication plan 

9. Define tactical, regional and strategic programme reporting mechanism and dashboards 

10. Establish skill development opportunities, wider capability development and planning

11. Propose and explore a cloud based Portfolio management tool

P
age 56



© Arcadis 2015
11 April 2018 17

Arcadis UK
Arcadis House

Regents Quarter

34 York Way

London, N1 9AB

United kingdom

arcadis.com

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© Arcadis 2015

Investment Programme Controls and Assurance
Next Steps – Phase 2

13 June 2018 1

Based on recommendation following actions will be taken in Phase 2 :

1. Re-establish and re-socialise Investment Programme vision, governance strategy and 
leadership strategy

2. Simplify Investment Programme engagement common principals, evaluate control and 
assurance options and standardise terminologies

3. Propose organisational structure, PMO target operational model and role of Corporate 
Assurance  

4. Introduce clear Investment Programme engagement model that simplifies relationship 
between combined authority (PMO & Audit) and delivery partners with clear 
expectations, support mechanism, roles and responsibilities

5. Define control & assurance measures for business cases using the “Five case business 
framework” for well documented and evidence based evaluation approach.

6. Embed assessment and “value management planning” within business cases for robust 
financial risk management and contingency planning

7. Define and re-formalise the appraisal boards with clear agendas, structure, roles and 
responsibilities

8. Propose an internal and external stakeholder engagement and communication plan 

9. Define tactical, regional and strategic programme reporting mechanism and 
dashboards 

10. Establish skill development opportunities, wider capability development and planning

11. Propose and explore a cloud based Portfolio management tool

These actions will result in following outputs

1. A document establishing Investment Programme Vision, purpose and 
Strategy – build on VSG development work (c5 Pages)

2. Propose Universal Investment Programme terminologies and define 
terminologies. (c3 Pages)

3. Portfolio Management office (PMO) design and boundaries ( c1 page)

3.1 PMO Team Structure (c1 page)

3.2 PMO roles and responsibilities and engagement options/strategy 
(c3 pages)

3.3 Delivery Organisation – Roles and Responsibilities (c3 pages)

3.4. PMO and Delivery Organisation Method/Options of Engagement

3.5 Key elements of Portfolio Management Manual – (c2 pages)

3.6 Define PMO tools, Processes, Data and capabilities (c5 pages)

4.1 PMO & Risk Assurance methods of engagement. (c2 pages)

5. Redefine - Requirements for business cases at each stage (c5 pages)

5.1 . Define Control Areas and guidelines for controls Areas

6. Propose guidelines for “financial value management”. (c3 pages)

7. Re-establish, define and structure Appraisal Boards (c4 Pages)

7.1 Guidelines for Appraisal and Evaluation Process, structure, roles and 
responsibilities and meeting cadence  – ( 5 Pages )

8. Stakeholder Mapping, RACI matrix, Comms Plan ( Plan on page) – (c4 
Pages)

9. Guidelines for Dashboard Development – Strategic, Regional and 
Operational (c3 pages)

10. Capability guide,  Skills Plan and High-Level Role Requirements– (c5 
Pages)

11. Assess/Propose and Business Case a Cloud based tool fit for 
purpose  - (c2 pages) *c = Circa

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



[PROTECT]

Page 1 of 3

    
         

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee 

Date 21 June 2018 

Report title Annual Accounts 2017/18 for West Midlands Combined 
Authority

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE 
Chief Executive
Email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk 
Tel: 0121 214 7200 

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce, S151 Officer to the Combined Authority
Email: sean.pearce@wmca.org.uk 
Tel: 0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Combined Authority Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Approve the signing of the letter of representation for WMCA and the West Midlands 
Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund by the Director of Finance.

2. Approve the annual accounts of WMCA and the West Midlands Integrated Transport 
Authority Pension Fund.

3. Note the Audit Findings Reports presented by Grant Thornton.

4. Note that Grant Thornton propose to issue an unqualified audit opinion on these accounts.

5. Subject to no further issues being raised by Grant Thornton, approve that the Mayor and 
the Director of Finance be authorised to sign the accounts on behalf of WMCA.

Page 61

Agenda Item 13



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 2 of 3

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report has been produced for the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee to approve the 
annual accounts of the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) and the West Midlands 
Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund for the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

1.2 The audit has been completed without any issues and only minor presentational adjustments 
identified during the audit

2.0 Background

2.1 The accounts for the WMCA were submitted to the auditors on 8 May 2018.

2.2 The accounts for West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund were submitted 
to the auditors on 21 May 2018.

2. 3 The accounts for the WMCA and the West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension 
Fund were circulated to the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee for review and comments on 
8 May 2018 and 23 May 2018 respectively. 

2.4 A full review with the Chair of Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee and WMCA Finance was 
undertaken and comments reflected. No further comments have been received.

2.5 The following are attached for review and approval:

i) West Midlands Combined Authority financial report 2017/18
ii) West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund financial report 2017/18
iii) Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report for WMCA and the West Midlands Integrated 

Transport Authority Pension Fund
iv) Letters of Representation for WMCA and West Midlands Integrated Transport 

Authority Pension Fund

3.0 Annual Accounts

3.1 WMCA position

The West Midlands Combined Authority Board has received regular financial monitoring 
information throughout 2017/18.

The final outturn position was reported to the West Midlands Combined Authority Board on 
25 May 2018.

A detailed briefing and review of the outturn position was undertaken with the Chair of Audit, 
Risk & Assurance Committee and WMCA Finance to give assurance that the accounts 
presented reflect the activities for the year.

Page 62



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 3 of 3

A reconciliation between the return for 2017/18 reported to the West Midlands Combined 
Authority Board and the final return is shown below:

481 

481 As per WMCA accounts

£'000Reconciliation of outturn to statutory accounts

Return reported to West Midlands Combined Authority 
Board on 25 May 2018

3.2 The audit for WMCA and the West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
has completed and the auditors will present their findings to the meeting with the proposal 
being to issue an unqualified audit opinion on these accounts.

3.3 West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund

The accounts for the West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund were 
submitted to Wolverhampton on 11 May 2018 and the audit work completed on 4 June 2018.

The fund account on page 8 shows a net decrease in the year of £10.845m, with net assets 
as at 31 March 2018 of £492.039m.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 The financial implications are covered within the body of this report and the attached annual 
accounts reflect the results for the year ended 31 March 2018.

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 Production of these accounts is a statutory requirement.

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 Alternative formats for these accounts are available upon request.

7.0 Other implications

7.1 There are no other implications arising from this report.

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 West Midlands Combined Authority financial report 2017/18

8.2 West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund financial report 2017/18

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



©  2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Audit Summary  |  2017/18

Audit Findings Summary
West Midlands Combined Authority

West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund
DRAFT 21 June 2018

Combined Authority Pension Fund

Those charged with governance On 8 December 2017, as permitted by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the WMCA Board amended the 
Constitution to delegate the accounts approval process to the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee (ARAC). We 
therefore consider ARAC are those charged with governance.

Final overall materiality There were no changes in materiality benchmarks or other planning assumptions following receipt of financial
statements.

£4.634m
Being 1.8% of the Authority's gross operating expenses

£5.029m
Being 1% of the Fund’s net assets

Separate materiality levels Disclosures of senior manager remuneration (£100k).) None were set.

Significant risks Improper revenue recognition
• This was rebutted and our audit work did not identify any issues to require us to reconsider the rebuttal.

Management over-ride of control
• Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of management override of controls.

Valuation of pension fund net liability

• Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect 
of the pension fund net liability.

Level 3 Investments Valuation is 
incorrect
• We have concluded that the valuation is 

reasonable and not materially misstated

Financial statements • One material misclassification adjustment.

• Minor changes made to correct typographical errors 
and to ensure consistency with reporting guidance.

• All work completed other than closure matters.
• No material adjustments
• No unadjusted misstatements 

• Minor changes made to correct typographical 
errors and to ensure consistency with reporting 
guidance.

• All work completed other than closure matters.
• No material adjustments
• No unadjusted misstatements 

Opinion on the accounts Unqualified opinion to be issued

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 
2018 and of its expenditure and income for the year then 
ended; 

Unqualified opinion to be issued

In our opinion the pension fund financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial transactions 
of the pension fund during the year ended 31 March 
2018 and of the amount and disposition at that date 
of the fund’s assets and liabilities, 

Statutory duties No matters to report

• We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties. 

Other Information Unqualified opinion to be issued
• Other information published with the financial statements, which includes the Statement of Accounts, Annual 

Governance Statement (AGS) and Narrative Report are consistent with our knowledge of your organisation and 
the financial statements we have audited.

VFM risks identified Unqualified conclusion to be issued
• The Authority had proper arrangements in all significant 

respects to ensure it delivered value for money in its 
use of resources. 

Not Applicable

Issue of closure certificate We do not expect to be able to certify the completion of the 2017/18 audit of West Midlands Combined Authority 
pending the completion of our work on Whole of Government Account and due to the pension fund annual report not 
being available as at the time of writing

Independence We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are 
required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the Financial Reporting Authority's Ethical 
Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an 
objective opinion on the financial statements 

Planned Audit fees (ex VAT) 46,500 21,000

Final Audit fees (ex VAT) 46,500 21,000

Fees for other services 2,750 NILPage 65



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 

Audit Findings
Year ending 31 March 2018

West Midlands Combined Authority

21 June 2018

P
age 67



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Headlines 3

2. Financial statements 4

3. Value for money 13

4. Independence and ethics 17

Appendices

A. Audit adjustments

B. Fees

C. Audit Opinion

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 
control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements 
in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our 
prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report 
was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is 
available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Grant Patterson

Director

T:  0121 232 5296

E: grant.b.Patterson@uk.gt.com

Nicola Coombe

Senior Manager

T: 0121 232 5206

E: nicola.coombe@uk.gt.com

Ellena Grant-Pearce

Executive

T: 0121 232 5397

E: Ellena.grant-pearce@uk.gt.com

P
age 68



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 3

Headlines
This table summarises the key issues arising from the statutory audit of West Midlands Combined Authority (‘the Authority’) and the preparation of the Authority's financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018 for those charged with governance.

Financial
Statements

Under the International Standards of Auditing (UK) (ISAs), we are
required to report whether, in our opinion:
• the Authority's financial statements give  a true and fair view of the 

Authority’s financial position and Authority’s expenditure and 
income for the year, and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
and prepared in accordance with the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

We are also required to report whether other information published 
together with the audited financial statements (including the Statement 
of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and Narrative 
Report), is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

Our audit work was completed on site during May and June. Our findings are summarised 
on pages 4 to 12. We have identified one adjustment to the financial statements, but this is 
by way of reclassification only, and does not impact on the reported surplus of £481k in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. The audit adjustment is 
detailed in Appendix A.

Subject to outstanding queries being resolved, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit 
opinion following the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee (ARAC) meeting on 21 June 
2018, as detailed in Appendix C. These outstanding items are listed on page 4.

We have concluded that the other information published with the financial statements, 
which includes the Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Narrative 
Report, are consistent our knowledge of your organisation and with the financial 
statements we have audited.

Value for Money 
arrangements

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code'), we are required to report whether, in our opinion:
• the Authority has made proper arrangements to secure economy,

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for
money (VFM) conclusion')

We have completed our risk based review of the Authority’s value for money 
arrangements. We have concluded that West Midlands Combined Authority has proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

We therefore anticipate issuing an unqualified value for money conclusion, as detailed in 
Appendix C. Our findings are summarised on pages 13 to 16.

Statutory duties The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) also requires
us to:
• report to you if we have applied any of the additional powers and

duties ascribed to us under the Act; and
• certify the closure of the audit.

We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties.

We do not expect to be able to certify the conclusion of the audit as we are required to 
give an opinion on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements of the 
Authority included in the Pension Fund Annual Report with the pension fund financial 
statements included in the Statement of Accounts. As the Pension Fund has not prepared 
the Pension Fund Annual Report at the time of this report we have yet to issue our report 
on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements. Until we have done so, we 
are unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements.

Additionally, we are yet to commence our work on the Whole of Government Accounts 
which also prevents us from certifying the conclusion of the audit.  

Acknowledgements
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

P
age 69



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Report Name  |  Date 4

Summary
Overview of the scope of our audit

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are 
significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial 
reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the 
Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). 

On 8 December 2017, in line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the WMCA 
Board amended the Constitution to delegate the accounts approval process to the Audit, 
Risk & Assurance Committee (ARAC). We therefore consider ARAC are those charged 
with governance.

The contents of this report have been discussed with management. As auditor we are 
responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged 
with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or 
those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial 
statements.

Audit approach

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Authority's business 
and is risk based, and in particular included:

• An evaluation of the Authority's internal controls environment including its IT systems 
and controls; and

• Substantive testing on significant transactions and material account balances, including 
the procedures outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks

Conclusion

We have substantially completed our audit of your financial statements and subject to 
outstanding queries being resolved, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion 
following the ARAC meeting on 21 June 2018, as detailed in Appendix C. These 
outstanding items include:

- obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation

- updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the opinion

- submissions relating to the Whole of Government Accounts.

Financial statements 

P
age 70



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Report Name  |  Date 5

Summary continued

Financial statements 

Our assessment of the value of materiality, performance materiality and trivial matters 
has been adjusted to reflect the gross expenditure in the draft financial statements as 
at 31 March 2018. For the purposes of our audit plan, they were based on the gross 
expenditure as at 31 March 2017. We detail in the table below our assessment of 
materiality for West Midlands Combined Authority.

Our approach to materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and 
the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to disclosure 
requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 

Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered 

Materiality for the financial statements 4,643,000 (updated from 4,527,000) We determined materiality for the audit of the Authority’s financial statements as a 
whole to be £4,643,000, which is 1.8% of the Authority's gross operating expenses. 
This benchmark is considered the most appropriate because we consider users of the 
financial statements to be most interested in how it has expended its revenue and 
other funding. 

Performance materiality 3,482,000 (updated from 3,395,000) We use a different level of materiality, performance materiality, to drive the extent of 
our testing and this was set at 75% of financial statement materiality for the audit of the 
financial statements. Our consideration of performance materiality is based upon a 
number of factors:

 No significant audit findings were identified by the predecessor auditors

 We are not aware of a history of significant deficiencies or a high number of 
deficiencies in the control environment 

 There has not historically been a large number or significant misstatements 
arising as a result of the financial statements audits at the Authority

 Senior management and key reporting personnel in the finance function has 
remained stable from the prior year audit 

Trivial matters 232,150 (updated from 226,350) We determined the threshold at which we will communicate misstatements to the Audit 
Committee to be £232,150.

Materiality for specific transactions, 
balances or disclosures

100,000 In accordance with ISA320 we have considered the need to set lower levels of 
materiality for sensitive balances, transactions or disclosures in the accounts. We 
consider the disclosures of senior manager’s remuneration to be sensitive as we 
believe these disclosures are of specific interest to the reader of the accounts.

P
age 71



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for [ANOTHER] Authority  |  2017/18 

DRAFT

6

Significant audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 Improper revenue recognition
Under ISA 240 (UK) there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to the improper 
recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 
concludes that there is no risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 
recognition. 

Auditor commentary

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the Authority, we have 
determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• The culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including West Midlands Combined Authority, mean that all 
forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for West Midlands Combined Authority.

 Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 
presumed risk that the risk of management over-ride 
of controls is present in all entities. 

The Authority faces external scrutiny of its spending, 
and this could potentially place management under 
undue pressure in terms of how they report 
performance.

We identified management override of controls as a 
risk requiring special audit consideration.

Auditor commentary

We have:

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements applied and decisions made by management and 
consider their reasonableness 

• obtained a full listing of journal entries, identify and tested unusual journal entries for appropriateness

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or significant unusual transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of management override of controls.

Financial Statements 

P
age 72



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for [ANOTHER] Authority  |  2017/18 

DRAFT

7

Significant audit risks continued
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 Valuation of pension fund net liability
The Authority's pension fund asset and liability as 
reflected in its balance sheet represent a significant 
estimate in the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of the pension fund net 
liability as a risk requiring special audit consideration.

Auditor commentary

We have:

 reviewed the pensions prepayment paid by the Authority to the Pension Fund in April 2017 and are satisfied it was 
subject to due process and has been accounted for in the financial statements correctly

 identified the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund liability is not materially misstated. 
We also assessed whether these controls were implemented as expected and whether they are sufficient to mitigate 
the risk of material misstatement

 evaluated the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out your pension fund valuation. We 
gained an understanding of the basis on which the valuation is carried out

 undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made

 checked the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the financial statements 
with the actuarial report from your actuary

PwC were engaged by the Audit Commission (and subsequently the NAO) as consulting actuary to undertake a central 
review of the actuaries used by the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 

They produce a report designed to provide support to auditors when assessing the competence and objectivity of, and 
assumptions and approach adopted by, actuaries producing IAS 19 figures in respect of the LGPS, Police and Fire 
schemes as at 31 March 2018.

We use this report to inform our assessment of the valuation of the pension fund liability in the Authority’s accounts. 

We have compared the assumptions used by the Authority’s actuary against industry benchmarks. Based on the work 
performed we are able to conclude that management’s assumptions overall are reasonable.

The liability as at 31 March 2017 was £57.166m. This has reduced during the year by £6.953m to £50.213m.

The value of the net pension liability in the balance sheet is not equal to the pension reserve of £55.377m. We are 
satisfied that this is appropriate, as the difference is due to the prepayment of £5.164m referred to above.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of the pension fund net liability.

Financial statements

P
age 73



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for [ANOTHER] Authority  |  2017/18 

DRAFT

8

Reasonably possible audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 Employee remuneration
Payroll expenditure represents a significant percentage of the 
Authority’s operating expenses. 

As the payroll expenditure comes from a number of individual 
transactions there is a risk that payroll expenditure in the 
accounts could be understated. We therefore identified 
completeness of payroll expenses as a risk requiring 
particular audit attention

Auditor commentary

We have:

• evaluated the Authority's accounting policy for recognition of payroll expenditure for appropriateness;

• gained an understanding of the Authority's system for accounting for payroll expenditure and evaluated the
design of the associated controls;

• obtained the year-end payroll reconciliation and ensured amount in accounts can be reconciled to ledger and
through to payroll reports, investigating any significant adjusting items as appropriate.

• agreed payroll related accruals to supporting documents and review any estimates for reasonableness.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of employee remuneration.

 Operating expenses
Non-pay expenses on other goods and services also 
represents a significant percentage of the Authority’s 
operating expenses. Management uses judgement to 
estimate accruals of un-invoiced costs. 

We identified completeness of non- pay expenses as a risk 
requiring particular audit attention: 

Auditor commentary

We have:

• evaluated the Authority's accounting policy for recognition of non-pay expenditure for appropriateness;

• gained an understanding of the Authority's system for accounting for non-pay expenditure and evaluated the
design of the associated controls;

• tested a sample of payments immediately prior to and after the year end to ensure that appropriate cut-off has
been applied, and therefore that the expenditure has been recognised in the correct period.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of operating expenses.

Financial statements

P
age 74



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 9

Other issues
Financial statements

This section provides commentary on new issues and risks which were identified during the course of the audit that were not previously communicated in the Audit Plan. 

Issue Commentary

 Land and buildings valuation

• As noted in the financial statements the 
Authority carries its land and buildings and land 
held for future expansion at fair value. 
Periodically, external surveyors are used, and 
the last full independent survey was carried out 
as at 31 March 2014. Between independent 
surveys desktop reviews are carried out by the 
external valuers at the Balance Sheet date.

• The Authority’s valuers, Bruton Knowles, have 
valued three assets, which the Authority 
consider to be material.

• The Authority is planning a full revaluation in 
2018/19. The desktop review was undertaken to 
provide assurance to the Authority that the 
carrying value was not materially different to the 
current value. The outcome of this year’s 
desktop review was that the valuation of those 
assets is £3,681k.. The value that these assets 
are held at in the balance sheet was previously 
£3,185k. As the difference is only £496k, the 
Authority are not proposing to make an 
adjustment, and are continuing to hold the 
assets at the lower value.

We have considered the approach taken in conjunction 
with the following:

• The valuation reached by the valuers is based on a 
series of assumptions, which the Authority note as 
part of its critical accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions note, are estimates and are 
therefore subject to some sensitivity.  

• Because balances cannot be determined with 
certainty, actual results could be materially different 
from the assumptions and estimates.

• However, the materiality threshold of our audit as 
noted on page 5 is £4,643k. Our threshold of trivial 
matters is £232k. As such, this difference is much 
closer to the trivial end of the spectrum than the 
material and indicates that current estimate is not 
materially misstated.

• A full (i.e. non-desktop) valuation is being undertaken 
by the valuers for the year ending 31 March 2019.

Auditor view

• Following our considerations, we are not minded to 
challenge the approach taken by the Authority.

P
age 75



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 10

Accounting policies
Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Revenue recognition  Revenue grants and other funding income 
is recognised on an accruals basis where 
there is reasonable assurance that the 
income will be received and all attached 
conditions have been complied with.

 Income other than grant and funding 
income, which all arises within the United 
Kingdom and is stated net of VAT, 
represents income arising from bus station 
departure charges, the provision of 
timetable information, rental income and 
advertising revenues. Income is 
recognised to the extent that reliably 
measured economic benefits will flow to 
the Authority and includes estimated in 
respect of services provided and rental 
income which have not been invoice at the 
period end. 

We have considered the following:

 Appropriateness of the policy under the relevant accounting 
framework

 Extent of judgement involved, including the range of possible 
outcomes and potential financial statement impact of different 
accounting policy choices

 Adequacy of disclosure of accounting policy

 Benchmark against industry practice

We have nothing to bring to the Committee’s attention in this regard.


(Green)

Judgements and estimates  Key estimates and judgements include:

 Useful life of PPE

 Revaluations

 Impairments

 Accruals 

 Valuation of pension fund  net liability

 Other provisions

We have considered the following:

 Appropriateness of policy under relevant accounting framework

 Extent of judgement involved

 Potential financial statement impact of different assumptions

 Range of possible outcomes – including where the Authority sits 
within that range

 Adequacy of disclosure of accounting policy

 Benchmark against peers/industry practice

We have covered the assumptions in relation to the pension fund 
liability on page 7. In respect of the other estimates and judgements 
we have nothing else to bring to the Committee’s attention.


(Green)

Assessment
 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially be open to challenge by regulators
 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure
 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

P
age 76



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 11

Other communication requirements
Financial Statements

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary

 Matters in relation to fraud • We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with ARAC.  We have not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and no 
other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

 Matters in relation to related 
parties

• If there have been transactions between related parties, there is a requirement to disclose the nature of the related party relationship 
as well as information about the transactions and outstanding balances necessary for an understanding of the potential effect of the 
relationship on the financial statements. These disclosure would be made separately for each category of related parties and would 
include: [IAS 24.18-19]

• the amount of the transactions

• the amount of outstanding balances, including terms and conditions and guarantees

• provisions for doubtful debts related to the amount of outstanding balances

• expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related parties

• We have recommended that the Authority enhance their disclosures in Note 38 of the draft financial statements to ensure that all the 
bullet points in the above requirements have been met. We understand that this will be addressed in the revised financial statements.

• We have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed. 

 Matters in relation to laws and 
regulations

• You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 
identified any incidences from our audit work. 

 Written representations • A standard letter of representation, including reference to the adjusted misstatement noted on page 16, has been requested from the 
Authority, which is included in the ARAC papers. 

 Confirmation requests from 
third parties 

• We requested from management permission to send confirmation request(s) to all the Authority’s bank, investment and loan 
counterparties. This permission was granted and the requests were sent. All requests were returned with positive confirmation. 

 Disclosures Our review of the financial statements identified the following disclosure issues:

• The draft financial statements separately disclosed earmarked reserves from the other general fund balances. There is no requirement 
to show these separately but there is a requirement to show a total of all general funds balances (ie including earmarked reserves).

• Within Note 16 an employee was shown in the £140,000 - £144,999 banding, when they should have been classified within the 
£135,000 - £139,999 banding.

• The analysis of creditors in Note 26 totalling £40,943k was inconsistent with the total value of creditors, being £41,013k. The analysis 
therefore needs to be reworked.

All of these matters have been addressed in the updated financial statements

P
age 77



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 12

Other responsibilities under the Code 
Financial statements

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary

 Other information • We are required to give an opinion on whether the other information published together with the audited financial statements 
(including the Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and Narrative Report), is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

No inconsistencies have been identified. We plan to issue an unqualified opinion in this respect – refer to Appendix C

 Matters on which we report by 
exception

We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a numbers of areas:

• If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is 
misleading or inconsistent with the other information of which we are aware from our audit

• If we have applied any of our statutory powers or duties

We have nothing to report on these matters.

 Specified procedures for 
Whole of Government 
Accounts 

• We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation
pack under WGA group audit instructions. 

• As at the time of writing we are yet to receive the WGA group audit instructions but we anticipate no work being required due to the 
Authority not exceeding the expected threshold. 

 Certification of the closure of 
the audit

We do not expect to be able to certify the completion of the 2017/18 audit of West Midlands Combined Authority in our auditor’s report, as 
detailed in Appendix C, pending the completion of our work on Whole of Government Account. Additionally, due to the pension fund annual 
report not being available as at the time of writing, we have yet to issue our report on the consistency of the pension fund financial 
statements

P
age 78



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 13

Value for Money

Risk assessment 
We carried out an initial risk assessment in January 2018 and identified one 
significant risk in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using the guidance 
contained in AGN03. We communicated these risks to you in our Audit Plan dated 19 
January 2018.

We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving our 
report, and have not identified any further significant risks where we need to perform 
further work.

We carried out further work only in respect of the significant risk we identified from our 
initial and ongoing risk assessment. Where our consideration of the significant risk 
determines that arrangements are not operating effectively, we use the examples of 
proper arrangements from AGN 03 to explain the gaps in proper arrangements that 
we have reported in our VFM conclusion.

Value for Money
Background to our VFM approach
The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work for 2017/18 in
November 2017. The guidance states that for local government bodies, auditors are
required to give a conclusion on whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Informed 
decision 
making

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

Our work
AGN 03 requires us to disclose our views on significant qualitative aspects of the 
Authority's arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

We have focused our work on the significant risk that we identified in the Authority's 
arrangements. In arriving at our conclusion, our main consideration was the progress 
throughout the 2017/18 financial year of Combined Authority with regard to its 
governance arrangements.

We have set out more detail on the risk we identified, the results of the work we 
performed and the conclusions we drew from this work on page 14.

Significant difficulties in undertaking our work
We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on your 
arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention.

Significant matters discussed with management
There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such 
significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from 
management or those charged with governance. 

Overall conclusion
Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we concluded 
that:

• the Authority had proper arrangements in all significant respects to ensure it 
delivered value for money in its use of resources. 

The text of our report, which confirms this can be found at Appendix C.

P
age 79



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 14

Key findings
We set out below our key findings against the significant risk we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of documents. 

Significant risk

Evolution of the governance arrangements

As noted in our prior year Audit Findings Report, the governance arrangements at the Authority are continuing to develop as the Authority itself evolves. Since last year the Authority 
has appointed its substantive senior management team which will pave the way for further evolution of governance arrangements. A second devolution deal to promote growth was 
announced in November 2017 and there are on-going discussions in respect of responsibilities for fire and rescue services in the region. 

There is a risk that arrangements may not appropriately reflect the changing responsibilities of the Authority and heighten the risk of actual or perceived instances of inadequate 
governance. 

Findings

In conducting our work, we have reviewed relevant Board and Combined Authority papers and held regular discussions with management and key officers about any changes to the 
governance structure as well as to understand how decisions are made and reported to the Board.

During the 2016/17 financial year the Authority made a number of changes to its governance structure to as it has developed from the Centro group. Key elements included:

• revising the Constitution including the Scheme of Delegation

• setting up a Committee to oversee audit, risk and assurance

• establishing a new Assurance Framework

• developing a Risk Management Strategy and risk register

Since then the Authority has continued to evolve and is starting to embed the above elements. Risk discussions have been formalised with directors on an ongoing basis. The Strategic 
Risk Register is developing further and is reviewed on a quarterly basis at Senior Leadership Team meetings. The ownership of the risk register is more established than as at 31 
March 2017, at which time the senior leadership team, including the Mayor, were not yet in place. That they have been in a position as a team now, for approximately 5 months as at 
31 March 2018, is reflected in the achievements noted in the Review of the Year section of the Narrative Report.

We are cognisant of the fact that the Authority is, at times, beholden to activities, requests and demands upon it that are outside of its control. Therefore it behoves the Authority to be 
as nimble and agile as possible in order to respond to these demands, and, where possible to be proactive as much as reactive.

We note from our review of the Narrative Report within the financial statements at Table 1 that as at February 2018 there were 105.5 vacancies being carried. Left unresolved, this is a 
risk to the Authority’s ability to continue to manage and absorb the increased levels of activity that are expected, especially with the ever widening remit of the Combined Authority 
expected over the coming 12 to 24 months. For example the Authority will see the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Services come within its governance structure as well as the 
transfer of the adult skills funding, which brings with it a budget of £112 million per annum. The Authority acknowledge this risk and are tracking vacancies as part of its recruitment 
drive. The latest tracker provided to us shows that approximately a third of the vacancies are currently appointed or being recruited to, with plans in place to fill the remainder across 
the course of the year.

The Authority recognise that it doesn’t necessarily have to do everything itself but can convene and blend where appropriate. As an example, it has commissioned Arcadis to carry out a 
controls and assurance review of the Investment Programme with a view to maximising delivery of benefits and outcomes, by recommending improvements to the Investment 
Programme governance. Arcadis has also undertaken an audit on the corporate risk management process, provided commentary and recommendations across the key themes of: Risk 
Strategy & Governance, Risk Management Process, Culture & People and Systems & Tools. Lessons learned from these reviews can then be applied to other areas, as with appropriate 
governance arrangements in place, alongside capacity, resourcing and capability sufficiency, the Authority will be able to mobilise quickly, whilst still being clear on purpose.

Auditor view

On the basis of the work performed we have concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and we are therefore satisfied that the Authority put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Value for Money

P
age 80



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 15

Independence and ethics
Independence and ethics
• We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with 

the Financial Reporting Authority's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the 
financial statements 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Authority’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical 
requirements for auditors of local public bodies.

Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix B.

Fees, non audit services and independence

Audit and Non-audit services
For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Authority. The following non-audit services were identified.

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related

None N/A N/A N/A

Non-audit related

Strategic Financial 
Management 
Development Programme: 
attendance of 1 delegate 
from the Authority

2,750 None identified This was a workshop given to finance officers to provide them with skills to be able to work through their own 
issues and problems. No direct recommendations were made by Grant Thornton to the attendees to implement 
at their organisation and the work conducted is not relevant and will not be referred to as part of our audit of the 
financial statements or consideration of value for money arrangements. This piece of work was led by the Local 
Government Advisory Team who are separate from the audit team.

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related and non-audit services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are 
consistent with the Authority’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. All services have been approved by ARAC. Any changes and full details of all fees charged 
for audit related and non-audit related services by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be included in our Audit Findings 
report at the conclusion of the audit.

None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees. 

P
age 81



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 16

Audit Adjustments
We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

Adjusted misclassifications, disclosures and misstatements
The table below provides details of changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements highlighting the impact on the key statements and 
the reported net expenditure for the year where appropriate. 

Misclassification amendment Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement £‘000

Balance Sheet £’ 000 (2016/17) Impact on total net 
expenditure £’000

The Authority have reconsidered the classification of their long-term 
deposits for the prior year in Note 21, Investments. In the prior year 
accounts £22,000k was shown as long-term investment. It has since 
been determined that this should be shown as short-term investments. 
This is a change in classification only and has no impact on the 
Authority’s reported net asset or annual surplus/deficit position.

- DR 22,000 ST Assets

CR 22,000  LT Assets

-

Overall impact £- £- £-

Disclosure omission Detail Auditor recommendations Adjusted?

General Funds The draft financial statements separately disclosed earmarked 
reserves from the other general fund balances. There is no 
requirement to show these separately but there is a requirement to 
show a total of all general funds balances (i.e. including earmarked 
reserves).

• We recommended that the Authority ensure that the accounts 
are amended to ensure that the total general fund balances are 
disclosed.

Yes

Officers’ remuneration Within Note 16 an employee was shown in the £140,000 - £144,999 
banding, when they should have been classified within the £135,000 
- £139,999 banding.

• We recommended that the banding be updated to accurately 
reflect this officer’s remuneration

Yes

Creditors’ analysis The analysis of creditors in Note 26 totalling £40,943k was 
inconsistent with the total value of creditors, being £41,013k. 

• We recommended that the analysis be reworked to ensure it 
matches the total value of the creditors balance

Yes

Appendix A

Impact of unadjusted misstatements
There were no unadjusted misstatements.

P
age 82



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 17

Fees

Proposed fee Final fee

Authority Audit £46,500 £46,500 

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £46,500 £46,500

Appendix B

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Audit Fees

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).

Non Audit Fees (see page 15)

Fees for other services Fees 

Audit related services:

None -

Non-audit services

Strategic Financial Management Development 
Programme: attendance of 1 delegate from the 
Authority

£2,750

£2,750

P
age 83



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 18

Audit opinion 

We anticipate we will provide the Authority with an unmodified audit report 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of the West Midlands Combined Authority

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the West Midlands Combined Authority (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 
March 2018 which comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves, the Balance 
Sheet, the Cashflow Statement, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC code of 
practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2018 and of its expenditure and income for 

the year then ended; 
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2017/18; and 
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Who we are reporting to
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies 
published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you 
where:
• the Director of Finance’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 

appropriate; or
• the Director of Finance has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 

significant doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at
least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Director of Finance is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Statement of Accounts set out on pages 2 to 24, the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge of the Authority 
obtained in the course of our work including that gained through work in relation to the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
value for money through economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the
Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the 
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government:  Framework (2016)’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE or is misleading or 
inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual 
Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the 
Authority gained through our work in relation to the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources, the other information published together with the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts, the 
Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if:
• we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014  in the 

course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
• we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014  

in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
• we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Finance and Those Charged with Governance for the financial 
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities set out on pages 16 and 17, the Authority is required to make 
arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for 
the administration of those affairs.  In this authority, that officer is the Director of Finance. The Director of Finance is responsible 
for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices 
as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, which give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Chief Financial Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Director of Finance is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Authority lacks funding for its continued existence or when policy decisions have been made that affect the services 
provided by the Authority.

Appendix C

P
age 84



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for West Midlands Combined Authority  |  2017/18 19

The Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is Those Charged with Governance.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

Conclusion 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2017, we are satisfied that the Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Responsibilities of the Authority 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of 
these arrangements.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Authority has 
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to 
consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified 
criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, as to whether in all significant respects the Authority 
had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that 
necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work 
as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Delay in certification of completion of the audit

We are required to give an opinion on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements of the Authority included in the 
Pension Fund Annual Report with the pension fund financial statements included in the Statement of Accounts. The Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 require authorities to publish the Pension Fund Annual Report by 1 December 
2018.  As the Authority has not prepared the Pension Fund Annual Report at the time of this report we have yet to issue our

report on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements. Until we have done so, we are unable to certify that we have
completed the audit of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

AND

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed the work necessary to issue our Whole of 
Government Accounts (WGA) Component Assurance statement for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2018. We are 
satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on our conclusion on the Authority's 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

[Signature]

GRANT PATTERSON 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

The Colmore Building
20 Colmore Circus
Birmingham
B4 6AT

[Date] 

Appendix C

P
age 85



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Report Name  |  Date

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 86



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 

Audit Findings
Year ending 31 March 2018

West Midlands ITA Pension Fund

21 June 2018

P
age 87



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 2

Contents

Section

1. Headlines

2. Financial statements

3. Independence and ethics

Appendices

A. Audit adjustments

B. Misstatements

C. Fees

D. Audit Opinion

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 

our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 

control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements 

in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our 

prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report 

was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Grant Patterson

Director

T:  0121 232 5296

E: grant.b.Patterson@uk.gt.com

Terry Tobin

Senior Manager

T: 0121 232 5276

E: terry.p.tobin@uk.gt.com

Jo Drinkwater

Executive

T: 0121 232 5281

E: jo.drinkwater@uk.gt.com

P
age 88



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 3

Headlines
Introduction

This table summarises the key issues arising from the statutory audit of west Midlands ITA Pension Fund (‘the Pension Fund’) and the preparation of the Pension Fund's financial

statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 for those charged with governance.

Financial

Statements

Under the National Audit Office (NAO)

Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are

required to report whether, in our opinion:

• the Pension Fund's financial 

statements give a true and fair view of 

the financial position of the Pension 

Fund and its income and expenditure for 

the year, and have been properly 

prepared in accordance with the CIPFA 

Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting.

Our audit work was completed on site during May and June. Our findings are summarised on pages 5 to 12. We 

have identified no adjustments affecting the Fund's reported financial position.  We have recommended some 

adjustments to improve the presentation of the financial statements.

We have independently estimated the value of the insurance buy-in to be £238,296,000 compared to your 

actuarial valuation of £238,333,000. The valuation of this estimate is complex and the difference is within 0.02% 

of the actuary’s result and within the expected range we set. From this we have concluded that the valuation is 

reasonable and not materially misstated.

The other key messages arising from our audit of the Fund's financial statements are:

• We have no unadjusted misstatements to report

• The draft accounts were presented for audit in accordance with the agreed timetable and were of a good

quality,

• Our work at year end demonstrated that access to documents and the quality of working papers was of a

high standard.

Subject to outstanding queries being resolved, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion following the

Audit Risk and Assurance Committee (ARAC) meeting on 21 June 2018, as detailed in Appendix D These

outstanding items include:

- receipt of the management representation letter and

- review of the final set of financial statements.

Statutory duties The Local Audit and Accountability Act

2014 (‘the Act’) also requires us to report to

you if we have applied any of the additional

powers and duties ascribed to us under the

Act.

We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties.

We do not expect to be able to certify the conclusion of the Combined Authority’s audit as we are required to 

give an opinion on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements of the Authority included in the 

Pension Fund Annual Report with the pension fund financial statements included in the Statement of Accounts. 

As the Authority has not prepared the Pension Fund Annual Report at the time of this report we have yet to issue 

our report on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements. Until we have done so, we are unable to 

certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements.

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the excellent assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

P
age 89



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report  |  2017/18 4

Summary
Overview of the scope of our audit

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are 

significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial 

reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the 

Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management..

On 8 December 2017, in line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the WMCA 

Board amended the Constitution to delegate the accounts approval process to the Audit, 

Risk & Assurance Committee (ARAC). We therefore consider ARAC are those charged 

with governance.

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK), which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion 

on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of 

those charged with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve 

management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation 

of the financial statements.

Audit approach

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Pension Fund's 

business and is risk based, and in particular included an evaluation of the Pension Fund's 

internal controls environment, including its IT systems and controls and substantive testing 

on significant transactions and material account balances, including the procedures 

outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks. The only change in approach from 

that described in the audit plan was to not treat the fund managers as management 

experts for the valuation  of level 2 investments.

Conclusion

We have substantially completed our audit of your financial statements and subject to 

outstanding queries being resolved, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion 

following the Audit and Risk Committee meeting on 21 June 2018, as detailed in Appendix 

D. These outstanding items include receipt of management representation letter and

review of the final set of financial statements.

Financial statements 

Our assessment of the value of materiality, performance materiality and trivial matters 

has changed slightly from our audit plan. They are  based on the net assets of the fund 

as at 31 March 2018 as opposed to 31 March 2017 in the audit plan.. We detail in the 

table below our assessment of materiality for West Midlands ITA Pension Fund. 

Our approach to materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements 

and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to 

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and 

applicable law. 
Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered 

Materiality for the financial 

statements

4,920,000 We determined materiality for the audit of the Fund’s financial statements as a whole to be £4,920,000, which is 1% of the 

Fund’s net assets. This benchmark is considered the most appropriate because we consider users of the financial statements to

be most interested in security and value of its assets. Materiality used  in the audit plan was £5,029,000.

Performance materiality 3,690,000 We use a different level of materiality, performance materiality, to drive the extent of our testing and this was set at 75% of 

financial statement materiality for the audit of the financial statements. Our consideration of performance materiality is based 

upon a number of factors, including no significant audit findings, we are not aware of a history of significant deficiencies or a high 

number of deficiencies in the control environment, historically there has not been a large number or significant misstatements 

arising as a result of the financial statements audits at the Fund and senior management and key reporting personnel in the 

finance function has remained stable from the prior year audit.

Trivial matters 246,000 We determined the threshold at which we will communicate misstatements to ARAC to be £246,000.

Materiality for specific balances, 

transactions, or disclosures

- In accordance with ISA320 we have considered the need to set lower levels of materiality for sensitive balances, transactions or

disclosures in the accounts. We determined not to set any lower levels.

P
age 90



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report  |  2017/18 5

Significant audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Auditor Commentary


The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the Pension Fund, 

we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited; and

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including the City of Wolverhampton Council as the 

administering body, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of revenue recognition.


Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities.

We:

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements applied and decisions made by management 

and consider their reasonableness 

• obtained a full listing of journal entries, identified and tested unusual journal entries for appropriateness

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or significant unusual transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any evidence of management over-ride of controls. In particular the findings of our 

review of journal controls and testing of journal controls and testing of journal entries has not identified any significant 

issues. We set out later in this section of the report our work and findings on key accounting estimates and 

judgements. 


Level 3 Investments Valuation is incorrect The Prudential buy-in is the only material, directly held, 'hard to value' investment held by WM ITA Pension Fund and 

this will be valued by the Fund's actuary (Barnett Waddingham). We:

• Gained an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 investments and evaluated the design of the 

associated controls

• Reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what assurance management has over the year 

end valuations provided by these types of investments. We used our in-house experts, the  Grant Thornton 

valuation team, to assist us in doing this. We reviewed the assumptions and calculations to provide assurance 

that the valuation was reasonable.

• Reviewed the qualifications of the expert Barnett Waddingham to value Level 3 investments at year end.

We have independently estimated the value of the insurance buy-in to be £238,296,000 compared to your actuarial 

valuation of £238,333,000. The valuation of this estimate is complex and is within 0.02% of the actuary’s result and 

within our expected range. From this we have concluded that the valuation is reasonable and not materially 

misstated

Financial Statements 

P
age 91



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report  |  2017/18 6

Reasonably possible audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Auditor Commentary


Contributions

Contributions from employers and employees’ 

represents a significant percentage of the Fund’s 

revenue.

We identified occurrence and accuracy as the risks 

requiring particular audit attention.

We :

• evaluated the Fund's accounting policy for recognition of contributions for appropriateness;

• gained an understanding of the Fund's system for accounting for contribution income and evaluate the design of the

associated controls;

• tested a sample of contributions to source data to gain assurance over their accuracy and occurrence; and,

• rationalised contributions received with reference to changes in member body payrolls and number of contributing

pensioners to ensure that any unusual trends are satisfactorily explained.

Our work did not identify any significant issues in respect of contributions.


Pension Benefits Payable

Pension benefits payable represents a significant 

percentage  of the Fund’s expenditure.

As pensions in payment expenditure comes from a 

number of individual transactions there is a risk that 

pensions expenditure in the accounts could be 

understated. We therefore identified completeness of 

pension expense as a risk requiring particular audit 

attention.

We:

• evaluated the Fund's accounting policy for recognition of pension benefits expenditure for appropriateness;

• gained an understanding of the Fund's system for accounting for pension benefits expenditure and evaluated the

design of the associated controls;

• tested a sample of individual pensions in payment by reference to member files;

• rationalised pensions paid with reference to changes in pensioner numbers and increases applied in year to ensure

that any unusual trends are satisfactorily explained

Our work did not identify any significant issues in respect of benefits payable.


The valuation of Level 2 investments is incorrect

While Level 2 investments do not carry the same level 

of inherent risks associated with level 3 investments, 

there is still an element of judgement involved in their 

valuation as their very nature is such that they cannot 

be valued directly.

We have identified the valuation of Level 2 investments 

as the risk requiring special audit consideration. 

We:

 gained an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing Level 2 investments and evaluated the design of the 

associated controls.

 reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered what assurance management has over the year 

end valuations provided by these types of investments.

 for a sample of investments, tested the valuation by obtaining independent information from custodian/manager on 

unit and on unit prices.

Our work did not identify any significant issues in respect of valuation of Level 2 investments.

Financial statements

P
age 92



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 7

Accounting policies

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of policy Auditor Commentary Assessment

Revenue recognition a) Contribution Income

 Normal contributions are accounted for on 

an accruals basis at the percentage rate 

recommended by the Fund actuary

 Employers’ augmentation contributions 

and pensions strain contributions are 

accounted for in the period in which the 

liability arises.

 Employer deficit funding contributions are 

accounted for on the due dates on which 

they are payable as set by the scheme 

actuary or on receipt.

b) Investment Income

• Changes in the net market value of 

investments are recognised as income and 

comprise all realised and unrealised 

profits/losses during the year.

• Benefits underwritten – The annuity 

purchased is treated as an investment with 

income recognised on an accruals basis.

 The revenue recognition policies are appropriate for the 

accounting framework used by the Pension Fund.

 The accounting policy choices have been complied with in the 

preparation of the accounts.

 We have no concerns in relation to the adequacy of the 

disclosure of accounting policies in place



(Green)

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially be open to challenge by regulators

 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

P
age 93



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 8

Accounting policies

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Judgements and estimates Key estimates and judgements include:

 Pension fund liability relating to the 

discount rate, salary projected 

increases, changes in retirement ages, 

mortality rates and expected returns 

assets, and

 Bulk annuity insurance buy-in discount 

rate underlying the asset valuation 

based on gilt yield

The results from our review and testing of the valuation of 

investments is covered on page 6 of this report above. The fair value 

of the insurance buy-in has been reviewed and is considered a 

reasonable estimate.

The pension liability is based on your actuary’s Barnett Waddingham

valuation. We have been provided with assurance that Barnett 

Waddingham can be relied upon for the purpose of valuing the 

liability and have reviewed the assumptions. The Pension Fund has 

reflected the valuation as given to them by the Actuary in their 

accounts. The accounts have disclosed the nature of the valuation 

and the fact that the estimate is subject to significant variances 

based on changes to the underlying assumptions.

The bulk annuity insurance buy-in is ultimately derived by the 

actuary’s valuation. We have had our own valuation experts review 

the information and assumptions used by the actuary and based on 

this work consider the estimates and judgements used to be 

reasonable.



(Green)

Other accounting policies We have reviewed the Fund's policies against 

the requirements of the CIPFA Code and 

accounting standards.

Our review of accounting policies has not highlighted any issues 

which we wish to bring to your attention. 

(Green)

Going concern The Director of Finance has a reasonable 

expectation that the Fund will continue for 

the foreseeable future.  Members concur with 

this view. For this reason, the Fund continue 

to adopt the going concern basis in preparing

the financial statements.

We have reviewed the Fund’s assessment and are satisfied with 

management's assessment that the going concern basis is 

appropriate for the 2017/18 financial statements.



(Green)

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially be open to challenge by regulators

 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

P
age 94



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 9

Other communication requirements

Financial Statements

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary


Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with  ARAC.  We have not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and

no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.


Matters in relation to related 

parties

• We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed


Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work.


Written representations  A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Pension Fund  which is included in  papers.


Confirmation requests from 

third parties 

 We requested from management permission to send a confirmation request to your bank. This permission was granted and the 

request was sent.  This request was returned with positive confirmation, 


Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements


Significant difficulties  There were no significant difficulties encountered in the audit of your accounts.


Matters on which we report by 

exception

 We are required to give a separate opinion for the Pension Fund Annual Report on whether the financial statements included therein 

are consistent with the audited financial statements. Due to statutory deadlines the Pension Fund Annual Report is not required to 

be published until the 1st December 2018 and therefore this report has not yet been produced. We have therefore not given this 

separate opinion at this time and are unable to certify completion of the audit of the administering authority until this work has been 

completed. 

P
age 95



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 10

Independence and ethics 
Independence and ethics

• We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with 

the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the 

financial statements 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 

person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical 

requirements for auditors of local public bodies.

Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix D

Independence and ethics

Audit and Non-audit services

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Pension Fund and confirm tere are none.. P
age 96



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 11

Adjusted misstatements

Appendix A

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. There are no adjusted 

misstatements we are required to report to you.

Unadjusted misstatements

The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the audit which have not been made within the final set of financial statements. There are no adjusted 

misstatements we are required to report to you.

P
age 97



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 12

Misclassifications and disclosure changes

Appendix B

Adjustment type Value

£'000

Account balance Impact on the financial statements

1 Presentation and 

disclosure

Various Various Our review of the accounts highlighted  some minor improvements that were required to be 

made to the accounts.  None of these were individually significant and they have been made 

to improve the final presentation and aid clarity for the reader. The proposed minor 

adjustments were agreed with the Fund and changes have been made to the draft accounts 

submitted for audit.

Examples include:

• Audit fees per Note 11 of £16k to be separately disclosed between audit fees of £21k 

and PSAA audit fee refund of -£6k.

• Financial assets per Note 19 disclosed as net gains at fair value through profit and loss 

to be separated out into 2 lines to be consistent with the Fund Account.

• Amending reference to ‘Administrator’ to ‘Administering Authority’ within the Introduction. 

• Addition of brackets to net assets statement to demonstrate decrease in net assets

This is in addition to the need to tidy up formatting, spelling and explanation of complex 

terms used  prior to publication.

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

P
age 98



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 13

Fees

Proposed fee Final fee

Pension Fund Audit £21,000 £21,000

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £21,000 £21,000

Appendix C

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and confirm there were no fees for the provision of non audit services.

Audit Fees

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) P
age 99



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 14

Audit opinion 

We anticipate we will provide the Pension Fund with an unmodified audit report.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of West Midlands 

Combined Authority on the pension fund financial statements

Opinion 

We have audited the pension fund financial statements of West Midlands Combined Authority (the 

‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2018 [set out on pages *** to **] The pension fund financial 

statements (entitled “West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund”) which comprise the 

Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and notes to the pension fund financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 

preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2017/18.

In our opinion the pension fund financial statements:

 give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund during the year ended 31 

March 2018 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and liabilities, 

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local 

authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

pension fund of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the pension fund financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Who we are reporting to

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of 

Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has 

been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to 

them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, 

for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 

to report to you where:

 the Director of Finance’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 

pension fund financial statements is not appropriate; or

 the Director of Finance has not disclosed in the pension fund financial statements any identified 

material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue to 

adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date 

when the pension fund financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Director of Finance is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Statement of Accounts set out on pages [**xx to xx**] other than the pension 

fund financial statements, our auditor’s report thereon and our auditor’s report on the Authority’s financial 

statements. Our opinion on the pension fund financial statements does not cover the other information and, 

except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the pension fund financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

pension fund financial statements or our knowledge of the pension fund of the Authority obtained in the 

course of our work or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the pension fund financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Appendix D

P
age 100



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report |  2017/18 15

Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice published by 

the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General 

(the Code of Audit Practice)

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the pension fund financial 

statements the other information published together with the pension fund financial statements in the 

Statement of Accounts, for the financial year for which the pension fund financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the pension fund financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if:

 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014  in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014  in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Finance and Those Charged 

with Governance for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities [set out on page(s) x to x], the Authority is 

required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of 

its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this authority, that officer is the 

director of Finance The Director of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, 

which includes the pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 

CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, which 

give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Chief Financial Officer determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of pension fund financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the pension fund financial statements, the Director of Finance is responsible for assessing the 

pension fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the pension fund lacks funding for its 

continued existence or when policy decisions have been made that affect the services provided by the 

pension fund.

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is Those Charged with Governance.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the pension fund financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

pension fund financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the pension fund financial statements is located 

on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 

forms part of our auditor’s report.

Grant Patterson

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

The Colmore Building, 20 Colmore Circus, Birmingham, B4 6AT

Appendix E

P
age 101

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report  |  2017/18 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 102



Grant Thornton UK LLP
The Colmore Building
20 Colmore Circus
Birmingham
B4 6AT

21 June 2018

Dear Sirs

West Midlands Combined Authority
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the 
financial statements of the West Midlands Combined Authority for the year 
ended 31 March 2018 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether 
the Authority financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2017/18 and applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such 
inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately 
informing ourselves:

Financial Statements

i We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Authority’s 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 ("the Code"); in particular the 
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance therewith.

ii We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions 
affecting the Authority and these matters have been appropriately 
reflected and disclosed in the financial statements.

iii The Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of 
non-compliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of 
any regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements in the event of non-compliance.

iv We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

Page 103



2

v Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, 
including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

vi Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the Authority has been assigned, 
pledged or mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor 
exceptional or non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

vii We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying 
the valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee 
Benefits disclosures are consistent with our knowledge.  We confirm that 
all settlements and curtailments have been identified and properly 
accounted for.  We also confirm that all significant post-employment 
benefits have been identified and properly accounted for. 

viii Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code.

ix All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require 
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

x We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification 
and disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings 
Report. The Authority financial statements have been amended for these 
misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of 
material misstatements, including omissions.

xi Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

xii We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value 
or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial 
statements.

xiii We believe that the Authority’s financial statements should be prepared 
on a going concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources 
of funding or support will be more than adequate for the Authority’s needs. 
We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Authority's ability to 
continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.

Page 104



3

Information Provided

xiv We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant 

to the preparation of the Authority financial statements such as 
records, documentation and other matters;

b. additional information that you have requested from us for the 
purpose of your audit; and

c. unrestricted access to persons within the Authority from whom 
you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xv We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which 
management is aware.

xvi All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements.

xvii We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that 
the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xviii We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected 
fraud that we are aware of and that affects the Authority and involves:

a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the 

financial statements.

xix We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, 
or suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by 
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

xx We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects 
should be considered when preparing financial statements.

xxi  We have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority's related parties and 
all the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxii We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims 
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial 
statements.

Page 105



4

Annual Governance Statement

xxvi We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly 
reflects the Authority's risk assurance and governance framework and we 
confirm that we are not aware of any significant risks that are not 
disclosed within the AGS.

Narrative Report

xxvii The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our 
understanding of the Authority's financial and operating performance 
over the period covered by the Authority financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Authority’s 
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee at its meeting on 21 June 2018.

Yours faithfully

Name……………………………

Position………………………….

Date…………………………….

Signed on behalf of the Authority

Page 106



Grant Thornton UK LLP
The Colmore Building
20 Colmore Circus
Birmingham
B4 6AT

21 June 2018 

Dear Sirs

West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial 
statements of West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund (‘the Fund) 
for the year ended 31 March 2018 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to 
whether the Fund financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 and 
applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries 
as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements

i We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Fund’s financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2017/18 ("the Code"); in particular the financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance therewith.

ii We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the 
Fund and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the 
financial statements.

iii The Fund has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There 
has been no non-compliance with requirements of any regulatory authorities that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-
compliance.

iv We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

Page 107



[Type here]

v We acknowledge our responsibilities for making the accounting estimates 
included in the financial statements.  Significant assumptions used by us in 
making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are 
reasonable. Where it was necessary to choose between estimation techniques 
that comply with the Code, we selected the estimation technique considered to be 
the most appropriate to the Fund's particular circumstances for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view.  Those estimates reflect our judgement based on our 
knowledge and experience about past and current events and are also based on 
our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we 
expect to take.

vi We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the 
financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and 
adequately disclosed in the financial statements. There are no other material 
judgements that need to be disclosed.

vii Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the Fund has been assigned, pledged or 
mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or 
non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

viii Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted 
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the Code.

ix All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

x We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and 
disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The 
financial statements have been amended for these misstatements, 
misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, 
including omissions.

xi Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.

xii We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiii We believe that the Fund’s financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support 
will be more than  adequate for  the Fund’s  needs.   We  believe  that  no  further 

Page 108



[Type here]

disclosures relating to the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern need to 
be made in the financial statements.

Information Provided

xiv We have provided you with:
a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 

preparation of the Fund financial statements such as records, 
documentation and other matters;

b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose 
of your audit; and

c. unrestricted access to persons within the Fund from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xv We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which 
management is aware.

xvi All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected 
in the financial statements.

xvii We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xviii We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud 
that we are aware of and that affects the Fund and involves:

a. management;
b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements.

xix We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or 
suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, 
former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

xx We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 
when preparing financial statements.

xxi There have been no communications with The Pensions Regulator or other 
regulatory bodies during the year or subsequently concerning matters of non-
compliance with any legal duty.

xxii We are not aware of any reports having been made to The Pensions Regulator 
by any of our advisors. 

Page 109



[Type here]

xxiii  We have disclosed to you the identity of the Fund's related parties and all the 
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiv We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose 
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Authority’s Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee at its meeting on 21 June 2018.

Yours faithfully

Name……………………………

Position………………………….

Date…………………………….

Signed on behalf of Authority as administering body of the West Midlands Integrated 
Transport Authority Pension Fund

Page 110



 

 
            

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Accounts 
 

     For the year ended 31 March 2018  

Page 111



 

1          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

 

Contents 
 
 
 
Review of Operations and Statutory reports 
 

Narrative Report          2 
 

Statement of Responsibilities               16 
 

Annual Governance Statement      18 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report      25 
 
Financial Statements 
  

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement    29 
 

Movement in Reserves Statement      30 
 

Balance Sheet        31 
 

Cashflow Statement        32 
  

Notes to the Accounts       33 
 
Glossary         75 

 
 Appendix 1 - West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority 
   Pension Fund 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 112



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS   

 

 
2          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 
Welcome to the West Midlands Combined Authority’s Statement of Accounts for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2018. These accounts provide the reader with a view of West Midlands Combined 
Authority’s financial performance and its effectiveness in its use of resources during the year and are 
therefore a key element in demonstrating sound financial stewardship of taxpayers’ money as well as 
ensuring that key stakeholders understand the financial position of the West Midlands Combined 
Authority. 
 
The Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018 has been prepared on a single entity 
basis in accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  The format 
reflects the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2017/18, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
The Narrative Report has been prepared to provide an outline of the activities for the year 2017/18, 
providing both a guide to West Midlands Combined Authority's accounts and to its achievements in 
delivering inclusive economic growth through transport and economic development as well as setting 
out the economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources in doing so. 
 
 
1. Organisational overview and external environment  
 
The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) came into being on 16 June 2016 by virtue of the 
West Midlands Combined Authority Order. At the same time, the West Midlands Integrated Transport 
Authority (WMITA) and the West Midlands Passenger Transport Executive (WMPTE) were dissolved. 
All of the functions, assets, liabilities and powers of WMITA and WMPTE were transferred to the WMCA 
under the provisions of the 2016 Order. 
 
The WMCA is now the Local Transport Authority for the West Midlands and also has powers to exercise 
economic development and regeneration functions in conjunction with its seven constituent local 
authorities: 
 

 Birmingham City Council 

 City of Wolverhampton Council 

 Coventry City Council 

 Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
Leadership of the WMCA comes from the Mayor and the leaders of the seven constituent local 
authorities, which have full voting rights. The leadership also includes the chairs of the Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (LEPs) which are business-led organisations that help build relationships between 
businesses and local authorities. Other bodies which include the LEPs and ten local councils from 
across the wider West Midlands region, have reduced voting rights but play a crucial role at Board 
level, helping to inform policy and drive forward the WMCA agenda.  Full details of bodies that are 
members of the WMCA are set out in the Annual Governance Statement on page 18. 
 
The policies of the WMCA are directed by the WMCA Board which is chaired by the Mayor and are 
implemented by the Leadership Team comprising a Chief Executive and 6 Directors, supported by 
officers. The assurance function is carried out by both the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, both of which comprise members of the constituent authorities 
and member bodies. Additionally, at least one independent person is appointed to the Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee. The WMCA employed 406 people as at 31 March 2018. 
 
During the past year, the WMCA has continued to work towards delivering its ambitious plans for driving 
inclusive economic growth in the West Midlands region and building a healthier, happier, better 
connected and more prosperous population. The WMCA has also continued to develop strong and 
sustainable relationships with national government and in November 2017, a second devolution deal 
was agreed.   The second deal demonstrates  Government’s continued commitment to devolution and  

Page 113



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

3          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
the future of the West Midlands. The deal supports our ambitions to deliver growth through a local 
industrial strategy and improve the wellbeing of our citizens.  
 
The West Midlands’ growth priorities and ambitions are set out in the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP). 
The investments and actions the WMCA makes are focussed on delivering this plan, working with Local 
Enterprise Partnerships and other partners. 
 
The SEP sets out the overarching vision for the region which will be delivered through an aspirational 
and robust programme to drive and accelerate improvements in productivity and enable the West 
Midlands to become a net contributor to the UK exchequer, whilst improving the quality of life for 
everyone who lives and works in the area. 
 
The key objectives set out in the Strategic Economic Plan are as follows: 
 

 Economic growth 

 Employment and skills 

 Accessibility 

 Business competitiveness and productivity 

 Land 

 Public service reform 

 Housing 

 Environment  
 
WMCA’s core values and the underpinning behaviours are as follows: 
 
Be collaborative 
 
 We work with others to reach common goals 
 We are respectful and act with integrity 
 We communicate clearly, openly and encourage feedback 

 
Be innovative 
 
 We encourage creativity, originality and curiosity from everyone  
 We embrace change and we are open to new possibilities and exploring new ideas 
 We adopt best practices and keep up to date with new developments to enhance our work 

Be driven 
 
 We have a positive, proactive and a solution orientated attitude  
 We set ourselves high standards and strive to exceed these  
 We take ownership for our performance and outcomes 

Be inclusive 
 
 We care about and treat each other with dignity and respect 
 We create a positive working environment  

 We value diversity and consider other people’s viewpoints ensuring no-one is excluded 
 We encourage and support each other 

WMCA receives various government, Local Economic Partnership and local authority grants to fund its 
development plans. The annual Gainshare grant from the Government of £36.5m remains the most 
significant funding source for the WMCA’s £8 billion Investment Programme. 
 
 
  

Page 114



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

4          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
2. Review of the Year 
 
Focusing on its core areas of Strategy; Housing & Land; Productivity & Skills; Health & Wellbeing; 
Transport and Public Service Reform, the WMCA achieved a number of successes in 2017/18. 
 
A second devolution deal was secured which will see £1.1 billion of government funding come into the 
region and be used to drive an £8 billion investment programme over the next 30 years. 
 
The Land Delivery Action Plan was implemented to unlock hundreds of hectares of land for housing 
and commercial use, providing jobs and economic growth. The second devolution deal outlines a 
commitment from Government to provide £6 million of funding to support additional housing delivery 
capacity and plans were approved separately to facilitate 803 new housing units across the region from 
the Brownfield Land and Property Development Fund. 
 
Investment in the £200 million brownfield remediation fund to clean up 1,600 hectares of contaminated 
industrial land and bring it back into use continued, while the Greater Icknield and Smethwick Housing 
Growth Prospectus - a blueprint to accelerate building the £400 million development of 5,160 new 
homes in Birmingham and Sandwell – was launched. 
 
The redevelopment of the region was sustained through the £60 million Collective Investment Fund 
which in the past year included projects in Coventry, Dudley, Walsall and Wolverhampton. The West 
Midlands Growth Company was also formed to attract investment, jobs, visitors and businesses to the 
region. 
 
Thousands of disadvantaged people and long-term jobseekers were helped by advice and support to 
get back into work as part of a £4.5 million scheme and the Productivity and Skills Commission was 
launched, offering impartial support and advice to the WMCA as it seeks to reduce unemployment, 
improve people’s job skills and secure better productivity. The Commission brings together business 
leaders, productivity and skills experts and senior academics, with a clear focus on better 
understanding the needs of key sectors in the West Midlands economy. 
 
2017 saw the introduction of the Leadership Commission, a group of inspirational role models to help 
people from under-represented parts of society reach senior positions in their careers. The 
Homelessness Taskforce was created to design out rough sleeping through co-ordinated working 
between the public, private and voluntary sectors, and the Mayor’s Mentors scheme aims to provide 
advice and guidance for young people. 
 
The WMCA is committed to improving the region’s productivity and skills levels to support inclusive 
growth. Significant progress was made in 2017/18 and firm foundations laid for future activity. 
 
The second devolution deal recognised the importance of the Productivity and Skills Commission and 
agreed to take forward its recommendations through dialogue with Government. It also brought in £5 
million additional funding, over a three-year period, to deliver a construction training programme and 
saw Government commit to working with the WMCA to deliver the careers strategy, informed by local 
priorities. 
 
The Mental Health Commission published the ‘Thrive West Midlands’ action plan to drive better mental 
health and wellbeing and the West Midlands wellbeing commitment was launched. The first West 
Midlands ‘Walking out of Darkness’ event also took place to raise awareness about mental health and 
suicide prevention.  
 
The ‘West Midlands on the Move’ strategic framework for physical activity was published and a forward 
plan with health partners developed, which outlined the WMCA’s role in strengthening links between 
health and productivity improvements. 
 
The WMCA is committed to driving a model of inclusive economic growth that benefits all of its residents 
and makes a real difference to communities. Policy agendas have been developed for offending, 
criminal justice and the devolution of youth justice, and for people with multiple complex needs who 
often suffer from poor outcomes.  

Page 115



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

5          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
A forward view for Public Services Reform has been developed in partnership with local stakeholders, 
and a programme of work around Public Service Reform and inclusive growth has been established. 
Successful initiatives have been delivered to improve community cohesion including the Mayor’s Faith 
Conference, the launch of the Mayor’s Cohesion Prize and Diwali on the Square. The WMCA also 
officially backed Birmingham City Council’s successful bid to host the 2022 Commonwealth Games. 
 
The WMCA has a portfolio of high-profile externally delivered investment projects which will contribute 
to the WMCA’s primary regeneration and economic growth goals outlined in the Strategic Economic 
Plan. 
 
A grant agreement was signed which will enable the land acquisition process to progress to enable the 
Coventry City Centre regeneration scheme to take place. The scheme is predominantly private sector 
driven and funded, with £98.8 million from the WMCA. The scheme is expected to secure 1,528 
additional permanent jobs and an extra £1.1 billion Gross Value Added (GVA). 
 
The WMCA also committed £51.2 million to accelerate delivery of Friargate – an ambitious new 
business district next to Coventry railway station and £273.6 million to the Coventry UK Central Plus 
programme which will deliver a step-change in transport connectivity to remove barriers to growth and 
improve access to HS2. 
 
The outline business case and funding for the UK Central Hub HS2 Interchange in Solihull was 
approved and detailed design work commenced, while the outline business case for Birmingham 
International Station Integrated Hub was developed. 
 
An outline business case was developed for the Demonstration of Intelligence Systems programme 
alongside university partners, aiming to grow and apply intelligent and smart system technology to 
solve challenges faced by the public and private sector to improve productivity. 
 
There were a number of successes designed to improve the efficiency and productivity of WMCA 
processes.  The WMCA assurance process and planning tool was developed and implemented across 
the WMCA Investment Programme  and work undertaken with key stakeholders to provide support in 
the use and application of Programme Management Office (PMO) processes and tools. The PMO team 
structure was reviewed and adjusted to meet current and future WMCA needs. 
 
The WMCA Assurance Framework was implemented and internal governance to improve the appraisal 
and approval processes for minor works projects was reviewed. Following an extensive review the 
WMCA Business Continuity Plan was updated. 

The WMCA was named one of the best 100 companies to work for by the Sunday Times Best 
Companies survey, while manager forums and an employee volunteer scheme was launched. 
 
The audited financial accounts for 2016/17 were published earlier than before, improving transparency 
and the first combined WMCA Budget was delivered. The finance team was awarded the ‘Not for Profit 
Finance Team of the Year’ at the West Midlands Finance Awards. 
 
A paperless procurement process was developed and task force groups to support communication and 
collaboration between procurement representatives from across the WMCA were established. Step-
by-step guides to help team members add new information to the procurement system were produced 
to maintain consistency. 
 
The Legal team supported the establishment of Midland Metro Limited, provided detailed advice to 
support the budget process and were also shortlisted for the Local Government Legal Team of the 
Year, with a team member winning Young Lawyer of the Year. 

The Governance Team assumed responsibility for servicing and supporting WMCA Board meetings, 
rolled out and implemented ModernGov - an IT system for publishing details of all documented 
meetings - and also ensured the statutory budget setting process was completed, with full overview 
and scrutiny of the budget process, including a public ‘Mayor’s Question Time’. 

 

Page 116



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

6          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
An asset review of the best future plan for WMCA office space took place, with an emphasis on 
sustainable design, and an environmental management review was carried out with Transport for West 
Midlands (TfWM) and the corporate leadership team. 

The Communications team supported the first mayoral election campaign, compiled the submission for 
the National Transport Awards which saw TfWM win ‘City-Region Transport Authority of the Year’ for 
the second year running, and launched the Thrive Mental Health Commission Awards. 

A major proportion of the budget was allocated to TfWM and the previous 12 months saw significant 
achievements in public transport services and infrastructure. 
 
Chief stakeholders recommitted to the West Midlands Bus Alliance, with reviewed governance to focus 
on delivery and a plan was chosen for the development of Dudley Interchange, integrating Wednesbury 
to Brierley Hill Metro Extension and Dudley Town Centre regeneration proposals. The Sprint bus-based 
rapid transit mode project was further progressed, while apprentices and trainees received half price 
travel on buses, trains and trams. 

 
The new West Midlands Trains franchise (jointly specified by Department for Transport (DfT) and the 
West Midlands Rail partnership of local authorities within WMCA) was launched in December 2017, 
securing significant improvements to local rail services until 2026. 
 
Government funding was secured for the Midland Metro extensions to Edgbaston (£60 million) and 
Wednesbury Brierley Hill (£207 million), passenger numbers increased to more than 8 million for the 
first full year of the Birmingham City Centre Extension and the Bilston Road track replacement scheme 
was completed on time and within budget. Transport and Works Act Orders were submitted for the 
Edgbaston and Wednesbury Brierley Hill extensions and a Public Inquiry was held for the Birmingham 
Eastside Extension. 
 
The introduction of secure ticketing onto the Swift travel smartcard provided replacements if cards are 
lost and Swift also rolled out onto the rail network. Swift vending was introduced at Wolverhampton bus 
station, allowing people to obtain a smartcard and Swift tickets outside Travel Information Centre 
opening hours. 
 

The region’s Key Route Network was defined and studies completed for the 23 corridors across the 
West Midlands Metropolitan Area. There was effective management of network disruption by major 
infrastructure investment, maintenance and events, including M5 J1-2 Oldbury Viaduct works and 
Birmingham Velo.  

 

Network resilience improvements continued, with over £6 million secured for development and delivery 
of bus priority schemes and a partnership/stakeholder group was established, bringing together all 
senior officers involved in the delivery of the region’s transport infrastructure improvements. 

 

The customer-facing TfWM and WMCA websites were refreshed and partners and suppliers were 
provided with access to real time timetable and stop data to improve transport services and access. 

 

The award-winning WorkWise project was made available online to support people back into 
employment, the West Midlands Bikeshare scheme was developed for the metropolitan area and 
walking and cycling programmes were delivered in partnership with Cycling UK and Living Streets. 

 
 
3. Governance  

 
Since the Mayor was elected in May 2017, he has begun to shape the priorities of the WMCA. A second 
Devolution Deal was also confirmed by Central Government in November 2017. 
 
An almost entirely new Leadership Team has also been appointed and work has continued to 
strengthen and improve governance arrangements. 
 
Further details are set out in the Annual Governance Statement that can be found on pages 18 to 24. 

Page 117



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

7          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
4. Operational model  
 
WMCA is an enabling body which brings together the political leadership in the West Midlands region; 
reinforcing and strengthening existing partnership arrangements to help co-ordinate strategic economic 
planning and drive forward inclusive economic growth. 
 
Following the identification of WMCA’s aspirations and strategic outcomes in the Strategic Economic 
Plan, the business planning process began in the autumn of 2016 including consultation with Budget 
Holders across WMCA, leading to the preparation of the Financial Plan for 2017/18 onwards and the 
detailed budget for 2017/18. 
 
The Business Planning process sets out an approach to resource management that allows planning 
for WMCA’s ambitious outcomes within the resources available to the authority, which at the same time 
recognises the importance of driving efficiency in the way that WMCA does business, including the 
better use of technology. 
 
Detailed workforce planning, monitoring and management is undertaken by the Human Resources 
team within Corporate Services via business partner liaison with officers responsible for managing and 
recruiting, taking into consideration issues of capability and capacity. 
 
Staffing skills are maintained through WMCA’s continuous staff development and training programme 
and performance is monitored by the Performance Development Planning process that is now 
embedded at WMCA. 
 
Table 1 below sets out the headcount (February 2018) and established full time equivalent (FTE) posts 
as well as the number of vacant posts, including new posts approved as part of the 2018/19 budget 
process: 
 
Table 1: WMC Staffing Analysis – February 2018 

No. Headcount FTE Vacancies

TfWM/Corporate Services 360 425.1 73.9
Commissions 16 41.6 25.6
Mayor's Office 6 12.0 6.0

Total 382 478.7 105.5

 
With regard to Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, WMCA ensures there is no 
pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified 
through the use of equality-proofed job evaluation mechanisms which directly relate salaries to the 
requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.  
 
 
5. Risks and opportunities 
 
WMCA has put in place a system of internal control designed to manage risks to a reasonable level 
and aims to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of our policies, aims and objectives; and 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised, the impact should they be realised and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
WMCA has developed a Risk Management Strategy and strategic risk register, which is reported to 
regular meetings of WMCA’s Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee and the Leadership Team. It 
provides visibility of risk at operational, programme and strategic levels. 
  

Page 118



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

8          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
As noted in Table 1 above, WMCA was carrying a significant number of vacancies as at 31 March 
2018, primarily as a result of new posts approved as part of the 2018/19 budget process that had not 
been recruited to at that time.  A formal capability and vacancy risk management plan has been put in 
place in consultation with the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee to ensure that the potential risks 
associated with a high proportion of vacancies are managed effectively. 
 
WMCA has also put in place and continues to develop a robust monitoring framework that measures 
the performance of WMCA and gauges how the authority is progressing against the SEP and the 
Mayor’s Renewal Plan. 
 
WMCA is committed to providing good value for money and opportunities for cost reduction are 
explored when appropriate.  
 
Opportunities to generate additional revenue streams are actively explored. Recent examples include 
the generation of additional advertising revenue from WMCA’s bus shelters in conjunction with a private 
sector partner as well as the creation of new commercial trading opportunities, including the 
establishment of the new wholly owned subsidiary, ‘Midland Metro Ltd’ that has been created to take 
over the day-to-day running of Midland Metro trams in the West Midlands region and is expected to 
generate profits of around £50 million over the first 11 years which will be channelled back into the 
network for the benefit of passengers and the local economy. 
 
Further devolution of powers from central government also presents a significant opportunity for WMCA 
building on the progress of the first two devolution deals, including proposed new powers that will seek 
to enable the Mayoral WMCA to assume governance of West Midlands Fire and Rescue Service and 
the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for the West Midlands. 
 
 
6. Strategy and resource allocation 
 
WMCA currently plans its finances over a medium term 3 year rolling period and it includes all known 
financial pressures that it faces over the medium term in its Financial Plan. 
 
The Medium Term Financial Plan incorporates a broad estimate of the financial impact of the following 
risks and sensitivities: 
 

 Demographic growth and demand pressures specifically where transport payments and 
services are directly affected by patronage demands; 

 Inflation; 

 Brexit, to the extent that there may be potential for increased costs of supply of labour, goods 
and services; and 

 Business Rates Retention Scheme and the achievement of growth targets, including the 
retention mechanism currently being developed through the West Midlands Finance Directors’ 
Group. 
 

The current Medium Term Financial Plan assumes a cash flat funding requirement from Constituent 
Authorities both in terms of the Transport for West Midlands levy over the three year period and their 
contributions to the WMCA Operational Budget in the latter two years. Whilst this currently represents 
the planning assumption, it is acknowledged that this creates a potential financial risk specifically with 
regard to inflationary increases, pay and legislative changes and demand in terms of patronage and 
the impact of these risks will be kept under review. 
 
Assumptions have been made around pay and price rises and the Consumer Prices Index along with 
changes in patronage and fares.  Any variation on this for 2018/19 will need to be managed  within  the    
available resources. These clearly may change significantly over the medium term meaning a cash flat 
position may not be achievable without changes to policy. 
 
The announcements around the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Services and the Office of the West 
Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner will require one off costs and the West Midlands Combined 
Authority will be working with partners to identify how these will be funded. 

Page 119



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

9          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The Medium Term Financial Plan reflects West Midlands Combined Authority’s obligations as a Best 
Value authority to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which our 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness, 
including consultation with tax payers and users as appropriate. 
 
 
7. Performance 
 
The WMCA SEP Performance Management Framework provides a clear framework against which 
success can be measured. The vision for the region has a number of smart objectives, based on the 
principles of balance, with clear targets. The Performance Management Framework is composed of a 
selection of strategic headline indicators, which measure the impact of the various programme areas 
of the West Midlands SEP. These indicators span a wide range of themes including productivity, 
employment and skills, infrastructure, competitiveness, sustainability and public service reform and 
measure the economic, social, fiscal and environmental impact. 
 
The Performance Management Framework is maintained and updated by the Economic Intelligence 
Unit of Black Country Consortium Ltd who provide in depth cross-thematic spatial analysis on behalf of 
the WMCA. 
 
The Economic Intelligence Unit will annually monitor WMCA’s progress in relation to the targets in the 
Performance Management Framework so that we can be clear on the impact of our delivery plan in 
achieving our ambitions. 
 
The indicators in the Performance Management Framework will also be the basis upon which we 
appraise and prioritise our programme of interventions to deliver the WMCA SEP. These carefully 
targeted set of interventions will ensure delivery of the greatest economic benefits to the area and allow 
us to create opportunities across the WMCA. 
 
The headline strategic objectives set out in the SEP are as follows: 
 

 Economic growth – to improve GVA for the region in line with the UK average 

 Employment and skills – to improve the balance between the skills that businesses need and 
the skills of local people so that they have the skills and qualifications to access jobs 

 Accessibility -  to improve the connectivity of people and businesses to jobs and markets 
respectively 

 Business competitiveness and productivity – to improve the productivity (GVA) of 
businesses, focussing on growth sectors 

 Land – to improve the quantity of high quality, readily available development sites to high 
quality locations that meet housing and business needs 

 Public Sector Reform – to secure better for less from public services, improve the life chances 
and the health and wellbeing of communities 

 Housing – a greater and broader range of homes 

 Environment – improved competitiveness through energy and resource efficiency, stimulating 
new technology and business 

 
The key findings in the first ‘state of the region’ report that was published in 2017, the WMCA Annual 
Economic Review, are as follows: 
 

 GVA continues to increase (up by £7 billion since 2013) – largest contributor to UK GVA - £87.5 
billion - based on combined three LEP figures. 

 Average wages are up – now £27,151, however average wage in the West Midlands is £1,062 
lower than the UK average. 

 West Midlands is home to 2 million jobs, an increase of 95,000 since 2013. 

 In the West Midlands there are 14,805 youth claimants in total, increasing on the previous year. 
The WMCA needs to reduce youth claimants by 4,781 by 2030 to reach UK average. There is 
a similar trend for overall claimant count (was previously 5,000). 
 

Page 120



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

10          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

 The West Midlands has a growing business base with 145,410 businesses, 13,500 more since 
2013 and 22,430 business births. 

 Number of people with no qualifications has declined at a faster rate compared to England but 
the West Midlands still has a higher proportion of people with no qualifications than across 
England. 

 In the West Midlands 774,300 people are qualified to degree level or equivalent (30.4%). This 
is an increase of 7,700 people on the year before. 

 The estimate of how much the government’s projected financial obligations in the West 
Midlands region exceeds its revenues, known as the ‘fiscal gap’ has widened since last year 
by £0.6 billion increasing from £3.9 billion to £4.5 billion – the deficit increase is primarily due 
to faster growth of expenditure than income in particular in Health and Social Protection 
expenditure. 

 4.1 million people live in the West Midlands, an increase of 60,000 people since 2013. 

 Over 12,000 new homes were built last year - currently 1.7 million houses in the West Midlands. 
 
The second ‘state of the region’ report will be published in summer 2018.  The process of evaluating 
performance against WMCA’s strategic objectives is constantly being developed in the light of evolving 
devolution commitments to central government. 
 
 

8. Financial Performance 
 

The following paragraphs provide a brief overview of the financial position of WMCA in terms of 
WMCA’s management accounting framework rather than the statutory accounting framework, to aid in 
understanding the statutory accounts. 
 
Table 2 set out overleaf shows the overall consolidated revenue position for the WMCA compared with 
the budget that was approved by the WMCA Board in February 2017 and is set out in the same way 
as the regular financial reports that are considered by the WMCA Board.  This means that the table 
excludes statutory accounting and funding adjustments required by the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting, setting out the outturn position in the same way that WMCA’s finances are 
planned and managed throughout the year.   
 
Table 2: West Midlands Combined Authority Revenue Outturn 2017/18 

£ million

Original 

Budget
Actual Variance

Transport Services 121.5        116.0        5.5            

Combined Authority other services 4.3            4.0            0.3            

Mayor’s Office 0.4            0.4            -            

Mayoral Election 5.0            4.3            0.7            

Investment Programme 30.8          32.7           (1.9)

Contributions to reserves -            5.3             (5.3)

Total Expenditure 162.0        162.7         (0.7)

Financed by:

Transport Levy 121.5        121.5        -            

Devolution Deal Grants 36.5          36.5          -            

Constituent/Non-Constituent Members 1.9            1.9            -            

Business rates growth 1.5            3.0            1.5            

Investment income 0.6            0.3             (0.3)

Total Financing 162.0        163.2        1.2            

Net -            0.5            0.5             
 
 
 
 

Page 121



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

11          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The table shows that the budget anticipated net expenditure of £162.0 million was principally funded 
from the Transport Levy, Devolution Deal grant, business rates growth and contributions from 
constituent and non-constituent members. 
 
The actual position shows that net expenditure for the year was £0.7 million more than budgeted. This 
position includes a previously reported saving as a result of a change in the WMCA’s Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) policy (see note 2m on page 39) that was approved by the WMCA Board in 
November 2017, leading to a saving for the year of £4.8 million. The WMCA Board approved a transfer 
to reserves of the same amount in February 2018 that will be used to support the transport delivery 
budget during the period 2019/20 – 2021/22.  
 
The remaining transport savings relate to concessions expenditure, primarily as a result of savings on 
the national bus concession scheme owing to lower patronage (£1.3 million) as well as savings within 
the local child concession scheme (£0.3 million) which was partially offset by an adverse variance within 
Rail and Metro Services due to funds being set aside for the mobilisation of Midland Metro Ltd, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of West Midlands Combined Authority, that will take over the operation of metro 
services in the West Midlands in June 2018 (£0.8 million). 
 
The actual position also reflects a rebate granted to constituent authorities of £0.265 million approved 
by the WMCA in February 2018 that was returned to West Midlands Combined Authority to fund 
Mayoral costs. 
 
Within the WMCA Operational Budget, a favourable variance on the Collective Investment Fund budget 
of £0.3 million is partially offset by the approved one off contribution to the successful Commonwealth 
Games bid of £0.25 million.  
 
Savings in respect of the mayoral election budget of around £0.7 million owing to overall costs being 
lower than anticipated will be returned to the Gainshare reserve to fund future Investment Programme 
projects. 
 
Within the Investment Programme, the variance relates to the reclassification of costs as capital spend 
both in the current year and 2016/17.  This variation is fully funded within the programme. 
 
WMCA approves the Capital Programme for the financial year as part of the budget setting process 
and the amount that can be spent is limited by the amount of capital resources available. 
 
Many of the schemes within the Capital Programme take some time to develop and implement, 
therefore considerable variations can arise. 
 
WMCA spent £71.8 million on capital projects within the overall Capital Programme in 2017/18. 
 
Major items of capital spend in the year were: 
 

 Bilston Road Track Replacement £14.1 million 

 Centenary Square Metro Extension £11.2 million 

 Edgbaston Metro Extension £10.5 million 

 Wolverhampton City Centre Metro Extension £5.5 million 

 Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro Extension £5.3 million  
 
  

Page 122



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

12          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The capital programme spend of £71.8 million was financed in the following way: 
 
Table 3: Financing of Capital Expenditure 2017/18 

£ Million

Central Government grants 32.1

District/Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) grants and contributions 7.0

3rd party contributions 4.9

Gainshare contribution 7.5

Borrowing 20.3

Total 71.8

 
 
9. Basis of preparation  
 
The Statement of Accounts have been prepared under the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 (the Code) and are for the full year from 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 2018. 
 
The Statement of Accounts includes:  
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  
This statement shows the accounting cost of providing services in the year, according to the Code. An 
adjustment is required to be made between the accounting basis and the funding basis due to the 
different accounting treatments for capital grants and pension costs, further details of which are shown 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
There are two new line items, ‘Mayor’s office’ and ‘Elections’, in the statement this year following the 
election of the first West Midlands Mayor in May 2017.  
 
The line item previously referred to as ‘Economic Development’ has been renamed to ‘Investment 
Programme’ as these costs relate to the region’s first Devolution Deal with Government to deliver a 
programme of infrastructure and other measures primarily designed to increase the economic growth 
of the region, with a specific focus on extracting maximum value from HS2 when the services 
commence in 2026.  
 
Movement in Reserves Statement  
This statement shows the movement of the different reserves in the year. These are analysed between 
‘usable reserves’ (those that can be applied to fund expenditure) and ‘unusable reserves’ (those 
allocated for specific purposes).  
 
Balance Sheet  
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities of the 
WMCA. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held.   
 
Cashflow Statement  
The Cashflow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the year. The 
statement shows how the WMCA generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying the 
cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities.  
 
 
10. Outlook  
 
Significant matters that may affect future cash flows are as follows: 
 

 Capital Financing Costs – during the year, WMCA opted to change the way it calculates MRP. 
The  change was approved by the  WMCA  Board in  November  2017.   Further details of this  
 

Page 123



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

13          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
change are set out in note 2m on page 39.The reduction in the MRP charge is for a 6 year 
period  (2018/19  to  2023/24  inclusive)  whereupon the MRP charge will revert to its previous  
level. The resulting favourable variance achieved in 2017/18 will be used to support the 
Transport Delivery Budget during the period 2018/19 to 2020/21.  
 

 Pensions costs – the WMCA continues to face the ongoing pressure of the cost of pension 
provision.  WMCA made advance payments during 2017/18 in respect of pension contributions 
for the three years to 2019/20 to partially mitigate the risk. 
 

 Interest Rates – the ongoing period of low interest rates has impacted on investment returns. 
 

 Commonwealth Games – the 2022 Commonwealth Games in Birmingham will be the biggest 
sporting event to be awarded in England since the London Olympics in 2012. Between 500,000 
and one million people are expected to descend on Birmingham over the 11-day sporting event 
in the summer of 2022 and the Games are anticipated to generate a boost of more than half a 
billion pounds to the West Midlands region.   
 

 Mayor’s budget and precept – complex arrangements exist in respect of raising additional 
resources through a mayoral precept.  In February 2018, the West Midlands Combined 
Authority Board approved the inclusion of a Precept in 2019/20 and 2020/21 for Mayoral Office 
costs, Network Resilience and a contribution to the WMCA Investment Programme subject to 
further work between the Mayor and Constituent Authorities in 2018/19. 
 

 WMCA’s Investment Programme aims to deliver an ambitious programme of schemes totalling 
£8 billion that are aimed at driving inclusive economic growth in the West Midlands Region. 
Funding of the programme was agreed by the Constituent Authorities in 2015/16 and included 
a contribution from a future mayoral precept, a business rates supplement and the local share 
of business rates growth.  Some of these revenues are yet to be secured. 
 

 WMCA and its Constituent Authorities are working together to identify secured funding for the 
Investment Programme.  A review has commenced through a Task and Finish Group to 
determine whether any rescheduling of Investment Programme commitments is required.  The 
Task and Finish Group is responsible for taking forward the ranking and scheduling exercise 
that is expected to be endorsed by the WMCA Board in July 2018. 
 

 The amendment to statutory regulations that extended WMCA borrowing powers to fund non-
transport capital schemes was confirmed in May 2018.  The WMCA borrowing cap agreed with 
HM Treasury is as follows: 

 2018/19 £487.5 million 

 2019/20 £662.9 million 

 2020/21 £867.3 million 
 

 WMCA are currently considering the introduction of a Business Rates Supplement in 
consultation with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Local 
Enterprise Partnerships and West Midlands Finance Directors. 
 

 2017 saw the establishment of WMCA’s wholly owned subsidiary, ‘Midland Metro Ltd’ that has 
been created to take over the day-to-day running of Midland Metro trams in the West Midlands 
region and is expected to generate profits of around £50 million over the first 11 years which 
will be channelled back into the network for the benefit of passengers and the local economy. 

 

 WMCA’s first Devolution Deal included the transfer of adult skills funding, the Adult Education 
Budget, to WMCA.  The indicative budget to fund provision of Adult Education in the region will 
be approximately £112 million.  Full devolution of this funding is currently anticipated for the 
2019/20 academic year although WMCA are expected to have influence over the allocation of 
the funding from the Summer of 2018. 

  

Page 124



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

14          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

 WMCA will be working with the Government, the Police and Crime Commissioner and West 
Midlands  Fire and Rescue Service during 2018/19 to agree a detailed governance model and  
legislative timetable for incorporating the role and powers of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Fire Service Governance into the mayoralty. 
 

 General fund balances are currently considered to be below recommended levels and 
opportunities to increase the level of general balances over the medium term will be considered 
when developing WMCA’s Medium Term Financial Plans. This approach will enable the risk to 
be managed within WMCA, without creating volatility on the Transport for West Midlands’ levy 
and will take into consideration the Constituent Authorities obligations to underwrite WMCA’s 
financial position. 

 
 
11. Directors and Senior Officers 
 
The following directors and senior officers held office during the year:  
 
Directors/Senior Officers Title Appointment/Resignation 
Andy Street Mayor and Chair Appointed – 5 May 2017 
Deborah Cadman Chief Executive Appointed – 18 September 

2017 
Gareth Bradford Director of Housing and 

Regeneration 
Appointed – 18 December 2017 

Henry Kippin Director of Public Service 
Reform 

Appointed – 18 September 
2017 

James Aspinall Director of Corporate Services Left  - 30 April 2017 
Julia Goldsworthy Director of Strategy Appointed – 20 September 

2017 
Julie Nugent Director of Productivity and 

Skills 
Appointed – 18 December 2017 

Keith Ireland Clerk to the WMCA and 
Monitoring Officer 

Resigned – 16 October 2017 

Laura Shoaf Managing Director, Transport 
for West Midlands 

 

Mark Taylor Interim Director of Finance Appointed - 3 April 2017 
Resigned – 13 October 2017 

Martin Reeves Chief Executive Resigned – 15 September 2017 
Patrick White Interim Director of Industrial 

Strategy 
Appointed – 5 September 2017 

Paul Dransfield Investment Director Resigned – 31 July 2017 
Sean Pearce Director of Finance Appointed – 16 October 2017 
Tim Martin Clerk to the WMCA and 

Monitoring Officer 
Appointed – 16 October 2017 

 
Julia Goldsworthy started her maternity leave in December 2017 and during her absence, aspects of 
her role are being covered by Henry Kippin, Patrick White and Sean Pearce.  
 
 
12. Post Balance Sheet Events 
 
WMCA’s wholly owned subsidiary ‘Midland Metro Ltd’ that was established in 2017 is expected to take 
over the day-to-day running of Midland Metro trams in the West Midlands region on 24 June 2018 with 
the aim of channelling profits back into the tram network for the benefit of passengers and the local 
economy. 
 
The amendment to statutory regulations that extended WMCA borrowing powers to allow borrowing for 
non-transport capital schemes was confirmed on 4 May 2018.  
  

Page 125



NARRATIVE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND MEMBERS Continued 

 

15          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
13. Auditors  
 
Grant Thornton (UK) LLP are the auditors of the West Midlands Combined Authority for 2017/18. Their 
appointment was made under Section 3 of the Audit Commission Act 1998, saved under provisions of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  
 
 
On behalf of the West Midlands Combined Authority Board 
 
 
 
Deborah Cadman  
Chief Executive 
Date:   

Page 126



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

 
16          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 
1. The Authority’s Responsibilities  
 
The Authority is required to:  
 
(i) Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one 
of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. These responsibilities 
are discharged through the role of the Responsible Finance Officer which during 2017/18 were: 
 
 Period   Individual  Role 
 
 1 April 2017 -   James Aspinall Director of Corporate 
 30 April 2017     Services 
 
 1 May 2017 -   Mark Taylor  Interim Director of Finance 
 13 October 2017 
 
 16 October 2017 -  Sean Pearce  Director of Finance 
 Current 
 
(ii) Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard 
its assets.  
 
(iii) Approve the Statement of Accounts.  
 
 
2. The Responsible Finance Officer’s Responsibilities  
 
The Responsible Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the WMCA’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).  
 
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Responsible Finance Officer has:  

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently  

 made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent  

 complied with the local authority Code.  
 
The Responsible Finance Officer has also:  

 kept proper accounting records which were up to date  

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
 
 

3. Certification of the accounts  
 
I certify that this Statement of Accounts (which includes Appendix 1 - West Midlands Integrated 
Transport Authority Pension Fund) gives a true and fair view of the financial position of West 
Midlands Combined Authority at the reporting date and of its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 

Sean Pearce 
Director of Finance and Responsible Finance Officer 
Date:  

Page 127



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES Continued 

 

 
17          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 
4. Approval of the Accounts  
 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts covering the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 were 
approved by a resolution of the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee on 21 June  2018.  
 
 
 
 
 
Andy Street 
Mayor and Chair of the West Midlands Combined Authority 
Date:  

Page 128



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 

18                                                                                           West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Scope of Responsibility  

 
This Annual Governance Statement reflects the activities of West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. 
 
The WMCA is made up of seven district councils, constituent and non-constituent members and 
three Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), observers and a co-opted member.   
 
The WMCA Constituent authorities consist of the seven district councils across the region: 

 Birmingham City Council 

 City of Wolverhampton Council 

 Coventry City Council 

 Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 

 
The non-Constituent member of the WMCA are comprised of non-constituent authorities and 
LEP members: 

Non-constituent authorities 
 

 Cannock Chase District Council 

 North Warwickshire Borough Council 

 Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council 

 Redditch Borough Council 

 Rugby Borough Council 

 Shropshire Council 

 Stratford-on-Avon District Council 

 Tamworth Borough Council 

 Telford and Wrekin Council 

 Warwickshire County Council 
 

LEP members 
 

 Black Country LEP        

 Coventry and Warwickshire LEP 

 Greater Birmingham and Solihull LEP 

 
There are also four Observers of the WMCA. These are:  

 

 Herefordshire Council 

 The Marches LEP 

 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority 

 West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner 

 
There is one member co-opted on to the WMCA board at the discretion of the WMCA board. They 
are:  
 

 Trade Union Congress (TUC) 

 
WMCA is an enabling body which brings together the political leadership in the region; reinforcing 
and strengthening existing partnership arrangements to help co-ordinate strategic economic 
planning and drive forward inclusive economic growth. 
 

Page 129



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT Continued  
  

19          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The Purpose of the Governance Framework  
 
The WMCA is responsible for ensuring that business is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards; that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and delivers value 
for money. 
 
To demonstrate good corporate governance, WMCA carries out its functions in a way that provides 
accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity, and inclusivity; enabling WMCA to pursue its 
vision and secure its agreed objectives in the most effective and efficient manner. 
 

In discharging this overall responsibility, WMCA Leadership Team and Statutory Officers are 

responsible for putting in place proper arrangements (known as a Governance Framework) which 

comprises the legislative requirements, systems and processes, cultures and values. This enables 

WMCA to govern its affairs, facilitate the effective exercise of its functions, which includes 

arrangements for the management of risk, in addition to exercising leadership and being held 

accountable for its decisions and activities. 

 

The WMCA Governance Framework forms part of the Constitution and details the Boards and 

Committees which provide oversight and assurance. 

 
The WMCA has put in place a system of internal control designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve, aims and objectives and can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of our policies, aims and objectives; and evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised, the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 
 
WMCA has developed a Risk Management Strategy and strategic risk register, which is reported 
to regular meetings of the Authority’s Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee and WMCA 
Leadership Team. It provides visibility of risk at operational, program and strategic levels. 
 
 
Annual Governance Statement  
 
This Annual Governance Statement meets the requirements of Regulation 3 of the Accounts and 
Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant public bodies to prepare an annual 
governance statement. 

 
The West Midlands Combined Authority demonstrates compliance with the seven core principles 
of good governance set out in the latest CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework (2016). 
 
These seven principles are:  

(a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law. 

(b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
(c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 

environmental benefits. 
(d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of 

the intended outcomes. 
(e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership 

and the individuals within it. 
  

Page 130



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT Continued  
  

20          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
(f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and 

strong public financial management. 
 

(g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to 
deliver effective accountability.  

 
 
The Governance Framework  
 
 1. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 

 

The code of conduct is laid out in the Constitution; this defines standards of behaviour for 
Members and officers working on behalf of the WMCA. The Head of Organisation 
Development deals with issues of conduct and generally promotes high standards among 
officers members. The Monitoring Officer deals with any issues relating to the Mayor and 
elected Members. 

 
WMCA embeds standards of conduct and behaviour through promoting a culture with 
values: 
 
Be collaborative 

 We work with others to reach common goals 

 We are respectful and act with integrity 

 We communicate clearly, openly and encourage feedback 
 

Be innovative 

 We encourage creativity, originality and curiosity from everyone 

 We embrace change, are open to new possibilities and exploring new ideas 

 We adopt best practices and keep up to date with new developments to enhance our 
work 

 
Be driven 

 We have a positive, proactive and a solution oriented attitude 

 We set ourselves high standards and strive to exceed these 

 We take ownership for our performance and outcomes 
 

Be inclusive 

 We care about and treat each other with dignity and respect 

 We create a positive working environment  

 We value diversity and consider other people’s viewpoints ensuring no one is excluded 

 We encourage and support each other 
 

The business of WMCA will also be conducted in accordance with the Seven Principles of 
Public Life identified in The Nolan Committee Report (1995), and defined as selflessness, 
integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

 
 
2. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

 
We have established channels of communication with the community and other 
stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open consultation. Meetings are held 
in public unless there are good reasons for confidentiality. 
 

Page 131



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT Continued  
  

21          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
We incorporate good governance arrangements in our partnerships and reflect these in our 

overall governance arrangements. 
 
We assess the effectiveness of relationship frameworks in order to identify any changes 
required. 

 
Our inclusivity work ensures we encourage engagement from all members of society. 

 
 

3. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 
benefits 
 
The WMCA is working to achieve the priorities set out in the Devolution Deal that have been 
negotiated with Central Government. WMCA’s purpose and vision are detailed in the 
Strategic Economic plan (SEP) and the Mayor’s Renewal Plan. 

 
WMCA ensure the vision and the implications for governance arrangements are reviewed 
through the budget and performance management framework. 

 
We ensure the purpose and vision of WMCA is clear and well communicated. 

 
WMCA is focused on delivering value for money and success in this respect is reviewed by 
independent auditors in line with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice and Auditor's Guidance 
Note AGN03. The results of the Value for Money audit work and the key messages arising 
will be reported in an Audit Findings Report and in the Annual Audit Letter. 

 

An annual review communicates WMCA activities and achievements titled The Annual 

Business Plan. 

 

 

4. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 

outcomes 

 

The WMCA’s work is within the context of the Devolution of powers from Central 
Government. The WMCA works closely with the relevant Government Departments, local 
and national stakeholders and constituent and non-constituent authorities to determine the 
necessary actions to achieve these priorities. 

 
Decisions required are identified by the Leadership Team and taken through the necessary 
decision-making levels with all principle decisions being taken by WMCA Board. 
Performance reports and action plans are agreed by Board. 

 
 

5. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it 
 
We identify and aim to address the development needs of members and officers in relation 
to their roles and support with appropriate induction and training. 

 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee (ARAC) members have received finance training to 
allow them to understand financial accounts and reporting. WMCA Finance Team provided 
training to ARAC on pensions accounting and disclosures at its meeting on 19 January 2018.  
We provided further training on the  West  Midlands Combined Authority’s overall accounting  
arrangements  and  financial  statements  on  16  March  2018.  Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chairs and leading Members have participated in external training and events. 

Page 132



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT Continued  
  

22          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
We have defined and documented in our Constitution the roles and responsibilities of the 
Board, Scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation arrangements and protocols for 
effective communication. 

 
The collective and individual roles and responsibilities of the Leadership Team, Members 
and officers have been agreed by WMCA Board.  

 
A scheme of delegation is laid out in the Constitution. 

 
 
6. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
WMCA ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
Procedures. 

 
WMCA is rigorous and transparent about decision making and the recording of decisions. 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviews and challenges the work and decisions of 
WMCA amidst with policy review and development. 

 
The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee (ARAC) is independent of the executive and 
scrutiny function. They monitor and review risk and governance processes, and results, in 
order to provide assurance to WMCA board on their effectiveness. 

 
A robust assurance framework consistently ensures governance and process are 
independently reviewed and reported and the risks have been identified and are being 
adequately managed. Internal Audit provides the ‘third line of defence’ with the first line being 
policies, procedures and controls and the second being managers’ own checks of the control 
environment. Professional advice and good quality information is provided to ensure those 
making decisions are provided with relevant information that is fit for purpose. 

 
Risk management is embedded in the culture; accountabilities and responsibilities defined 
within roles, and with processes determining ways of working, managing and reporting risk. 

 
Arrangements are in place for “whistleblowing” and “counter-fraud” for receiving and 
investigating complaints from both officers and members of public. 

 
 

7. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective 

accountability 

 

The WMCA has implemented the WMCA Assurance Framework which was approved by 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (previously Department 
of Communities and Local Government (DCLG)) in July 2016. 

 
The WMCA is working closely with Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) who will review the performance of the Devolution objectives and adherence to the 
Assurance Framework. 

 
Currently being developed are new devolved funding schemes, for example Adult Education 
Budget and Housing, which will require their own Assurance Framework and signed off by 
the appropriate government department. 
 

  

Page 133



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT Continued  
  

23          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
A checklist has been implemented for the arm’s length companies of the WMCA to ascertain 
confidence in governance and assurance arrangements. This action came out of the Audit, 
Risk and Assurance Committee, to develop a checklist of questions that would provide a 
mechanism of assurance to the Committee that could provide overall assurance on all of 
WMCA’s activities. 

 
 
Annual Review of Effectiveness of Governance Framework 
 
The Opinion of the Head of Governance 2017/2018 
 
The Head of Governance is satisfied that the system of internal assurance is robust and providing 
visibility of risk to the senior management teams. 
 
The opinion is based on the results of an on-going programme of activities and review, the 
outcomes of which were considered by the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee. Activities 
include: 

a) External audit 
b) Internal audit 
c) The Risk Management Process, particularly the Strategic Risk Register 
d) Performance information 
e) Assurance 

 
During the period 2017/2018 fifteen audits were undertaken. The majority of the finalised audits 
undertaken have been rated Substantial and Satisfactory with a number of issues identified as 
requiring improvement. Recommendations have been provided and will be followed up by the 
respective management teams and Internal Audit will further test the arrangements as part of their 

follow-on review activity that is undertaken for all audits findings. 
 
As an integral part of agreeing devolution of powers to WMCA, the Assurance Framework was 
agreed by the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee in March 2016 and approved by DCLG in 
July 2016 and has since been implemented. The framework reviews internal delivery and the work 
of WMCA delivery partners, to ensure work delivered adheres to policy and legislative 
requirements and management processes identify risks to delivery. 
 
A total of 27 project assurance reviews have been undertaken by the Corporate Assurance Team 
in this period, covering 19 different projects. These projects follow the WMCA Gateway Project 
Methodology for minor projects. 
 
Programme Assurance arrangements for major projects within the Investment Programme have 
continued to be undertaken in accordance to the approved WMCA Assurance Framework and 
project investment process. Technical Appraisal Panel provide initial assurance on submission of 
business cases for funding for Investment Programme funding. Covering the period October 2017 
– March 2018, 11 business cases have been reviewed by Technical Appraisal Panel (TAP). 
 
Progress of the 2017/18 annual business plan is monitored monthly by internal Management 
Boards with key risks impacting on its delivery being escalated to the corporate risk register. 
 
Regular risk management review meetings are now in place across all WMCA activities including 
Commissions to enable full visibility of key risks having the potential to impact on the organisation. 
 
There are a total of 11 operational Risk Registers feeding into the WMCA Strategic Risk Register 
with regular meetings in place with the management team of each business area to monitor the 
status of risks and to ascertain the level of risk exposure in each of these areas to determine the 

assurance conclusions. 
 

Page 134



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT Continued  
  

24          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The successes of the WMCA includes the successful appointment of the elected Mayor, Chief 
Executive Officer and Leadership Team. The WMCA is one of England’s Combined Authorities to 
successfully negotiate a further devolution deal. 
 
The WMCA has set itself a demanding programme of work and is ambitious for itself and the 
benefits that it hopes to bring to the region. It has been successful in negotiations for a second 
Devolution Deal and has recruited an able team of experienced professionals to form the 
leadership team. However there is a significant pressure on resources, particularly in matching 
staff resources to the tasks in hand and this is being carefully monitored by the WMCA and 
structures adjusted to reflect these pressures accordingly. 
 
 
Conclusion  
 
In undertaking the review of internal control and governance framework, WMCA is satisfied the 
systems of internal control that facilitate the effective exercise of the organisation’s functions are 
in place and that all issues raised through the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee have been 
appropriately addressed and actions taken.  
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the West Midlands Combined Authority  
 
 
 
 
Andy Street 
Mayor and Chair of the West Midlands Combined Authority 
Date:  
 
 
 
Deborah Cadman 
Chief Executive 
Date: 

Page 135



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 

25                 West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Independent auditor’s report to the members of West Midlands Combined Authority 
 
  

Page 136



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Continued 
 

26          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
  

Page 137



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Continued 
 

27          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
 
  

Page 138



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Continued 
 

28          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 

29           West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing 
WMCA’s services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be 
funded from resources. The reconciliation from the accounting cost to the funding position is shown in both 

the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 

2016/2017 2017/2018 

Gross Gross Net Gross Gross Net 

Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Income Expenditure 

£'000 £'000 £'000 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 

188,444  (44,744) 143,700 Transport services 7 182,773  (47,990) 134,783 

2,235  (62) 2,173 Combined Authority other services 8 4,904  (785) 4,119 

2,518  -  2,518 Investment Programme 9 7,712  -  7,712 

 -   -   -  Mayor's office 10 382  (19) 363 

 -   -   -  Elections 11 4,318  -  4,318 

193,197  (44,806) 148,391 Cost of services 200,089  (48,794) 151,295 

405  -  405 Other operating expenditure 12 3,086  -  3,086 

12,151  (224) 11,927 

Financing and investment income and 

expenditure 13 10,536  (297) 10,239 

45,759  (234,081)  (188,322)

Taxation and non-specific grant 

income and expenditure 14 44,237  (261,632)  (217,395)

251,512  (279,111)  (27,599)
(Surplus) or deficit on provision of 

services
257,948  (310,723)  (52,775)

 (7,065)

(Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of 

property, plant and equipment
30  -  

 (37,980)

Remeasurement of the net defined 

benefit liability 32  (5,660)

 (45,045)
Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
 (5,660)

 (72,644)
Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
 (58,435)

28,647 
Adjustments between funding and 

accounting basis under regulations 5 
46,600 

37,980 Transfer to Pensions Reserve 32 5,660 

7,065 
Transfer to Capital Adjustment 

Account 30 
 -  

 (340)
Transfers to/from Earmarked 

Reserves 29 
5,694 

708 
(Surplus) or deficit for the year 

under funding basis
 (481)

 

Page 140



MOVEMENT IN RESERVES 

 

30          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by 
the WMCA, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure) and 
‘unusable reserves’ (i.e. those allocated for specific purposes). This statement shows how the movements 
in the year are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts to be funded from 
resources. 

General  Earmarked Total General Capital Total Reval- Capital Pensions Accumulated Total Total 

Fund Reserves Fund Receipts Usable uation Adjustment Reserve Absences Unusable reserves 

Balance Balance Reserve Reserves Reserve Account Account Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 31 March 2016 2,522 18,655 21,177 247 21,424 7,377 41,106  (96,929)  (271)  (48,717)  (27,293)

Movements in reserves during 

2016/17

Total comprehensive income and 

expenditure
27,599  -  27,599  -  27,599 7,065  -  37,980  -  45,045 72,644 

Adjustments between accounting 

basis and funding basis under 

regulations (note 5b)

 (28,647) 29,952 1,305  -  1,305  (213)  (2,918) 1,783 43  (1,305)  -  

Increase or (decrease) in 

2016/17 before transfer to 

earmarked reserves

 (1,048) 29,952 28,904  -  28,904 6,852  (2,918) 39,763 43 43,740 72,644 

Transfers to/(from) earmarked 

reserves 340  (340)  -   -   -   (7,065) 7,065  -   -   -   -  

Balance at 31 March 2017 

carried forward
1,814 48,267 50,081 247 50,328 7,164 45,253  (57,166)  (228)  (4,977) 45,351 

Movements in reserves during 

2017/18

Total comprehensive income and 

expenditure
52,775  -  52,775  -  52,775  -   -  5,660  -  5,660 58,435 

Adjustments between accounting 

basis and funding basis under 

regulations (note 5b)  (46,600) 28,395  (18,205)  -   (18,205)  (211) 22,364  (3,871)  (77) 18,205  -  

Increase or (decrease) in 

2017/18 before transfer to 

earmarked reserves 6,175 28,395 34,570  -  34,570  (211) 22,364 1,789  (77) 23,865 58,435 

Transfers to/(from) earmarked 

reserves  (5,694) 5,694  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Balance at 31 March 2018 

carried forward
2,295 82,356 84,651 247 84,898 6,953 67,617  (55,377)  (305) 18,888 103,786 

Usable reserves Unusable reserves

 

 
 
 

Page 141



BALANCE SHEET 

 

31          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised 
by the WMCA. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the WMCA. 
Reserves are reported in two categories – usable and unusable. Usable reserves are those that may be 
used to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory 
limitations on their use. Unusable reserves are those that the WMCA is not able to use for the provision of 
services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example 
the Revaluation Reserve) and reserves that hold timing differences in capital investment (the Capital 
Adjustment Account). 
 

2018 2017 

Notes £'000 £'000 

Intangible assets 19  -   -  

Property, plant and equipment 20 294,722 259,802 

Long-term assets 294,722 259,802 

Short-term investments 21 11,000 22,000 

Short-term debtors 22 31,960 25,634 

Cash and cash equivalents 23 38,255 28,303 

Current assets 81,215 75,937 

Short-term borrowing 24  (25,561)  (7,663)

Finance lease liabilities 25  -   (1,684)

Short-term creditors 26  (41,013)  (47,086)

Provisions 27  (5,548)  (5,803)

Grants receipts in advance - revenue 15  (4,201)  (1,226)

Transferred debt 28  (688)  (626)

Current liabilities  (77,011)  (64,088)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 4,204 11,849 

Long-term borrowing 24  (129,100)  (152,416)

Finance lease liabilities 25  -   (991)

Provisions 27  (1,000)  (1,000)

Grants receipts in advance - capital 15  (7,642)  (6,854)

Transferred debt 28  (7,185)  (7,873)

Net pension liability 32  (50,213)  (57,166)

Long-term liabilities  (195,140)  (226,300)

Net assets/(liabilities) 103,786 45,351 

General Fund Balance 29 2,295 1,814 

Earmarked Reserves 29 82,356 48,267 

Capital Receipts Reserve 29 247 247 

Usable reserves 84,898 50,328 

Revaluation Reserve 30 6,953 7,164 

Capital Adjustment Account 30 67,617 45,253 

Pensions Reserve 30  (55,377)  (57,166)

Accumulated Absences Account 30  (305)  (228)

Unusable reserves 18,888  (4,977)

Total reserves 103,786 45,351  
 

This financial report replaces the unaudited financial report certified by Sean Pearce on 8 May 2018. They 
were approved for issue by the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee on 21 June 2018. Events after the 
Balance Sheet date have been considered up to the date of approval. 

Page 142



CASHFLOW STATEMENT 

 

32          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The Cashflow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the WMCA during the 
reporting period. The statement shows how the WMCA generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising 
from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations are funded by way of grant 
income or from the recipients of services provided by the WMCA. Investing activities represent the extent 
to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the WMCA’s 
future service delivery.   
 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Net (deficit)/surplus on the provision of services 52,775 27,599 

Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services 

for non-cash movements

Depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 15,467 15,508 

Net amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal 3,086 405 

Non-current assets transferred to provision of services 84 612 

Change in pensions liability  (1,293) 4,517 

(Increase)/decrease in short-term debtors  (6,326) 169 

(Decrease)/increase in short-term creditors  (6,073) 10,242 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (255)  (494)

Net interest payable 8,959 9,472 

Interest paid  (9,372)  (9,826)

Interest received 297 224 

Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services that are investing and financing activities

Capital grants received  (95,141)  (68,584)

Capital grants paid 44,237 45,759 

Net cash flows from operating activities 6,445 35,603 

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (53,557)  (23,367)

Capital grants received for the purchase of property, plant and equipment 50,904 22,825 

Increase/(decrease) in short-term and long-term investments 11,000  (22,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities 8,347  (22,542)

Financing activities

Payment of finance lease liabilities  (2,675)  (1,649)

Increase/(decrease) in grants receipts in advance 3,763  (6,596)

Repayment of loans  (5,302)  (5,291)

Transferred debt - repayment of principal  (626)  (569)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (4,840)  (14,105)

Net increase or decrease in cash and cash equivalents 9,952  (1,044)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 28,303 29,347 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  (note 23) 38,255 28,303  

Page 143



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  
 

 
33         West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 

 
Notes Index 

 

Number Description

1 Basis of Preparation

2  Significant Accounting Policies

3 Critical Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions 

4 Accounting Standards issued but Not Yet Adopted

5  Expenditure and Funding Analysis

6 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature

7 Transport Services

8 Combined Authority Other Services

9 Investment Programme

10 Mayor's Office

11 Elections

12 Other Operating Expenditure

13 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

14 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure

15 Government and Other Grant Income

16 Officers’ Remuneration

17 Members' Allowances

18 External Audit Costs

19 Intangible Assets

20 Property, Plant and Equipment

21 Investments

22 Short-term Debtors

23 Cash and Cash Equivalents

24 Borrowing

25 Finance Lease Liabilities

26 Short-term Creditors

27 Provisions

28 Transferred Debt

29 Usable Reserves

30 Unusable Reserves

31 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing

32 Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

33 Financial Risk Management 

34 Financial Instruments

35 Operating Leases

36 Capital Commitments

37 Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

38 Related Party Disclosures

39 Events After the Balance Sheet Date  
 
 

Page 144



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 
 

 
34         West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 

 
1. Basis of preparation 

 
a) General principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises WMCA’s transactions for the 2017/18 financial year and its 
position as at 31 March 2018. The WMCA is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts by 
the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require the accounts to be prepared in 
accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 (the Code), supported 
by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 

b) Basis of preparation 
The accounts have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified by the revaluation of certain 
categories of non-current assets in accordance with the Code. Income and expenditure is accounted 
for on an accruals basis (recognised in the period to which they relate) rather than when cash 
payments are made or received. 
 

c) Merger accounting 
The 2016/17 financial statements were prepared as a ‘Transfer by Merger’ under the Code following 
the transfer of all functions, property, rights or liabilities of the West Midlands Transport Authority 
(ITA) and the West Midlands Passenger Transport Executive (PTE) to the WMCA under the 
provisions of the West Midlands Combined Authority Order 653/2016. This therefore applies to 
comparatives only. 
 

d) Going concern 
The accounts of the WMCA have been prepared on a going concern basis as it is considered by 
the Mayor that the activities will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future by 
meeting its liabilities as they fall due for payment. The transfer under the Order was deemed to be 
a transfer of services under combinations of public sector bodies and therefore the presumption of 
going concern continues in accordance with the Code.  

 
 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 

a) Consolidation 
The accounts of Centro Properties Limited, Midlands Development Capital Limited, Midland Metro 
Limited, Midland Metro (Two) Limited, Network West Midlands Limited, West Midlands Development 
Capital Limited which are subsidiaries of the WMCA and its associate, West Midlands Rail Limited 
have not been consolidated with those of the WMCA because the companies are either dormant and 
do not hold any assets or liabilities or are not material (see note 21 on investments). 

 
b) Taxation 
 

Corporation, income and capital gains tax 
The WMCA is exempt from corporation, income and capital gains tax by virtue of regulations section 
74 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

 
Value added tax (VAT) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except: 

 Irrecoverable VAT on the purchase of assets or services is recognised as an expense 
in the income statement.  

 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 

The net amount of VAT recoverable from HMRC, or payable to the WMCA is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet.  

  

Page 145



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

35          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
c) Income 

Revenue grants and other funding income is recognised on an accruals basis where there is 
reasonable assurance that the income will be received and all attached conditions have been 
complied with.   
 

Income arising from ticket sales where the WMCA is acting as a principal is included within transport 
services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Income other than grant and ticketing income, which all arises within the United Kingdom and is 
stated net of VAT, represents income arising from bus station departure charges, the provision of 
timetable information, rental income and advertising revenues.  Income is recognised to the extent 
that reliably measured economic benefits will flow to the WMCA and includes estimates in respect 
of services provided and rental income which have not been invoiced at the period end. 
 

d) Government grants and other contributions 
Grants and contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised immediately in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, except to the extent that the grant or 
contribution has a condition that the WMCA has not satisfied. Where a grant has been received 
and conditions remain outstanding at the Balance Sheet date, the grant is recognised in the 
Balance Sheet as grants receipts in advance.  Once the condition has been met, the grant or 
contribution is transferred from grants receipts in advance and recognised as income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
With respect to capital grants, if the expenditure to be financed from the grant has been incurred at 
the Balance Sheet date, the grant is transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Adjustment 
Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement.  If the expenditure has not been incurred at the 
Balance Sheet date, the grant is transferred to the capital grants unapplied reserve via the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the expenditure is incurred, the grant is transferred to 
the Capital Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
With respect to revenue grants, if the expenditure has not been incurred at the Balance Sheet date, 
the grant is transferred to Earmarked Reserves via the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When 
the expenditure is incurred, the grant is transferred back via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 
e) Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute  

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (REFCUS) is expenditure of a capital 
nature that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset on the Balance Sheet. 
 

 As part of its policy of improving and co-ordinating public transport within the area, the 
WMCA meets the cost of upgrading transport facilities within the West Midlands. These 
costs are attributed to tangible assets where possible with the remainder written off to Cost 
of Services in the year as REFCUS.  

 The WMCA makes payments of capital grants and contributions to Constituent Authorities 
and other organisations carrying out economic development and regeneration functions 
on behalf of the WMCA. These are included within REFCUS. 

 
REFCUS is charged to the Cost of services as the expenditure is incurred and reversed out through 
the Movement in Reserves Statement and a transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
f) Pensions scheme 

Employees of the WMCA are members of the West Midlands Pension Fund.  This is a funded 
defined benefits career average salary statutory scheme administered by the City of 
Wolverhampton Council in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013 (previously a funded defined benefits final salary statutory scheme).  The scheme provides 
defined benefits to members (e.g. retirement lump sums and pensions) which are earned as 
employees who worked for the WMCA. The fund is valued every three years by a professionally 
qualified independent actuary.   

  

Page 146



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

36          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Pension costs have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and 
the WMCA’s share of the fund’s assets and liabilities are recognised in the Balance Sheet in 
accordance with IAS 19. The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement has therefore 
been charged with the full cost of providing for future pension liabilities arising from in-year service. 
 
In the Movement in Reserves Statement an appropriation equal to the difference between this 
amount and the actual employer’s pension contribution is made to the Pensions Reserve, so that 
any additional costs arising from applying IAS 19 do not impact on the amount to be levied on the 
Local Authorities, and therefore ensuring no additional impact on local taxation.  This appropriation 
is made under the general application of the Code. The negative balance that arises on the 
Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required 
to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits earned by 
employees.   
 

g) Financial assets 
The WMCA’s financial assets include trade debtors, short-term investments and cash and cash 
equivalents. Such financial assets are treated as loans and receivables and are recognised initially 
at cost. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less. Deposits with original maturities of over three months are classified as short-
term investments. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. For the purpose of the Cashflow Statement, 
bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the WMCA’s cash 
management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.  
 
Trade debtors are recognised and carried at invoice or contract value less an allowance for any 
amounts which may not be collectable.  Should such an amount become uncollectable, it is written 
off to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the period in which it is recognised.   
 

h) Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities include loans and borrowings and trade creditors. Loans and borrowings consist 
of bank overdrafts and finance leases.  

 
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and 
borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Annual charges 
for interest payable are made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement based on 
the carrying value of the liability multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited or debited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year they occur. Any premium or 
discount arising on restructuring of the loan portfolio is respectively deducted from or added to the 
amortised cost of the new or modified loan and charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement over the life of the loan. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread 
over future years. The WMCA has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was 
remaining on the loan against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was 
repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund Balance would be managed by a 
transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movements in Reserves 
Statement. In 2017/18, no such transactions have occurred. 
 
Trade creditors are recognised and carried at invoice or contract value.  Should an amount become 
non-payable, it is written back to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the 
period in which it is recognised. For finance leases see note 2(j). 

  

Page 147



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

37          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet when, 
and only when, the WMCA has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
i) Property, plant and equipment 
 

Recognition and measurement 
Infrastructure and assets under construction are measured at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses, if any. Assets classified as infrastructure 
include bus and railway stations, bus shelters, park and ride sites, trams and Midland Metro 
infrastructure. As all bus stations and park and ride sites were valued as at 31 December 2008 by 
Lambert Smith Hampton, for the conversion to accounting under the Code, historical cost is 
deemed to be the carrying amount of the asset at 31 March 2009 or at the date of acquisition (if 
later) adjusted for subsequent depreciation. 
 
All other assets are measured at current value.  Vehicles, plant and equipment are valued at 
depreciated historical cost as a proxy for current value as they have short useful lives and/or low 
values.  Current value for land and buildings is interpreted by the Code as the amount that would 
be paid for the asset in its existing use.  Valuations are performed frequently to ensure that the 
current value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased 
software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment. 

 
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. The WMCA 
does not have a de minimis level for capitalisation. Each capital project is reviewed on an individual 
basis and the costs considered for capitalisation. Non-enhancing expenditure is written off to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
Any revaluation surplus is credited to the Revaluation Reserve, except to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, in which case the increase is recognised in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  A revaluation deficit is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset in 
the Revaluation Reserve. 

 
An annual transfer is made from the Revaluation Reserve to the General Fund for the difference 
between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation based 
on the assets original cost.  Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the 
revalued amount of the asset.   

 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, 
and are recognised net within other operating expenditure.  When revalued assets are sold, any 
revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset is transferred to the General Fund.  
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.  Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.  Land is not 
depreciated.  A full year’s depreciation is charged in the financial year that the asset becomes 
operational. No depreciation is charged in the year of disposal. 
 
 

Page 148



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

38          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Fixed assets are recorded at significant component level.  Each part of an item of property, plant 
and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost is depreciated separately. 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

 Buildings  40 years 

 Equipment   5 – 40 years 

 Midland Metro  
o Infrastructure 10 - 30 years 
o Trams   30 years 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. 

 
Midland Metro – future routes 
Expenditure, other than land purchase, on other areas of the network will be capitalised once 
approval for a particular line is received and the development is likely to proceed.  Development 
costs are written off in the year. Land acquired for the expansion of the network is capitalised and 
included in land, measured at fair value. 
 
Assets under construction  
Expenditure in respect of assets which are not yet complete at the reporting date is classified as 
assets under construction. Upon the asset becoming operational, the expenditure is transferred to 
property, plant and equipment.  In the event that capital expenditure does not directly result in an 
operational asset, the costs are recognised within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  
    

j) Leases  
Leases in terms of which the WMCA assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases.  Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount 
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy applicable to that asset.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Operating leases are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but charged as an expense in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

 
k) Impairment 

 
Financial assets (including receivables) 
Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment.  A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss 
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss had a negative effect 
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.  
 
Non-financial assets 
The carrying value of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the assets’ recoverable 
amount is estimated. 

 
Impairment losses are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised. 

Page 149



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

39          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
l) Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are  recognised when the WMCA has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow  of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  The expense relating to the provision is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the WMCA a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the WMCA. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts. 
 

m) Minimum Revenue Provision  
Capital Finance Regulations require the WMCA to provide for the repayment of long-term capital 
programme borrowing through a revenue charge in accordance with the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) requirements. The MRP policy is detailed within the Treasury Management 
Strategy and agreed by the WMCA prior to the start of the financial year. The approved MRP 
statement for the current year is: 

 
 For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2009 or which in future will be financed by 

supported borrowing, MRP will be broadly based as being 2% of the underlying Capital 
Financing Requirement.  

 From 1 April 2009 for all capital expenditure met from unsupported or prudential borrowing, 
MRP will be based on the estimated life of the asset or a depreciation calculation. 

 MRP will commence in the financial year after the asset has become operational.  

 In relation to the WMCA wider Devolution Investment Programme MRP will be charged over 
the 30 years to 2046/47 in order to repay all the Investment Plan borrowing. 

A revenue charge is also made to provide for the repayments of the former West Midlands County 

Council inherited debt of the WMCA.  

During the year, the methodology for calculating MRP was changed from an equal instalment 
to an annuity basis, to better reflect the time value of money and the likely increase in benefits 
in later years due to the type of assets held, which are mainly community assets which exist 
as part of an increasingly complex and better connected public transport network. 

 
n) Events After the Reporting Period 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised 
for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement 
of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would 
have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their 
estimated financial effect. 

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 

  

Page 150



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

40          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
o) Prior Period Adjustments 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of 
transactions, other events and conditions on the WMCA’s financial position or financial 
performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by 
adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had 
always been applied.  

 
 
3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions  

 
The preparation of the financial report in conformity with the Code requires the WMCA to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
Judgements 
In applying the accounting policies set out in note 2, the WMCA has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.  The 
WMCA does not consider that there are any complex transactions that are not covered by the 
accounting policies outlined in note 2, that required any judgements and hence disclosure. 
 
The accounting treatment for the transfer to the WMCA as a “Transfer by Merger” as set out in 
note 1 (c) was a critical judgement made by the WMCA Board in relation to the preparation of the 
2016/17 accounts and is therefore pertinent to the comparatives of these 2017/18 financial 
statements. 
 
Estimates and assumptions 
The financial report contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions about the future or 
that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current 
trends and other relevant factors.  However, because balances cannot be determined with 
certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

 
The items in the Balance Sheet at 31 March 2018 for which there is a risk of material adjustment 
in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 

 Property revaluation: 
The WMCA carries its land and buildings and land held for future expansion at fair value.  
Periodically, external surveyors are used, and the last full independent survey was carried 
out as at 31 March 2014.  Between independent surveys desktop reviews are carried out 
by the external valuers at the Balance Sheet date.  Such valuations and any attached 
estimates are subject to some sensitivity. 
 

 Pension benefits:  
The cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using independent actuarial 
valuation involving the use of assumptions about discount rates, returns on assets, future 
salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Such assumptions are 
reviewed at each period end, and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries. When actual experience is not in line with the assumptions 
adopted, a surplus or shortfall will emerge at the next full actuarial valuation and will require 
a subsequent contribution adjustment to bring the funding back into line with target. 

  

Page 151



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

41          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
The effects of changes in individual assumptions have been measured by the funds 
actuaries in their 2018 IAS 19 valuation report: 

 

 A 0.1% p.a. increase in the discount rate will reduce the pension fund liability by 
£4.204m. 

 A 0.1% p.a. decrease in the discount rate will increase the pension fund liability by 
£4.267m. 

 An increase of life expectancy at retirement by 1 year will increase the pension fund 
liability by £12.414m. 

 A decrease of life expectancy at retirement by 1 year will decrease the pension fund 
liability by £11.916m. 

 0.1% p.a. increase in inflation will increase the pension fund liability by £3.892m. 

 0.1% p.a. decrease in inflation will decrease the pension fund liability by £3.840m. 
 

  
4. Accounting Standards issued but not yet adopted 
 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) requires 
changes in accounting policy to be applied retrospectively unless alternative transitional 
arrangements are specified in the Code. 
 
The Code requires local authorities to disclose information relating to the impact of an accounting 
change that will be required by a new standard under the International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) that has been issued but not yet adopted by the Code. For the 2017/18 financial 
year, the applicable date will be 1 January 2018. The relevant standards are: 
1. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments issued in July 2014 effective 1 January 2018 
2. IFRS 15 Revenue contracts from customers issued in May 2014 effective 1 January 2018 

 
The WMCA will adopt IFRS 9 with effect from 1 April 2018. The main changes include the 
reclassification of financial assets and the earlier recognition of the impairment of financial assets. 
 
The WMCA does not expect the reclassification changes to have a material impact upon the 
financial statements because the majority of its financial assets will retain the same measurement. 

 
The WMCA does not expect the impairment changes to have a material impact upon the financial 
statements because the impairment charge will be immaterial for its treasury management assets 
and it already makes a provision for doubtful debts on its trade receivables. 

 
The WMCA will adopt IFRS 15 (which replaces IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction 
Contacts) with effect from 1 April 2018 and does not expect to have a material impact upon the 
financial statements. The main changes include the new definition of income to depict the transfer 
of promised goods or services to the service recipient or customer in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the authority expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
Income includes both revenue arising in the course of normal operating activities of an authority 
and gains such as the revaluation of property, plant and equipment. 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 152



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

42          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
5. Expenditure and Funding Analysis  

 
(a) Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

The Expenditure and Funding analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from 
resources (transport levy, government grants, constituent and non-constituent contributions) by 
the WMCA in comparison with those resources consumed or earned in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making 
purposes between the WMCA’s services. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally 
accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 

2016/2017  2017/2018  

Net  Adjustments Net  Net  Adjustments Net  

expenditure between expenditure expenditure between expenditure 

chargeable funding and in the chargeable funding and in the 

 to the accounting Comprehensive  to the accounting Comprehensive 

General basis Income and  General basis Income and  

Fund (note 5b) Expenditure Fund (note 5b) Expenditure 

Statement Statement 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

116,774 26,926 143,700 Transport services 106,295 28,488 134,783 

2,173  -  2,173 Combined Authority other services 4,148  (29) 4,119 

2,518  -  2,518 Investment Programme 6,903 809 7,712 

 -   -   -  Mayor's office 363  -  363 

 -   -   -  Elections 4,318  -  4,318 

121,465 26,926 148,391 Cost of services 122,027 29,268 151,295 

 -  405 405 Other operating expenditure  -  3,086 3,086 

9,472 2,455 11,927 

Financing and investment income 

and expenditure 8,959 1,280 10,239 

 (129,889)  (58,433)  (188,322)

Taxation and non-specific grant 

income and expenditure  (137,161)  (80,234)  (217,395)

1,048  (28,647)  (27,599)
(Surplus) or deficit on provision 

of services
 (6,175)  (46,600)  (52,775)

 (2,522) Opening General Fund balance  (1,814)

 (340)

Transfers to/from Earmarked 

Reserves 5,694 

 (1,814) Closing General Fund balance  (2,295)

 
 

(b) Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
This note provides an analysis of the adjustments to Net Expenditure Chargeable to the General Fund 
to arrive at the amounts in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The relevant 
transfers between reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

43          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

Adjustments for 2017/18

Pensions Accumulated Total 

Depreciation/ REFCUS Grants/ Financing adjustments Absences adjustments 

loss on disposal contributions Account 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Transport services 15,467 10,562 964  (1,173) 2,591 77 28,488 

Combined Authority other services  -   -   (29)  -   -   -   (29)

Investment Programme  -  8,325  -   (7,516)  -   -  809 

Mayor's office  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Elections  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Net cost of services 15,467 18,887 935  (8,689) 2,591 77 29,268 

Other operating expenditure 3,086  -   -   -   -   -  3,086 

Financing and investment income 

and expenditure  -   -   -   -  1,280  -  1,280 

Taxation and non-specific grant 

income and expenditure  -   -   (80,234)  -   -   -   (80,234)

(Surplus) or deficit on provision 

of services
18,553 18,887  (79,299)  (8,689) 3,871 77  (46,600)

Adjustments for capital purposes

 

 
Prior year comparatives

Pensions Accumulated Total 

Depreciation/ REFCUS Grants/ Financing adjustments Absences adjustments 

loss on disposal contributions Account 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Transport services 15,508 15,353 5,827  (5,481)  (4,238)  (43) 26,926 

Combined Authority other services  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Investment Programme  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Net cost of services 15,508 15,353 5,827  (5,481)  (4,238)  (43) 26,926 

Other operating expenditure 405  -   -   -   -   -  405 

Financing and investment income 

and expenditure  -   -   -   -  2,455  -  2,455 

Taxation and non-specific grant 

income and expenditure  -   -   (58,433)  -   -   -   (58,433)

(Surplus) or deficit on provision 

of services
15,913 15,353  (52,606)  (5,481)  (1,783)  (43)  (28,647)

Adjustments for capital purposes

 
Depreciation - charges for depreciation of non-current assets and loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment are chargeable to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
under proper accounting practices. 
 
REFCUS - revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute is added to services lines as it 
is chargeable to Cost of Services under proper accounting practices. Also included within REFCUS 
are amounts written off to Cost of Services in respect of capital development schemes.  
 
Grants/contributions - revenue grants within transport services and the Gainshare contribution 
within non-specific grant income and expenditure are adjusted from those receivable in the year to 
those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The 
taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure line is also credited with capital grants 
receivable and payable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the 
year.  
 
 

Page 154



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

44          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Financing - the statutory charges for capital financing i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision, debt 
repayment and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure as these 
are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 
 
Pensions adjustments - the adjustment to transport services represents the removal of the 
employer contributions made by the WMCA as allowed by statute and the replacement with current 
service costs and past service costs calculated under accepted accounting practices (IAS 19). The 
adjustment to Financing and investment income and expenditure is the net interest on the defined 
benefit liability charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement under IAS 19. 
 
Accumulated absences account – the adjustment for the removal of the accrued element of 
short-term accumulating compensated absences (for example holiday pay) to the salaries actually 
payable in the financial year in accordance with relevant statutory provisions. 
 
As the WMCA is considered a local authority following its existence by virtue of the Order, it has 
applied the statutory provisions that allow authorities to adjust the effect of accounting for benefits 
on the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement, via the use of an Accumulated 
Absences Account. Due to the adoption of the “Transfer by Merger” accounting, immaterial 
changes were made to the comparatives to ensure consistency in the accounting treatment across 
both years i.e. 2016/17 and 2017/18. 
 
 

6. Expenditure and income analysed by nature 
 
The WMCA’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows: 
 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Expenditure

Employee benefits expenses 16,741 14,905 

Other service expenses 145,603 145,369 

Pension 4,671 4,517 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 15,467 15,508 

REFCUS 18,887 15,353 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 3,086 405 

Interest payments 9,256 9,696 

213,711 205,753 

Income

Fees and charges and other service income  (41,155)  (41,017)

Government revenue grants and contributions  (44,139)  (40,289)

Local Authority business rates growth and contributions  (8,449)  (4,167)

Levies  (121,542)  (124,830)

Capital grants and contributions (net of payments)  (50,904)  (22,825)

Interest and investment income  (297)  (224)

 (266,486)  (233,352)

Surplus on provision of services  (52,775)  (27,599)

 
  

Page 155



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

45          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
7. Transport services  

 
An analysis of income and expenditure by activity for the year is as follows: 
 

Analysis for 2017/18 Gross Grants Other Net 

Expenditure Received Income Expenditure 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Concessions 65,343  -  (452) 64,891 

Bus Services 29,356  (1,969) (6,737) 20,650 

Rail and Metro Services 5,749  -  (1,593) 4,156 

Fares and Ticketing* 29,668  -  (29,668)  -  

Integration 8,758  -  (2,018) 6,740 

Network Resilience 93  -  (17) 76 

Business Support Costs 4,240  -  (322) 3,918 

Policy and Strategy and Elected Member Services 2,106  -  (70) 2,036 

LSTF/Midlands Connect/BBAF Programmes 6,108  (5,964) (144)  -  

Transport Development 1,500  -  - 1,500 

Finance Charges 1,021  -  - 1,021 

Deregulation Pension Costs 1,307  -  - 1,307 

Net expenditure chargeable to the General Fund 155,249  (7,933)  (41,021) 106,295 

27,524 964  -  28,488 

182,773  (6,969)  (41,021) 134,783 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 

(note 5)

Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

 
 
Comparatives for 2016/17 Gross Grants Other Net 

Expenditure Received Income Expenditure 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Concessions 68,496  -   (469) 68,027 

Bus Services 28,684  (1,793)  (6,857) 20,034 

Rail and Metro Services 4,007  -   (1,145) 2,862 

Fares and Ticketing * 30,627  -   (30,627)  -  

Integration 8,491  (363)  (1,588) 6,540 

Business Support Costs 4,292  (100)  (286) 3,906 

Policy and Strategy and Elected Member Services 1,785  -   (45) 1,740 

LSTF/Midlands Connect/BBAF Programmes 7,298  (7,298)  -   -  

Finance Charges 6,811  -   -  6,811 

Deregulation Pension Costs 6,854  -   -  6,854 

Net expenditure chargeable to the General Fund 167,345  (9,554)  (41,017) 116,774 

21,099 5,827  -  26,926 

188,444  (3,727)  (41,017) 143,700 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 

(note 5)

Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement  
 
*Fares and ticketing 
The WMCA manages and administers two public transport ticketing schemes in the West Midlands 
on behalf of bus, tram and rail operators. The nNetwork scheme is a ticketing system which allows 
holders of period tickets to travel on bus, rail and Metro services within the West Midlands. The 
nBus and Bus/Metro schemes are ticketing systems covering the majority of bus services within 
the West Midlands and also Midland Metro. The net revenue of these schemes is paid out to public 
transport operators on an agreed basis. 

  

Page 156



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

46          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
8. Combined Authority other services 

 

Analysis for 2017/18 Gross Grants Other Net 

Expenditure Received Income Expenditure 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Black Country Economic Intelligence Unit 240  -   -  240 

Collective Investment Fund  (42)  -   -   (42)

Communications 314  -   -  314 

Culture and Tourism 38  -   -  38 

Growth Company 1,137  -   -  1,137 

Housing and Land Commission 302  (158)  -  144 

Mental Health Commission 325  -   (115) 210 

Productivity and Skills Commission 391  -   -  391 

Programme, Policy and Governance 1,169  -   -  1,169 

Individual Placement Support 483  (483)  -   -  

Public Service Reform 467  -   -  467 

Transport 80  -   -  80 

Net expenditure chargeable to the General Fund 4,904  (641)  (115) 4,148 

 -   (29)  -   (29)

4,904  (670)  (115) 4,119 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 

(note 5)

Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

 
 

Comparatives for 2016/17 Gross Grants Other Net

Expenditure Received Income Expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Black Country Economic Intelligence Unit  -   -   -   -  

Collective Investment Fund 292  -   -  292 

Communications 152  -   -  152 

Culture and Tourism 16  -   -  16 

Growth Company  -   -   -   -  

Housing and Land Commission 323  -   -  323 

Mental Health Commission 294  (62)  -  232 

Productivity and Skills Commission 30  -   -  30 

Programme, Policy and Governance 764  -   -  764 

Individual Placement Support  -   -   -   -  

Public Service Reform 247  -   -  247 

Transport 117  -   -  117 

Net expenditure chargeable to the General Fund 2,235  (62)  -  2,173 

 -   -   -   -  

2,235  (62)  -  2,173 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 

(note 5)

Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement   

Page 157



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

47          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
9. Investment programme 

 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Revenue costs of project and programme delivery 6,520 2,493 

Programme resource 383 25 

Net expenditure chargeable to the General Fund 6,903 2,518 

809  -  

7,712 2,518 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 

(note 5)

Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

 
 
10. Mayor’s office 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Staff 312  -  

Premises and Services 24  -  

Promotions, Information and Initiatives 20  -  

Travel and Subsistence 26  -  

Gross expenditure 382  -  

Income:

Other income  (19)  -  

Gross income  (19)  -  

363  -  
Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

 
This is the first year of the Mayor’s office and therefore there are no prior year comparatives.  

 
 

11. Elections 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Postage, Printing and Office Supplies 687  -  

Promotions, Information and Initiatives 745  -  

Election Costs 2,886  -  

Gross expenditure 4,318  -  

4,318  -  
Per Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement  
 
The election costs for the first West Midlands Mayor have been funded by the WMCA. It is 
anticipated that the majority of the costs of the next mayoral election in 2020 will be funded by the 
Constituent Authorities, subject to those Constituent Authorities being able to incorporate the West 
Midlands Mayoral election into their own election process. 

  

Page 158



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

48          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
12. Other operating expenditure 

 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

3,086 405 

Total 3,086 405 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

 
The loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment relates to the ongoing replacement of bus 
shelters and the upgrade of the Midland Metro system including the historic trams which are fully 
funded from grants. 
 

 

13. Financing and investment income and expenditure 
 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Interest payable and similar charges on borrowings:

  PWLB 8,340 8,730 

  Barclays 403 404 

Interest payable on the former transferred debt 513 562 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (note 32) 1,280 2,455 

10,536 12,151 

Interest receivable and similar income  (297)  (224)

Total 10,239 11,927 

 
 
14. Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure 
 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Transport levy from the West Midlands districts* 121,542 124,830 

Gainshare contribution - MHCLG 36,500 36,500 

Business rates growth 6,600 1,500 

Constituent, non-constituent and observers contributions* 1,849 2,667 

Capital grants and contributions (note 15) 95,141 68,584 

Gross income 261,632 234,081 

Capital grants paid  (44,237)  (45,759)

Total 217,395 188,322 

*An analysis of the transport levy and constituent and non-constituent member contributions by district is shown 

in note 38 Related party disclosures. 
 

The WMCA receives grants from the DfT which it administers and passes onto district partners. 
This expenditure does not form part of the WMCA’s capital programme but is included within 
taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure. 
 
The Constituent Authorities agreed the principle of the WMCA being the recipient of a share of 
Business Rates Growth across the constituent geography, which is to be used to fund part of the 
Investment Programme. The values above include the agreed share for 2017/18, payable by local 
authorities in addition to a one-off payment from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) in relation to calculated Business Rates Growth for the 2016/17 financial 
year. 

  

Page 159



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

49          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

15. Government and other grant income 
 

The following grants and contributions were credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Revenue grants credited to cost of services

Bus Service Operator Grant - DfT 1,969 1,793 

Health-led Employment Trials - Department for Work and Pensions 512 62 

Housing Package - MHCLG 158  -  

Local Sustainable Transport Fund - DfT  -  549 

Midlands Connect Programme - DfT 5,000 545 

Smart Ticketing  -  780 

Other  -  60 

Total 7,639 3,789 

Analysed between the following segments:

Transport services (note 7) 6,969 3,727 

Combined Authority other services (note 8) 670 62 

Total 7,639 3,789 

 
 

2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 

Integrated Transport Block - DfT 16,669 23,008 

Highways Maintenance Incentive Fund - DfT 1,393 913 

Highways Capital Maintenance - DfT 14,486 14,939 

Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund - DfT 13,989 13,642 

Pot Hole Fund - DfT 1,223  -  

Local Authority Major Project - DfT 28,671  -  

National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) - DfT 5,788  -  

Clean Vehicle Fund - DfT  -  486 

Local Sustainability Transport Fund - DfT  -  201 

ITSO Smartcard - DfT  -  41 

Co-Op Intelligent Transport - DfT 284  -  

Enterprize Zone  - Birmingham City Council 4,587 6,263 

Local Growth Fund - BC LEP 1,834 5,615 

Local Growth Fund - GBS LEP 4,444 3,111 

3rd Party Contributions 271 108 

Ring and Ride vehicles 577 215 

Other 925 42 

Total 95,141 68,584 

Capital grants and contributions credited to taxation and non-

specific grant income

  

Page 160



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

50          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
WMCA has received a number of grants and contributions that have yet to be recognised as 
income as they have conditions attached to them that will require the monies to be returned to the 
giver. These are recognised in the Balance Sheet as grants receipts in advance until such time as 
the conditions are met. The balances at the year end are as follows: 
 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Grants received in advance - capital 

Integrated Transport Block - DfT 2,516 1,657 

Local Growth Fund - GBS LEP/BC LEP 2,281 1,044 

Sundry - DfT 129 591 

Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund - DfT  -  3,203 

Local Sustainability Transport Fund - DfT 271 277 

Pot Hole Fund - DfT 1,359  -  

Managing Change - DfT 211  -  

Local Authority Major Project - DfT 875  -  

3rd Party Contributions  -  82 

7,642 6,854 

Grants received in advance - revenue 

Bus Service Operator Grant - DfT 1,050 1,226 

Housing Package - MHCLG 1,842  -  

Midlands Connect - DfT 919  -  

Adult Education Budget - Department for Education 220  -  

Wellbeing Premium Trial Implementation Phase - NHS England 120  -  

3rd Party Contributions 50  -  

4,201 1,226 

 
 

16. Officers’ remuneration 
 
The remuneration paid to senior employees during 2017/18 was as follows:  
 

Salary, Compensa- Pension 

fees and tion for loss contrib- 

allowances of office utions Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

WMCA Staff

Chief Executive 1 101  -  13 114 

Chief Operating Officer 2  -   -   -   -  

Clerk to the WMCA and Monitoring Officer 1 83  -  11 94 

Investment Director 2  -   -   -   -  

Director of Finance 1, 3 54  -  7 61 

Director of Housing and Regeneration 4 32  -  4 36 

Director of Public Service Reform 4 47  -  3 50 

Director of Productivity and Skills 4 33  -  4 37 

Director of Strategy 4 26  -  3 29 

Managing Director, Transport for West Midlands 121  -  16 137 

Mayoral Team

Mayor 4 71  -   -  71 

Deputy Mayor 5  -   -   -   -  

Chief of Staff 4 64  -  8 72 

 

Page 161



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

51          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

1 These posts were newly appointed during the year, therefore their pay does not reflect a full 
year’s salary. The outgoing officers did not receive any remuneration from the WMCA and no 
amounts were re-charged from other District Authorities for their services during the period. 
 
2 Chief Operating Officer and Investment Director posts were deleted during the year as part of the 
restructure of the Leadership Team. They did not receive any remuneration from the WMCA and 
no amounts were re-charged from other District Authorities for their services during the period. 
 
3 The Director of Corporate Services was redesignated as Director of Finance with effect from May 
2017. 
 
4 These are new posts appointed during the year, therefore their pay does not reflect a full year’s 
salary. 
 
5 Deputy Mayor was appointed during the year and did not receive any remuneration from the 
WMCA and no amount was re-charged from other District Authorities for his service during the 
period. 
 

Comparatives for 2016/17

Salary, Compensa- Pension 

fees and tion for loss contrib- 

allowances of office utions Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

For the period from 17th June 2016

Chief Executive 1 2016/17  -   -   -   -  

Chief Operating Officer 1 2016/17  -   -   -   -  

Clerk to the WMCA and Monitoring Officer 2 2016/17  -   -   -   -  

Investment Director 1 2016/17  -   -   -   -  

Director of Corporate Services 3 2016/17 (pro-rata) 97 99 12 208 

Managing Director, Transport for 2016/17 (pro-rata) 92  -  11 103 

West Midlands 4

For the period to 16th June 2016

Interim Managing Director 3 2016/17 (pro-rata) 26  -  3 29 

Director of Integrated Mobility 5 2016/17 (pro-rata) 20  -  2 22 

Strategic Director for Transport 4 2016/17 (pro-rata) 24  -  3 27 

West Midlands

 
1 Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer and Investment Director joined in June 2016 when 
WMCA came into existence. They did not receive any remuneration from the WMCA and no 
amounts were re-charged from other District Authorities for their services during the period. 
 
2 Clerk to the WMCA and Monitoring Officer was Clerk to the ITA from 1 April to 16 June 2016. He 
did not receive any remuneration from the WMCA and no amounts were re-charged from other 
District Authorities for his service during the year. 

 
3 Director of Corporate Services was Interim Managing Director (PTE) and Treasurer (ITA) from 1 
April to 16 June 2016.  

 

4 Managing Director, Transport for West Midlands was Strategic Director for Transport from 1 April 
to 16 June 2016. The Strategic Director for Transport post was redesignated as Managing Director, 
Transport for West Midlands with effect from 1 August 2016. 
 
5 Director of Integrated Mobility post was deleted in July 2016 as part of the restructure when the 
WMCA came into existence. Remuneration for the remainder of the year is included in the 
bandings table below. 

  

Page 162



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

52          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Other employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration which includes exit packages for the 
year (excluding pension contributions) were paid the following amounts: 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

£50,000 - £54,999 22 18 

£55,000 - £59,999 9 6 

£60,000 - £64,999 8 6 

£65,000 - £69,999 1 3 

£70,000 - £74,999 2 5 

£75,000 - £79,999 3 2 

£80,000 - £84,999 1 1 

£85,000 - £89,999  -  1 

£90,000 - £94,999  -  1 

£95,000 - £99,999 1 1 

£100,000 - £104,999 1 1 

£105,000 - £109,999  -   -  

£110,000 - £114,999  -   -  

£115,000 - £119,999 1  -  

£120,000 - £124,999  -  1 

£125,000 - £129,999 1  -  

£130,000 - £134,999  -   -  

£135,000 - £139,999 1 1 

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band are set out in the table below. Exit packages 
include pension contributions paid to the pension fund.   

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

No. No. No. No. £'000 £'000 

£0 - £20,000 6 12 6 12 56 75 

£20,001 - £40,000 2 3 2 3 60 109 

£40,001 - £60,000  -  3  -  3  -  140 

£60,001 - £80,000  -  1  -  1  -  70 

£80,001 - £100,000 1 1 1 1 92 99 

£100,001 + 1 5 1 5 137 718 

10 25 10 25 345 1,211 

Total cost of 

packages in each 

band 

Compulsory 

redundancies   Total exit packages

Cost band (including special 

payments)

 
 
 

17. Members’ allowances  
 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Allowances 127 128 

Expenses 5 10 

Total 132 138 

 
 

  

Page 163



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

53          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
18. External audit costs  

 
Charges relating to work undertaken by the external auditors: 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

47 47 

3 19 

Total 50 66 

Fees payable to Grant Thornton LLP with regard to external audit 

services carried out by the appointed auditor for the year

Fees payable in respect of other services provided by Grant Thornton 

LLP during the year

 
 
 

19. Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets consist of costs incurred in the development and implementation of equipment, 
systems and services for introducing ITSO-compliant smartcard ticketing in the West Midlands. 
The costs are fully funded by capital grants and fully amortised. 
 

 
20. Property, plant and equipment 

 
Infrastructure assets comprise bus and railway stations, park and ride sites and the Midland Metro 
system including trams. Other land and buildings include the head office at Summer Lane and 
non-operational land acquired for the future expansion of park and ride sites and the Midland 
Metro. 
 
Assets under construction largely consists of expenditure on the construction of the Midland Metro 
extension. Vehicles, plant and equipment include Ring and Ride vehicles with a carrying value of 
£1.555m (2017: £1.416m), which are included in the Balance Sheet in accordance with IFRIC 4. 
Additions during the year for Ring and Ride were £0.577m (2017: £0.216m) and are included within 
additions - other. 

 
Leased assets 
Assets with a value of £7.065m were acquired under a finance lease in 2016/17 in respect of 
Bromsgrove rail station and carpark. As the lease is at peppercorn rent, the assets were initially 
recognised at £nil, being the lower of the fair value of the assets acquired and the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. After initial recognition, the assets were valued at depreciated 
replacement cost (DRC) in accordance with WMCA’s accounting policy on infrastructure assets.  
This valuation has been prepared by Bruton Knowles, an accredited independent valuer.  
 

Revaluations 
Land and buildings are revalued at least every five years at current value and a full valuation was 
last carried out as at 31 March 2014. This valuation was carried out by Bruton Knowles in 
accordance with the Practice Statements in the Valuation Standards (The Red Book) published by 
The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Current value is determined by reference to market 
based evidence.  This means that valuations performed by the valuer are based on active market 
prices adjusted for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the asset. 
 
Between valuations, a desktop review is carried out by independent valuers for indications of 
material changes to values and adjustments are made to the carrying value of assets as 
appropriate.  The desktop review at 31 March 2018 carried out by Bruton Knowles confirmed that 
there were no adjustments to be made. 

  

Page 164



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

54          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Land and Vehicles, Infra- Assets 

buildings plant and structure under 

equipment assets construction Total  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2017 3,576 41,729 340,356 32,735 418,396 

Additions - capital programme  -  1,490 14,586 36,904 52,980 

Additions - other  -  577  -   -  577 

Transfers  -  564 236  (800)  -  

Transfers to provision of services  -   -   -   (84)  (84)

Disposals  -   -   (8,619)  -   (8,619)

At 31 March 2018 3,576 44,360 346,559 68,755 463,250

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2017 293 27,354 130,947  -  158,594 

Charge for the year 98 2,399 12,970  -  15,467 

Disposals  -   -   (5,533)  -   (5,533)

At 31 March 2018 391 29,753 138,384  -  168,528

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 3,185 14,607 208,175 68,755 294,722 

At 31 March 2017 3,283 14,375 209,409 32,735 259,802 

Movements in 2017/18

 
 

Land and Vehicles, Infra- Assets 

buildings plant and structure under 

equipment assets construction Total  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or valuation `

At 1 April 2016 3,576 38,697 306,277 44,100 392,650 

Additions - capital programme  -  1,179 395 21,577 23,151 

Additions - other  -  216  -   -  216 

Revaluations  -  2,105 4,960  -  7,065 

Transfers  -  508 31,822  (32,330)  -  

Transfers to provision of services  -   -   -   (612)  (612)

Disposals  -   (976)  (3,098)  -   (4,074)

At 31 March 2017 3,576 41,729 340,356 32,735 418,396

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2015 195 25,740 120,820  -  146,755 

Charge for the year 98 2,585 12,825  -  15,508 

Disposals  -   (971)  (2,698)  -   (3,669)

At 31 March 2017 293 27,354 130,947  -  158,594

Net book value

At 31 March 2017 3,283 14,375 209,409 32,735 259,802 

At 31 March 2016 3,381 12,957 185,457 44,100 245,895 

Comparative movements in 2016/17

 
 
 

  

Page 165



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

55          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
21. Investments 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Investments in subsidiaries  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Short-term deposits  -   -  11,000 22,000 11,000 22,000 

Total  -   -  11,000 22,000 11,000 22,000 

Long-term Current Total 

 
Short-term deposits for 2016/17 have been reclassified as current to ensure consistency across 
both years.  
 
The WMCA has interests in the following entities which were incorporated in England.   
 

Share Nature of

Ownership capital business

Centro Properties Ltd 100% £100 Dormant

Midlands Development Capital Limited 100% £100 Dormant

Midland Metro Limited 100% £100 Trading

Midland Metro (Two) Limited 100% £100 Dormant

Network West Midlands Limited 100% £100 Dormant

West Midlands Development Capital Limited 100% £100 Trading

West Midlands Growth Company Limited 5% n/a - limited by guarantee Trading

West Midlands Rail Limited 50% n/a - limited by guarantee Trading

 
Centro Properties Limited was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 as a private limited 
company on 1 December 2009. The company was dissolved on 3 April 2018. 

Midlands Development Capital Limited was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 as a 
private limited company on 27 March 2017. This entity became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
WMCA on 19 December 2017. 

Midland Metro Limited was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 as a private limited 
company on 24 August 2017. The entity commenced trading in November 2017. 

Midland Metro (Two) Limited was incorporated under the Companies Act 1985 as a private limited 
company on 16 March 1988. The entity changed its name from Midland Metro Limited on 24 
August 2017. 

Network West Midlands Ltd was incorporated under the Companies Act 1985 as a private limited 
company on 31 July 2000. 

West Midlands Development Capital Limited was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 as 
a private limited company on 8 May 2017. This entity became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
WMCA on 26 October 2017. 

West Midlands Rail Ltd was incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 as a private limited 
company (limited by guarantee) on 10 April 2014. The entity commenced trading on 10 December 
2017. 

  

Page 166



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

56          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
22. Short-term debtors 

 
2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Trade debtors and accrued income 19,982 13,670

Other debtors 3,372 1,321

Prepayments 8,606 10,643

Total 31,960 25,634

Analysed between the following classes of debtors:

Central government bodies 8,932 1,329 

Other local authorities 10,440 6,367 

Other entities and individuals 12,588 17,938 

Total 31,960 25,634 

 
Included within trade debtors and accrued income are monies owed in respect of grant funding 
claims, business rates growth and also monies owed from operators for ticketing. Prepayments 
consist of prepayments for concessions to operators and capital prepayments for the Midland 
Metro extension. Other debtors consist of amounts recoverable for VAT. 
 

 
23. Cash and cash equivalents 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Cash at bank and in hand 55 103 

38,200 28,200 

Altram refundable deposit 2,750 2,750 

41,005 31,053 

Amount to be repaid to Altram  (2,750) (2,750)

Total 38,255 28,303 

Short-term deposits 

 
 
Daily cash balances are invested overnight.  The balance at 31 March 2018 represents monies 
held on deposit as at 31 March 2018 to be repaid on the next available banking day.  Interest is 
earned at the respective short-term deposit rates.  
 
The WMCA holds £2.750m (2017: £2.750m) on behalf of Altram, its private sector partner in the 
Midland Metro project, as a deposit against unforeseen circumstances.  This sum is invested with 
the Debt Management Office (DMO) with any interest received repaid to Altram.   

  
  

Page 167



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

57          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
24. Borrowing 

 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Lender

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 142,417 147,719 

Barclays 10,000 10,000 

Accrued interest payable 2,244 2,360 

Total 154,661 160,079 

Maturity

Principle and accrued interest due within one year 25,561 7,663 

1 - 2 years 5,328     23,317    

2 - 5 years 6,062     11,021    

5 - 10 years 2,070     1,991     

Over 10 years 115,640  116,087  

Principle due after more than one year 129,100 152,416 

Total 154,661 160,079  
 
The WMCA adopts a low risk treasury management approach seeking to maximise low interest 
loans when the opportunity arises. During the year, the WMCA did not undertake any new short-
term borrowing (2017: nil). The amount of fixed rate debt is 100% (2017: 100%) with no variable 
rate debt (2017: nil). 
 
The Certainty Rate was introduced by the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) in November 2012, 
allowing WMCA to borrow at a reduction of 20 base points (bps) on the standard PWLB rate. The 
WMCA has continued to submit information required in order to be eligible for the Certainty Rate 
and be on the PWLB approved list of authorities who could access the preferential rates. Thus any 
future borrowing can be done at this preferential rate. 
 
During 2005/06 the ITA entered into a £10.0m LOBO (“Lenders Option Borrowers Option”) loan 
with Barclays Bank Plc at 4.03% repayable in 2055/56. In June 2016, Barclays decided to waive 
its right permanently under the lenders option of the LOBO feature to change interest rates in the 
future and converted it into a fixed rate loan. No other terms or conditions of the loan were 
amended and the loan will still mature in June 2055. 
 

 
25. Finance lease liabilities 

 
 In 1998 the former West Midlands Passenger Transport Executive entered into two finance leases 

with Royal Bank Leasing in connection with the trams for Metro line 1. The initial cost of all 15 vehicles 
was £20.747m.  The leases were repayable by equal instalments over 20 years based on LIBOR 
interest rates and were terminated in March 2018.  Any monetary fluctuations due to interest rate 
changes are settled on an annual basis.  

  
  

Page 168



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

58          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

  
 These vehicles are no longer operational and have been written off as they have been replaced by 

new trams.  Finance lease liabilities are repayable as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Within 1 year  -  1,732  -  1,684 

Within 2 - 5 years  -  1,032  -  991 

 -  2,764  -  2,675 

Finance costs payable in future years  -   (89)  -   -  

Total  -  2,675  -  2,675 

Finance lease     

liabilities

Minimum lease 

payments

 
 
26. Short-term creditors 

 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Trade creditors and accruals 37,537 42,037

Taxes and social security 467 392

Payments received on account 3,009 4,657

41,013 47,086

Analysed between the following classes of creditors:

Central government bodies 1,545 941 

Other local authorities 9,445 13,528 

Other entities and individuals 30,023 32,617 

Total 41,013 47,086 

 
Included within trade creditors and accruals are accruals for capital expenditure relating to various 
projects, amounts due to operators for concessions, subsidised services and ticketing, and sundry 
accruals for other goods and services. Payments received on account include ticketing income 
received but not yet paid to operators and advertising income billed in advance.  
 

 
27. Provisions 

 

Current year movements Transport 

development 

Buildings 

maintenance 

Rail 

services/ 

insurance Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2017 4,202 1,311 1,290 6,803 

Additional provision  -  339 180 519 

Release of provision  -   -   (58)  (58)

Amounts used  (460)  (236)  (20)  (716)

Balance at 31 March 2018 3,742 1,414 1,392 6,548 

Current 3,742 414 1,392 5,548 

Long-term  -  1,000  -  1,000 

Total 3,742 1,414 1,392 6,548 

 
  

Page 169



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

59          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

Prior year comparatives Transport 

development 

Buildings 

maintenance 

Rail 

services/ 

insurance Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2016 4,911 1,272 1,114 7,297 

Additional provision 1,429 135 181 1,745 

Amounts used  (2,138)  (96)  (5)  (2,239)

Balance at 31 March 2017 4,202 1,311 1,290 6,803 

Current 4,202 311 1,290 5,803 

Long-term  -  1,000  -  1,000 

Total 4,202 1,311 1,290 6,803 

 
Transport development 
This has been provided to meet the WMCA’s present obligations for the West Midlands regions’ 
transport developments. 
 
Buildings maintenance 
This has been provided to meet contractual obligations in respect of the WMCA’s properties. 
 
Rail services/insurance 
This has been provided in order to meet estimated liabilities and risks in relation to local rail services 
and the net expected costs of claims outstanding, and their administration, relating to the activities 
of the former West Midlands Passenger Transport Executive as a bus operator prior to 26 October 
1986.  

 
 

28. Transferred debt 
 
This consists of loans inherited from the former West Midlands County Council which are managed 
by Dudley MBC on behalf of all the West Midlands authorities. When the County Council was 
disbanded, the loans were nominally distributed amongst the various local government authorities 
in the West Midlands with the former West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority’s share of the 
loan set at 5.495%. The loan is repayable in annual instalments on an annuity basis with the last 
instalment due in 2025/26.  
 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 
 

Balance at 1 April 8,499 9,068 

Repayment in the year  (626)  (569)

Balance at 31 March 7,873 8,499 

Due within one year 688 626 

Due over one year 7,185 7,873 

Total 7,873 8,499 

 
 

  

Page 170



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

60          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
29. Usable reserves 
 

The purpose of the individual reserves are as follows: 
 
General Fund Balance 
The General Fund Balance is a statutory fund which represents funds available to the WMCA to 
meet unexpected short term requirements. Movements in the General Fund are detailed in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Earmarked Reserves 

 
Current year movements

Earmarked 

general 

fund

Investment 

programme 

funding 

reserve

Unapplied 

revenue 

grants Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2017 9,195 35,608 3,464 48,267 

Receivable in year:

  Gainshare contribution  -  36,500  -  36,500 

  Business rates growth  -  6,600  -  6,600 

  Other  -   -  5,512 5,512 

Utilised in year  -   (13,770)  (6,447)  (20,217)

Net unapplied in year  -  29,330  (935) 28,395 

Released in year to general reserves  (1,407)  -   -   (1,407)

Transfers in year from general reserves 7,101  -   -  7,101 

Net transfer (to)/from general reserves 5,694  -   -  5,694 

Balance at 31 March 2018 14,889 64,938 2,529 82,356 

 
 
Prior year comparatives

Earmarked 

general 

fund 

Investment 

programme 

funding 

reserve

Unapplied 

revenue 

grants Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2016 9,364  -  9,291 18,655 

Receivable in year:

  Gainshare contribution  -  36,500  -  36,500 

  Business rates growth  -  1,500  -  1,500 

  Other 171  -  1,934 2,105 

Utilised in year  -   (2,392)  (7,761)  (10,153)

Net unapplied in year 171 35,608  (5,827) 29,952 

Released in year to general reserves  (816)  -   -   (816)

Transfers in year from general reserves 476  -   -  476 

Net transfer (to)/from general reserves  (340)  -   -   (340)

Balance at 31 March 2017 9,195 35,608 3,464 48,267 

 
Earmarked general fund 
This reserve contains contributions in the year to provide funding to back transport capital 
programme commitments. 
 

Page 171



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

61          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Investment programme funding reserve 
This reserve (renamed from Gainshare contribution) contains the Gainshare contribution received 
from the MHCLG (previously known as DCLG) along with other income sources relating to the 
Investment Programme including Business Rates Growth where the expenditure has not been 
incurred at the Balance Sheet date. The funding will be transferred to the General Fund via the 
Movements in Reserves Statement as the expenditure is incurred. 
 
Unapplied revenue grants 
This reserve contains revenue grants that the WMCA has received from the DfT in respect of the 
Local Sustainable Transport Fund and the Midlands Connect Programme where the expenditure 
has not been incurred at the Balance Sheet date. These grants are transferred to the General 
Fund via the Movements in Reserves Statement as the expenditure is incurred. 
  
Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which 
are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set 
aside to finance historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve shows the resources 
that have yet to be applied for these purposes at the year end. 

 
2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 247 247 

Closing balance at 31 March 247 247 

 
 
30. Unusable reserves 

 
The purpose of the individual reserves are as follows: 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made from increases in the value of its property, plant 
and equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost, 

 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

 disposed of and the gains are realised. 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 7,164 7,377 

 (211)  (213)

 -  7,065 

 -   (7,065)

Closing balance at 31 March 6,953 7,164 

Difference between current value depreciation and historical cost 

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment (note 20)

Transfer to Capital Adjustment Account

 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. 
 
The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or subsequent costs as 
depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert current 
and fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The account is credited with capital grants and 
contributions receivable and amounts set as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and 
subsequent costs (MRP).   

  

Page 172



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

62          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 45,253 41,106

Charges for depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets (note 20)  (15,467)  (15,508)

Adjusting amount written out of the Revaluation Reserve 211 213 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 12)  (3,086)  (405)

Non-current assets transferred to provision of services (note 20)  (84)  (612)

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute  (note 31)  (18,803)  (14,741)

Capital financing applied in the year

44,549 22,654 

6,355  -  

400 4,590 

626 569 

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund (note 31) 147 322 

Capital expenditure funded by the Gainshare contribution (note 31) 7,516  -  

Transfer from revaluation reserve  -  7,065 

Closing balance at 31 March 67,617 45,253 

Debt repayment charged against the General Fund (note 28)

Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to 

capital financing

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or 

credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged 

against the General Fund (MRP - note 31)

Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to 

capital financing in prior years

 
Pensions Reserve 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The debit balance on the reserve shows the shortfall in the benefits earned by past and 
current employees and the resources the WMCA has set aside to meet them. The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to 
be paid. 

  
2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 57,166 96,929 

 (5,660)  (37,980)

6,701 6,175 

 (2,830)  (7,958)

Closing balance at 31 March 55,377 57,166 

Remeasurements (liabilities and assets)

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited 

to the surplus or deficit on provision of services in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Employer's pension contributions payable in the year:

Current year

 
  

Page 173



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

63          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Accumulated Absences Account 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on 
the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in 
the year, for example annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers 
to or from the account. 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 228 271 

77  (43)

Closing balance at 31 March 305 228 

Movement in the year

 
 
31. Capital expenditure and capital financing 

 
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year, together with the resources that have 
been used to finance it are shown in the tables below.  

 
2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Bus infrastructure 1,589 2,651 

Rail infrastructure 6,107 1,849 

Midland Metro 51,597 28,117 

Sustainability 1,840 4,552 

Key Routes Network 8,304  -  

Regeneration 1,551  -  

Other 795 723 

Total capital expenditure 71,783 37,892 

Property, plant and equipment (note 20) 52,980 23,151 

Written off to cost of services - capital development/district schemes 18,803 14,741 

71,783 37,892 

Funded by:

Central Government grants 32,147 11,754 

District/Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) grants and contributions 6,966 4,575 

3rd party contributions 4,859 6,109 

Gainshare contribution 7,516  -  

Borrowing 20,295 15,454 

71,783 37,892 

 
The WMCA has a statutory obligation to make adequate provision to meet its liabilities in respect 
of capital expenditure financed by external borrowing through a revenue charge (the Minimum 
Revenue Provision or MRP). The method of calculating the provision is defined by statute and is 
based on the WMCA’s underlying Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital 
expenditure incurred historically by the WMCA that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed 
overleaf: 

  

Page 174



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

64          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 207,385 197,412 

Capital investment 

Capital programme costs funded by borrowing 20,295 15,454 

Sources of finance

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)  (400)  (4,590)

Transferred debt repayment (note 28)  (626)  (569)

Capital expenditure charged to the General Fund  (147)  (322)

Capital grants received previously funded through borrowings  (6,355)  -  

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 220,152 207,385 

Explanation of movement in year

12,767 9,973 

Increase in Capital Financing Requirement 12,767 9,973 

Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by government financial 

assistance)

 
  

32. Defined benefit pension scheme 
 

Employees of the WMCA participate in the West Midlands Pension Fund, a defined benefit career 
average salary statutory scheme administered by the City of Wolverhampton Council in accordance 
with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.   

 
An actuarial valuation of this fund was carried out by Barnett Waddingham LLP, an independent firm 
of actuaries in accordance with the Regulations as at 31 March 2016. Based on the results of this 
valuation, the actuaries set WMCA’s employer contributions for the three years from 1 April 2017 at a 
primary rate of 15.9% of the current employees’ pensionable pay plus £0.8m per annum to meet 
100% of the overall fund liabilities.  This pension cost has been determined after allowing for the 
amortisation of the difference between the assets and the accrued liabilities relating to the WMCA 
over the average remaining service lives of the current members of the fund. 
 
During the year a prepayment of employer’s contributions of £5.164m was made for the two years to 
2019/20 to take advantage of discounts available. 
 
Disclosures in this note are taken from the actuarial report provided by Barnett Waddingham LLP. 
 

  Calculation method 
  The figures as at 31 March 2018 are based on the 31 March 2016 formal valuation of the fund.  

Membership data as at 31 March 2016 was used to develop current funding requirements. Liabilities 
are based on benefit payment and contribution information provided by the fund’s administrator as at 
31 March 2018. This valuation was carried out by Barnett Waddingham LLP. 

  
 Net liability and pension reserve 

The net amount recognised on the Balance Sheet at 31 March 2018 is a deficit of £50.213m compared 
to a deficit of £57.166m at 31 March 2017. The deficit has been reduced by the prepayment of 
£5.164m for 2018/19 and 2019/20 contributions. As a result the pension liability does not agree to the 
pension reserve by that amount. 
  

  

Page 175



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

65          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Movement in pension fund liability during the year  

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 57,166 90,629 

 (2,830)  (7,958)

 (5,164) 6,300 

5,306 3,610 

115 110 

1,280 2,455 

 (5,660)  (37,980)

Closing balance at 31 March 50,213 57,166 

Administration expenses

Net interest cost

Employer's pension contributions payable in the year:

  Current year

Post employment benefit charged to the surplus or deficit on provision of 

services:

Current service cost

  Prepayment for 2018/19 and 2019/20

Remeasurements (liabilities and assets)

 
Transactions relating to post-employment benefits 
 The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the reported cost of services when they are earned 
by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  However, the charge 
required to be made against the levy is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of 
post-employment benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement 
during the year: 

 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of services

Current service cost 5,306 3,610 

Administration expenses 115 110 

Financing and investment income and expenditure

Net interest cost 1,280 2,455 

6,701 6,175 

Remeasurements (liabilities and assets)  (5,660)  (37,980)

1,041  (31,805)

Movement in Reserves Statement

 (6,701)  (6,175)

2,830 7,958 

 (3,871) 1,783 

Total post employment benefit charged to the surplus or 

deficit on provision of services

Total post employment benefit charged/(credited) to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Reversal of net charges made to the surplus or deficit on provision of services 

for post employment benefits in accordance with the Code 

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for 

pensions in the year

  
 

  

Page 176



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

66          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Assets and liabilities in relation to post-employment benefits  
 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Present value of scheme liabilities  (306,062)  (318,749)

Present value of scheme assets 255,849 261,583 

Amounts recognised as liabilities  (50,213)  (57,166)

 
    
   Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities (defined benefit obligation)  
 

 
2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 318,749 316,284 

Current service cost 5,016 3,425 

Interest cost 7,489 7,650 

Change in demographic assumptions  -   (9,272)

Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation  -   (14,997)

Contributions by scheme participants 995 882 

Remeasurements (liabilities)  (11,701) 28,991 

Benefits paid  (14,776)  (14,399)

Past service costs/curtailments 290 185 

Closing balance at 31 March 306,062 318,749 

    
   Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme assets 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Opening balance at 1 April 261,583 225,655 

Interest on plan assets 6,209 5,195 

Administration expenses  (115)  (110)

Remeasurements (assets)  (6,041) 32,795 

Other actuarial gains/(losses)  -  9,907 

Employer contributions paid - current year 2,830 1,658 

Employer contributions paid - prepayment for 2018/19 and 2019/20 5,164  -  

Contributions by scheme participants 995 882 

Benefits paid  (14,776)  (14,399)

Closing balance at 31 March 255,849 261,583 

  
  The plan assets at the year end were as follows: 

2018 2018 2017 2017 

% £'000 % £'000 

Asset 

Equities 63.9 163,524 64.4 168,485

Gilts 7.3 18,696 8.1 21,232

Other bonds 3.8 9,788 4.1 10,839

Property 7.7 19,699 7.7 20,151

Cash/liquidity 2.5 6,296 2.9 7,466

Other 14.8 37,846 12.8 33,410

Total 100.0 255,849 100.0 261,583  
 

Page 177



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

67          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an 
estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about 
mortality rates, salary levels etc.  
 
The expected rate of return on plan assets is based on market expectations, at the beginning of the 
period, for investments returns over the entire life of the related obligation. 

2018 2017 

Discount rate 2.5% 2.4%

3.9% 4.0%

2.4% 2.5%

2.4% 2.5%

  Males 21.9 21.8

  Females 24.3 24.2

  Males 24.0 23.9

  Females 26.6 26.5

Retiring today:

Retiring in 20 years:

Valuation assumptions

Rate of salary increase

Rate of pension 

Inflation assumption

Future life expectancies from age 65

 
 
It is assumed that 50% of retiring members will take the maximum tax-free lump sum available and 
50% will take the standard 3/80ths cash sum. 
 
Five year history 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 (284,687)  (306,754)  (316,284)  (318,749)  (306,062)

202,762 226,440 225,655 261,583 255,849 

 (81,925)  (80,314)  (90,629)  (57,166)  (50,213)

 (7,523) 22,069  (7,765) 32,795  (6,041)

-3.7% 9.7% -3.4% 12.5% -2.4%

4,315  (22,941)  (12,058)  (28,991) 11,701 

1.5% -7.5% -3.8% -9.1% 3.8%

29,430  -   -  9,272  -  

10.3% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9% 0.0%

26,222  (872)  (19,823) 13,076 5,660 

9.2% -0.3% -6.3% 4.1% 1.8%

 (73,206)  (74,078)  (93,901)  (80,825)  (75,165)

Present value of liabilities

Percentage of scheme liabilities

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognised

Percentage of scheme liabilities

Cumulative actuarial loss recognised 

Changes in actuarial assumptions 

Fair value of assets in the 

pension scheme

(Deficit)/surplus in the 

scheme
Difference between the expected and 

actual return on scheme assets 

Percentage of scheme assets 

Experience gains and (losses) on 

scheme liabilities 

Percentage of scheme liabilities

 
 

33. Financial risk management  
 
The WMCA’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. The main purpose of 
these financial liabilities is to fund the WMCA’s operations. The WMCA has trade and other 
receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that derive directly from its operations. The WMCA 
does not enter into any derivative transactions. 
 
The WMCA is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Currency risk is not a significant 
factor for the WMCA since it ensures that substantially all financial assets and liabilities are 
contracted for in Sterling.   

Page 178



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

68          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

  
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  The WMCA is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including 
deposits with banks, other financial institutions and local authorities. 
 
The WMCA manages the credit risk from its financing activities by restricting its exposure with 
financial institutions to those that are on the official lending list as compiled by the WMCA’s treasury 
management advisors. The criteria for these lending lists are set out in the Treasury Management 
Strategy report and credit ratings monitored constantly through the receipt of credit rating bulletins 
from its treasury management advisors. If a financial institution fails to meet the criteria they are 
removed from the official lending list. The lending list contains financial as well as duration limits 
to reduce risk.  Minimal balances are held for daily cashflow management and any surplus funds 
are invested on the overnight money market with HSBC Bank plc. 
 
Customer credit risk: customers for goods and services are assessed, taking into account their 
financial position, past experience and other factors, with individual credit limits being set in 
accordance with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by the WMCA. 

 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Trade debtors and accrued income (note 22) 19,982 13,670

41,005 31,053

Total 60,987 44,723 

Cash and short-term deposits (note 23)

 
       Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk covers the ease of access to finance. The WMCA has a comprehensive cash flow 
management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as needed. The WMCA maintains 
a sufficient level of liquidity through the use of Money Market Funds/overnight deposits and call 
accounts.  If longer term funding is required, the WMCA has ready access to borrowings from the 
money markets and the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB).  There is no significant risk that it will 
be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments. Instead, the risk is that the WMCA will be bound 
to replenish a significant proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates, but 
effective cash management ensures any borrowing is undertaken at favourable rates.  

 
Market risk 
The WMCA is exposed to the risk of interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments. 
It manages those risks as follows: 

 New long-term borrowings are only undertaken if required to meet cash flow requirements. 

 Debt restructuring is undertaken when financially viable to take account of fluctuating 
interest rates. 

 Limits are set on the proportion of its borrowing limits in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  

 
EU Referendum 
Following the triggering of Article 50 on 29 March 2017, WMCA continues to closely assess and 
manage the direct effects of the UK leaving the European Union, in relation to market reaction (i.e. 
returns on investments), financial stability of counter parties, likelihood of future funding opportunities 
and options for raising finance. The WMCA are assisted in this regard by professional Treasury 
Management advisors, Arlingclose Limited. 

  

Page 179



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

69          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 
All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year.  The maturity profile of finance 
lease liabilities is shown in note 25. 

 

 
34. Financial Instruments 

 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. 
Short-term debtors consist of trade debtors and accrued income, short-term creditors consist of 
trade creditors and accruals.  

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Investments (note 21)  -   -  11,000 22,000 11,000 22,000 

Short-term debtors (note 22)  -   -  19,982 13,670 19,982 13,670

Cash and cash equivalents (note 23)  -   -  38,255 28,303 38,255 28,303

Total financial assets  -   -  69,237 63,973 69,237 63,973 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Borrowings (note 24) 129,100 152,416 25,561 7,663 154,661 160,079 

Finance lease liabilities (note 25)  -  991  -  1,684  -  2,675 

Short-term creditors  (note 26)  -   -  37,537 42,037 37,537 42,037 

Transferred debt (note 28) 7,185 7,873 688 626 7,873 8,499 

Total financial liabilities 136,285 161,280 63,786 52,010 200,071 213,290 

Total 

Financial assets - loans and 

receivables

Long-term Current 

 
 
The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
relation to financial instruments consist of the following items:  

 

2017-18 2016-17 

Financial 

assets: 

loans and 

receivables

Financial 

liabilities 

at 

amortised 

cost Total 

Financial 

assets: 

loans and 

receivables

Financial 

liabilities 

at 

amortised 

cost Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 (297)  -   (297)  (224)  -   (224)

Interest expense (note 13)  -  10,536 10,536  -  12,151 12,151 

 (297) 10,536 10,239  (224) 12,151 11,927 

Interest income (note 13)

Net loss/(gain) for the year in the 

surplus or deficit on the provision of 

services
 

 
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
The table below compares the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities to their fair value. 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

  

Page 180



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

70          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 

amount value amount value 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Financial assets - loans and receivables

Investments 11,000 11,000 22,000 22,000 

Short-term debtors 19,982 19,982 13,670 13,670

Cash and cash equivalents 38,255 38,255 28,303 28,303

Total financial assets 69,237 69,237 63,973 63,973 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 144,557 206,759 149,971 221,188 

Barclays 10,104 14,339 10,108 14,896 

Total borrowings 154,661 221,098 160,079 236,084

Finance lease liabilities  -   -  2,675 2,675 

Short-term creditors 37,537 37,537 42,037 42,037 

Transferred debt 7,873 9,083 8,499 10,473 

Total financial liabilities 200,071 267,718 213,290 291,269 

31 March 2017 31 March 2018

 
Short-term debtors and creditors, cash and cash equivalents and finance lease liabilities approximate 
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term nature of these instruments.  
 
Barclays: the valuation method used is to discount contractual (or expected) cash flows at the 
market rate for local authority loans of the same remaining term, which is an income approach. 
 
PWLB: the valuation model considers the present value of the cashflows expected over the 
remaining life of each loan discounted using lending rates for new loans based on PWLB rates at 
the measurement date, which is an income approach.  The fair value is adjusted to reflect the 
premium or discount charged for early repayment. 
 
The key inputs for Barclays and PWLB valuation model are contractual future cash flows which 
are then discounted using a discount rate. The discount rate ranges from 0.80% to 2.41% 
depending on the remaining term. 
 
Transferred debt: this consists mainly of PWLB and LOBOs. The valuation technique for PWLB is 
to discount contractual cash flows at the market rate for local authority loans of the same remaining 
term. The valuation technique for LOBOs is to discount contractual cash flows at the market rate 
for local authority loans of the same remaining term and add the value of the lenders’ option from 
a market option pricing model. The key inputs for these valuation models are contractual future 
cash flows which are then discounted using a discount rate. The discount rates used for PWLB 
and LOBOs ranges from 1.47% to 2.05% and 1.98% respectively.  
 
The fair valuation methodology for borrowings and transferred debt are at level 2 – significant 
observable inputs. There have been no changes in valuation methodology during the year. 

 
  

Page 181



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

71          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
35. Operating leases 

  
Leases as lessee 
Land and buildings - land is acquired for park and ride sites and bus stations by entering into 
operating leases.  Some of these leases are non-cancellable with typical lives of 25 years.  
 
Supported bus services - the WMCA has determined that the tendered service contracts of four 
(2017: four) bus operators take the form of operating leases under IFRIC 4.    

 
The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases at 31 March 
2018 are as follows: 
 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Land and buildings

Less than one year 458 237 

Between two and five years 1,394 676 

More than five years 3,005 3,115 

4,857 4,028 

Supported bus services

Total contract spend:

Less than one year 638 735 

Between two and five years 483 659 

1,121 1,394 

 
Leases as lessor 
The WMCA leases out parts of the Head Office at Summer Lane, various units at bus stations and 
land and buildings acquired for the future expansion of park and ride sites whilst they are awaiting 
development. These are a mixture of cancellable and non-cancellable operating leases.   
 
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 March 2018 are 
as follows: 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Land and buildings

Less than one year 197 198 

Between two and five years 547 564 

More than five years 2,065 2,024 

2,809 2,786 

 
  

Page 182



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

72          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
36. Capital commitments 

 
At 31 March 2018, the WMCA has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or 
enhancement of property, plant and equipment and future years for £106.790m (2017: £8.39m). The 
major commitments are listed in the table below: 

2018 2017 

£'000 £'000 

Longbridge Connectivity Package 3,013  -  

Coventry City Centre South Regeneration 97,203  -  

Metro Catenary Free 6,574 8,390 

106,790 8,390  
 
 

37. Contingent liabilities and guarantees 
 

The West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund is guaranteed by National 
Express Group plc and Preston City Council. In the event of the pension fund becoming insolvent 
and National Express Group plc and Preston City Council not meeting their guarantee, then the 
WMCA would be liable to meet any excess liabilities.  
 
The pension fund was established by Government Regulation on 29 November 1991 and became 
active on 4 December 1991. The date of the last triennial actuarial valuation was 31 March 2016, 
the actuarial value was £569m. The valuation resulted in a deficit of £105m against the market 
value of £464m. As at 31 March 2018 the market value of the pension fund was £492m (2017: 
£502m).  
 
The WMCA has guarantees with local authorities lodged with the bank in connection with works being 
undertaken at various car parks as follows: 
 £’000 
 Sandwell MBC (2 guarantees)  104  
 Birmingham City Council (1 guarantee)  97 
  

 
38. Related party disclosures  

 
The WMCA is required to disclose material transactions with related parties - bodies or individuals 
that have the potential to control or influence the WMCA or to be controlled or influenced by the 
WMCA. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the WMCA 
might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability 
to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the WMCA. These include: 
 
Central Government 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the WMCA. It is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the WMCA operates and provides 
funding in the form of grants. Grants received from Government Departments together with grant 
receipts not yet recognised due to conditions attached to them at 31 March 2018 are set out in note 
15. 
 
Members 
Members of the WMCA have direct control over the WMCA’s financial and operating policies. The 
total of members allowances paid in 2017-18 is shown in note 17. All members have at least two roles 
under the Local Government Act 1985 in that they are members of one of the seven constituent 
levying District Councils and are appointed to the WMCA or co-opted to one of its committees.  
 
There were no transactions with related parties during the year (2017: £113k income and £105k 
expenditure with companies in which three members had an interest). Prior year’s transactions related 
to outgoing members. 

Page 183



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

73          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Officers 
During the year there were income transactions of £104k (2017: £45k) relating to rental income and 
payroll recharges, and professional consultancy fees of £172k (2017: £31k) with companies in which 
three (2017: two) officers had an interest. Transactions with these companies were conducted at 
arm’s length. There were no outstanding balances as at 31 March 2018. 

 
Other Public Bodies (subject to common control by central government) 
The WMCA received the following levy payments and funding from the constituent District Councils: 
 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Constituent authorities

Birmingham City Council 47,667 48,955 213 405  -   -  

City of Wolverhampton Council 10,912 11,245 212 305  -   -  

Coventry City Council 14,815 14,999 213 305  -   -  

Dudley MBC 13,576 14,037 213 305  -   -  

Sandwell MBC 13,704 14,078 213 305  -   -  

Solihull MBC 9,025 9,330 212 305  -   -  

Walsall Council 11,843 12,186 212 305  -  4,814 

Non-constituent authorities

Black Country LEP  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Cannock Chase District Council  -   -  21 25  -   -  

Coventry and Warwickshire LEP  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Greater Birmingham and Solihull LEP  -   -  21  -   -   -  

North Warwickshire Borough Council  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council  -   -  21 25  -   -  

Redditch Borough Council  -   -  21 25  -   -  

Rugby Borough Council  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Shropshire Council  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Stratford-on-Avon District Council  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Tamworth Borough Council  -   -  21 25  -   -  

Telford and Wrekin Council  -   -  21 25  -   -  

Warwickshire County Council  -   -  21  -   -   -  

Total 121,542 124,830 1,761 2,360  -  4,814 

LGF LEP funding Contributions Transport Levy 

 
 
Funding paid by the WMCA to the District Councils: 
 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Constituent authorities

Birmingham City Council 7,644 7,687 451 108 

City of Wolverhampton Council 6,245 6,509  -   -  

Coventry City Council 4,741 5,747 17  -  

Dudley MBC 7,875 7,400  -   -  

Sandwell MBC 6,666 7,747  -   -  

Solihull MBC 5,259 7,595 1,997 1,257 

Walsall MBC 5,807 5,620  -   -  

Total 44,237 48,305 2,465 1,365 

Devolved Transport 

Funding 

Economic 

Regeneration 

 
  

Page 184



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued 

 

74          West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 
 

 
Entities controlled or significantly influenced by the WMCA  
During the year, the WMCA paid management fees of £75k to West Midlands Development Capital 
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, for the management of the Brownfield Land and Property 
Development Fund.  
 
West Midlands Rail Limited, a company limited by guarantee where the WMCA has 50% interest, 
received funding contributions of £43k. 
 
Transactions with West Midlands Development Capital Limited and West Midlands Rail Limited were 
conducted at arm’s length. There were no outstanding balances as at 31 March 2018. 
 

 
39. Events after the Reporting Period 

 
The Statement of Accounts were authorised for issue by the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee 
on 21 June 2018. There have been no adjustments to the financial statements after the Balance 
Sheet date. 

Page 185



GLOSSARY 
 

 
75         West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 

 
Accounting Standards 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
are the accounting standards that the WMCA are required to follow when producing the financial 
statements. 
 
Accruals 
An accounting principle that recognises income and expenditure as they are earned or incurred, 
not as money is received or paid. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
Predictions made for factors that will affect the financial position of the pension scheme. 
 
Actuarial Gains and Losses 

Changes in the estimated value of the pension fund because events have not coincided with the 
actuarial assumptions made or the assumptions themselves have changed. 
 
Amortisation 
The measure of the consumption of an intangible asset over its useful life. 
 
Budget 
A budget is a plan of approved spending during a financial year. 
 
Capital Programme 
The plan of approved spending on non-current assets. 
 
CIPFA 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, the institute that governs accounting 
in the public sector. 
 
Deficit 
This occurs when spending exceeds income. 
 
Depreciation 
The measure of wear and tear, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of a 
non-current asset. 
 
Fair Value 
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
Financial Instrument 
Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 
 
Financial Year 
The WMCA’s financial year runs from 1 April to the following 31 March. 
 
Impairment of Asset 
An asset has been impaired when it is judged to have lost value other than through normal use. 
 
Intangible Assets 
An item which does not have physical substance (for example software) but can be identified and 
used by the WMCA over a number of years. 
 

Page 186



GLOSSARY Continued 
 

 
76         West Midlands Combined Authority Financial Report 2018 

 

 

 
Lease 
A finance lease is an agreement to pay for an asset in regular instalments where the person paying 
the lease (the lessee) is deemed to own the asset. In contrast, an operating lease occurs when 
the lessee is not considered to own the asset. 
 
LOBO 
Lenders Options Borrowers Option. A form of loan where the lender can change certain conditions 
of the loan, such as the dates and the interest rate. If this occurs, the borrower then has the option 
of either continuing with the loan or redeeming it in full without a penalty. 
 
Materiality 
An item is material if its inclusion in the financial statements would influence or change the 
judgement of a reasonable person. If the information would have no impact on the decision maker, 
it is deemed not material. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
Spending on assets that have a lasting value but are not owned by the WMCA. 
 
 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WEST MIDLANDS INTEGRATED TRANSPORT 
AUTHORITY PENSION FUND 

 
 
 

Financial Report 
 

      

For the year ended 31 March 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pension Scheme Registry (Pensions Regulator) 10175688  

Page 189



 

 
West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund  

Financial Report  2018 
2 
 

 

Table of Contents 
 
 
 

      Page 
 

Explanatory Foreword ……………………………………….…………………………..2 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report……………………………………………………………6 
 
 
Fund Account……………………………………………………………………………...8 
 
 
Net Assets Statement…………………………………………………………………….8 
 
 
Notes to the Accounts…………………………………………………………………… 9  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 190



EXPLANATORY FOREWORD 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund  

Financial Report  2018 
2 

 
The following statements comprise the Financial Report for the West Midlands Integrated 
Transport Authority (‘ITA’) Pension Fund (‘the Fund’). The accounts cover the financial year from 
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. 

 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy.   
 
The report is set out in the following order: 
 

 Introduction which provides general information on the background of the Fund, 
management and advisors and officers of the Fund, and actuarial position. 
 

 Fund Account which discloses the size and character of financial additions to, 
withdrawals from and changes to the value of the Fund during the accounting period, 
analysed between contributions and benefits, and returns on investments. 

 

 Net Assets Statement which discloses the size and disposition of the net assets of the 
scheme at the end of the year. 

 

 Notes to the Fund Accounts which gives supporting details and analysis concerning the 
contents of the financial statements. 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 191



EXPLANATORY FOREWORD Continued 

 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
3 

 
Introduction  

 
1. History of the Fund 
 
The West Midlands Passenger Transport Authority Pension Fund was established on 29 
November 1991 under the Local Government Superannuation (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Regulations 1991. The Local Transport Act 2008 changed the names of all English Passenger 
Transport Authorities to Integrated Transport Authorities. This was effective from the 9 February 
2009 under Statutory Instrument 2009 No. 107 (C.08), and the West Midlands Passenger 
Transport Authority Pension Fund was changed to the West Midlands Integrated Transport 
Pension Fund (‘the Fund’). 
 
The West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority (ITA) was responsible for the administration 
of the Fund until 16 June 2016 when the responsibility passed to the West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA) when it was established on 17 June 2016 under Statutory Instrument 2016 No 
653 in exercise of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
The effect of the order was that the WMCA was substituted for the ITA as the administering 
authority of the Fund. The City of Wolverhampton Council was appointed by the then ITA as 
agent to administer the Fund on its behalf. The name of the Fund remains unchanged. The 
scheme is governed by the Public Services Pensions Act 2013. The Fund is administered in 
accordance with the following secondary legislation: 
 
(i) The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) 
(ii) The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Saving and Amendments) 
Regulations 2014 (as amended) 
(iii) The Local Government Pensions Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016. 
 
Following the transfer of ownership of West Midlands Travel Limited from local authority to 
employees' ownership, the West Midlands Passenger Transport Authority entered into an 
admission agreement with West Midlands Travel Limited whereby 5,556 existing employees of 
West Midlands Travel Limited transferred on 4 December 1991 from the West Midlands 
Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund to the new Fund. The West Midlands Passenger 
Transport Authority also entered into an admission agreement with Preston Bus Limited, 
following their change from local authority to employee ownership. On 31 March 1993, 162 
employees of the company were transferred from the Lancashire County Council Pension Fund 
to the West Midlands Passenger Transport Authority Fund. Preston Bus Limited decided during 
2005/06 that it wished to terminate its active membership of the Fund and the Passenger 
Transport Authority agreed to this request.  
 
Agreement was reached between Preston Bus Limited and 52 of their 56 existing members to 
terminate their active membership during 2005/2006 in return for a cash lump-sum payment. The 
4 active members remaining at 31 March 2006 subsequently agreed to the same offer. There is 
no provision in the admission agreement for new employees of West Midlands Travel Limited to 
be admitted to the Fund. 
 
 
2. Management of the Fund 
 
The West Midlands Pension Fund (WMPF) Pensions Committee is responsible for the strategic 
management of the assets of the Fund. The role of the Committee is to: 

 Discharge functions of the administering authority for the application of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations for the West Midlands ITA Pension Fund; 

  

Page 192



EXPLANATORY FOREWORD Continued 

 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
4 

 

 Put in place and monitor administration of contributions and payments of benefits as 
required by the regulations, and the proper management and investment of monies held 
for the purpose of paying benefits; 

 Determine and review the provision of resources made available for discharge of the 
function of administrating authority. 

   

 
3. Membership 

 
Membership of the Fund at the year end was as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Funding  
 
Benefits are funded by contributions and investment earnings. Contributions are made by active 
members of the Fund in accordance with the LGPS (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 
Regulations 2013 and range from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay for the financial year ended 
31 March 2018 depending on the level of pay.  
 
In addition to employee contributions, employers’ contributions are paid as set based on triennial 
actuarial funding valuations. The last such valuation was as 31 March 2016. 
 

 
5. Benefits 
 
With effect from 1 April 2008, new rules were introduced replacing the 1997 scheme. The 
principal changes were the replacement of 1/80th of pensionable pay for each year of pensionable 
service plus an automatic lump-sum of three times this amount by one based on 1/60th of 
pensionable pay for each year of pensionable service with no automatic lump-sum. Part of the 
annual pension can be commutated for a one-off tax-free lump-sum at a rate of £12 cash for 
each £1 per annum of pension given up. 
 
There are a range of other benefits provided under the scheme including early retirement, 
disability pensions and death benefits. Benefits are index-linked in order to keep pace with 
inflation. In June 2010, the Government announced that the method of indexation would change 
from the retail prices index to the consumer prices index. This change took effect from 1 April 
2011. 
 
Major changes were introduced to the LGPS from 1 April 2014, in particular the move from basing 
pensions on final salaries to career-average revalued earnings (CARE), with an accrual rate of 
1/49th, and pensions uprated annually in line with the consumer price index. Pension entitlements 
accrued prior to this date continue to be based on final salary. 
 
 

31 March 2017     31 March 2018 

  No       No   

            
  402     Active members  352    
  3,891     Pensioner members  3,923    
  779     Deferred members  722    
             

  5,072      Total members   4,997    

Page 193



EXPLANATORY FOREWORD Continued 

 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
5 

 
6. Bulk annuity insurance arrangement 
 
As an integral part of its risk management and reduction strategy the ITA, in 2011, approved a 
bulk annuity insurance buy-in and, following a comprehensive procurement process, the policy 
was put in place on 18 April 2012 with Prudential Retirement Income Limited (Prudential). The 
insurance cover provides that the insurer underwrites the risk for meeting the liabilities relating 
to West Midlands Travel Limited pensioners on the pension payroll at 11 August 2011. The 
insurance provider will pay the cost of the monthly pension payments for current pensioners 
whilst they or their dependants are entitled to a pension. The initial arrangements do not cover 
the Preston Bus Company liabilities or future West Midlands Travel Limited pension payments 
arising from new pensioners or inflation uplifts or pre-October 1986 service. 
 
The financial effect of the buy-in is explained in note 14 to the accounts. 
 
 
7. Annual Report  
 
A separate annual report, which is available on http://www.wmpfonline.com/wmita is produced 
for the Fund and provides more details about the Fund’s management, financial and investment 
performance. The report also sets out the Fund’s funding and investment strategy. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the West Midlands Combined Authority Board 
 
 
 
Sean Pearce 
Director of Finance  
  
Date:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 194

http://www.wmpfonline.com/wmita


INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 195



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
7 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 196



FUND ACCOUNT AND NET ASSETS STATEMENT  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
8 

 

FUND ACCOUNT 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£'000 Notes £'000

Dealings with members, employers and others directly 

involved in the fund

 (9,504) Contributions 5  (11,434)

 (59) Transfers in from other pension funds 6 -

 (2,654) Other employer contributions 7  (2,756)

 (12,217)  (14,190)

28,769 Benefits 8 29,093 

147           Payments to and on account of leavers 9 882               

8 Other payments 10 3 

28,924 29,978 

16,707 Net withdrawals from dealing with members 15,788 

866 Management expenses 11 951 

17,573 Net withdrawals including fund management expenses 16,739 

Returns on investments

 (18,326) Investment income 12  (17,843)

 (37,118) (Profits) and losses on disposal of investments and changes 

in the market value of investments
13  (4,740)

 (4,148) (Increase)/decrease in value of bulk annuity insurance buy-in 14 16,689 

 (59,592) Net return on investments  (5,894)

 (42,019)

Net (increase)/decrease in the net assets available for 

benefits during the year 10,845 

460,865 Net assets of the fund brought forward 502,884 

502,884 Net assets of the fund carried forward 492,039  
 
 

NET ASSETS STATEMENT 
 

2017 Notes

£'000 £'000

247,173 Investment assets 13 250,593 

255,022 Bulk annuity insurance buy-in 14 238,333 

1,190 Current assets 15 3,453 

(501) Current liabilities 16 (340)

502,884 

Net assets of the fund available to fund benefits at the 

period end 492,039 

2018

 
 
These financial statements replaced the unaudited financial statements certified by Sean Pearce on 
18 May 2018. They were approved for issue by the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee on 21 June 
2018. Events after the Balance Sheet have been considered up to the date of approval.

Page 197



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 

 
West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund  

Financial Report  2018 
9 

 

1. Basis of preparation 
 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Fund’s transactions for the 2017/18 financial year 
and its position as at 31 March 2018. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 which is based 
upon International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector. 
 
The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and report on the net assets available to 
pay pension benefits. The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and 
benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year. The actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits, valued on an International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 basis is disclosed 
in note 22 of these accounts. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Fund account – revenue recognition 
 

a) Contribution income 

Normal contributions, both from the members and from the employer, are accounted for on an 
accruals basis at the percentage rate recommended by the Fund actuary in the payroll period 
to which they relate.  

 
Employers’ augmentation contributions and pensions strain contributions are accounted for in 
the period in which the liability arises. Any amount due in year but unpaid will be classed as a 
current financial asset. Amounts not due until future years are classed as long-term financial 
assets. 
 
Employer deficit funding contributions are accounted for on the due dates on which they are 
payable under the schedule of contributions set by the scheme actuary or on receipt if earlier 
than the due date. 

  
b) Transfers to and from other schemes 

Transfer values represent the amounts received and paid during the year for members who 
have either joined or left the Fund during the financial year and are calculated in accordance 
with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations. Individual transfers in/out are 
accounted for when received/paid. 

 
c) Investment income 

 
(i) Interest income  

Interest income is recognised in the Fund Account as it accrues, using the effective rate 
of the financial instrument as at the date of acquisition or origination. 

 
(ii) Distributions from pooled funds  

Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the date of issue. Any amount not 
received by the end of the reporting period is disclosed in the Net Assets Statement as 
a current financial asset. 

 
(iii) Movement in the net market value of investments  

Changes in the net market value of investments are recognised as income and comprise 
all realised and unrealised profits/losses during the year. 

 

Page 198



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
10 

 
(iv) Benefits underwritten 

The annuity purchased (see note 14) is treated in the accounts as an investment.  Any 
income arising from this insurance contract to cover benefits underwritten is recognised 
in the fund as investment income on an accruals basis. 

 
(v) Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised on the date of the cancellation of units at the mid-price 
in the pooled UK investments held with investment fund managers. 

 
 

Fund account – expense items 
 
d) Benefits payable 

 
Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all amounts known to be due as at the end 
of the financial year. Any amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the Net Assets Statement 
as current liabilities. 
 

e) Taxation  
 

(i) Value Added Tax 
The Fund pays VAT collected on income in excess of VAT payable on expenditure to 
HMRC.  The accounts are shown exclusive of VAT. 
 

(ii) Income Tax 
The Fund is a registered public service scheme under section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the 
Finance Act 2004 and as such is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and 
from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments sold. Income from overseas 
investments suffers withholding tax in the country of origin, unless exemption is permitted.  

 
f) Administration expenses 

 
All administration expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.  
 
The pension administration recharge from the City of Wolverhampton Council is calculated 
on a historical cost basis based on the proportion of time spent by the council’s in-house 
pensions administration team on the Fund’s activities. 

 
g) Investment management expenses 

 
All investment management expenses are accounted for gross on an accruals basis. 
  
Fees of the external investment managers are agreed in the respective mandates governing 
their appointments. Each investment manager receives a fee for their service based on the 
market value of the assets they manage on the Fund’s behalf. All managers have a specific 
target return against a benchmark. 
  
The costs of the in-house fund management team are recharged to the Fund by the City of 
Wolverhampton Council on the same basis as the administration expenses recharge. 

 
h) Oversight and governance costs 

 
All oversight and governance expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. The costs 
include actuarial fees and professional fees relating to the unitisation exercise. 
 
 

Page 199



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
11 

 
Net assets statement 
 

i) Financial assets  

The Fund’s financial assets include debtors (mainly contributions due from members and 
employers), cash and cash equivalents, investment assets and bulk annuity insurance buy-
in. Such financial assets are recognised initially at cost.  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Subsequent to initial 
recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

Debtors are recognised and carried at invoice or contract value less an allowance for any 
amounts which may not be collectable. Should such an amount become uncollectable it is 
written off to the fund account in the period in which it is recognised. 

Investment assets are recognised in the Net Assets Statement on the date the Fund becomes 
party to the contractual acquisition of the asset. Subsequent to initial recognition investment 
assets and the insurance buy-in are measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the asset recognised by the Fund.  

The values of investments as shown in the Net Assets Statement have been determined at 
fair value in accordance with the requirements of the Code and IFRS13 (see note 18). For 
the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, the Fund has adopted the 
classification guidelines recommended in Practical Guidance on Investment Disclosures 
(PRAG/Investment Association, 2016). 
 

j) Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities include amounts due for benefits and management expenses. These 
creditors are recognised and carried at invoice or contract value. Should an amount become 
non-payable, it is written back to the fund account in the period in which it is recognised. 
 

k) Foreign currency transactions 
 
The Fund has no financial assets denominated in foreign currencies. Equities held overseas 
are valued in sterling at source.  
 

l) Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits  
 
The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a triennial basis 
by the scheme actuary in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 and relevant actuarial 
standards. As permitted under IAS 26, the Fund has opted to disclose the actuarial present 
value of promised retirement benefits by way of a note to the Net Assets Statement (note 22). 

 
m) Additional voluntary contributions 

 
The Fund provides an additional voluntary contributions (AVC) scheme for its members, the 
assets of which are invested separately from those of the Fund. The Fund has appointed 
Prudential Assurance Company and Equitable Life as its AVC providers (new AVCs only with 
Prudential Assurance Company). AVCs collected are paid to the AVC providers by employers 
and are specifically for providing additional benefits for individual contributors. Each AVC 
contributor receives an annual statement showing the amount held in their account and the 
movements in the year.  
 
AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance with section 4(2)(b) of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 but 
are disclosed as a note only (note 17). 

Page 200



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
12 

 
3. Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

 
Pension fund liability 
 
The pension fund liability is calculated every three years by the appointed actuary, with 
annual updates in the intervening years. The methodology used is in line with accepted 
guidelines and in accordance with IAS 19. Assumptions underpinning the valuations are 
agreed with the actuary and are summarised in note 21. This estimate is subject to significant 
variances based on changes to the underlying assumptions. 

 
 

4. Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation and 
uncertainty 
 
The financial statements contain estimated figures that are based on assumptions made 
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account 
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances 
cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the 
assumptions and estimates. 
 
The items in the Net Assets Statement and the notes for which there is a significant risk of 
material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 
Bulk annuity insurance buy-in 
 
The bulk annuity insurance buy-in is included in the Net Assets Statement as an asset and 
is valued by the Fund’s actuaries. The assumptions used can be found in note 18. 
 
Pension fund liability 

 
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. 
When actual experience is not in line with the assumptions adopted, a surplus or shortfall 
will emerge at the next actuarial valuation and will require a subsequent contribution 
adjustment to bring the funding back into line with target. 
 
The effects on the net pension liability and funding level of changes in individual assumptions 
have been measured by the Fund’s actuaries. The assumptions used are as follows: 
 

31 March 2017 Assumptions used 31 March 2018

2.40% Discount rate 2.50%

2.50% Salary increases 2.35%

2.50% Pensions increases 2.35%
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
13 

 

31 March 2017
Life expectancy from age 65 

(years)
31 March 2018

Retiring today:

21.8 Males 21.9

23.8 Females 24.0

Retiring in 20 years:

23.9 Males 24.0

26.1 Females 26.3
 

 
The effect on the pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be illustrated as 
follows: 
 

Change in assumptions – year ended 31 March 2018

Adjustment to discount rate 0.5% -0.5%

  Present value of total obligation (£42.1m) £45.4m

Adjustment to long term salary increase 0.5% -0.5%

  Present value of total obligation £2.9m (£2.8m)

Adjustment to pension increases and deferred revaluation 0.5% -0.5%

  Present value of total obligation £42.3m (£39.5m)

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions +1 Year -1 Year

  Present value of total obligation £25.9m (£24.8m)

Increase/(decrease) in pension 

liability 

 
 
 
5. Contributions receivable 

 

       £'000         £'000

Employers

2,767 Normal contributions 2,813 

5,850 Deficit funding 7,625 

26 Early retirement costs 248 

8,643 10,686

Members

859 Normal contributions 748 

2 Additional contributions  -  

861 748

9,504 Total by category 11,434

Analysed by member body:

9,504 Admitted bodies 11,434

9,504 Total by authority 11,434

2016/17 2017/18

 
 
Employers’ contribution rates following the 31 March 2016 valuation for the period 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 2020 are detailed in note 21. 
 
 

  

Page 202



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
14 

 
6. Transfers in from other pension funds 

 

       £'000         £'000

Transfers in

59 Individual transfers  -  

59 Total  -  

2016/17 2017/18

 
 

 
7. Other employer contributions 

 
Pre-October 1986 pension increase liabilities are the responsibility of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority. The West Midlands Combined Authority makes monthly payments to 
the West Midlands Pension Fund who then transfers the payments into the Fund. During the 
year, payments of £2.757m (2017: £2.654m) were made. 
 

 
8. Benefits payable 

 

       £'000         £'000

Pensions

22,946 Retirement pensions 23,350 

2,005 Widows' pensions 2,141 

12 Children's pensions 10 

22 Widowers' pensions 17 

24,985 25,518 

3,167 Commutation and lump-sum retirement benefits 3,538 

617 Lump-sum death benefits 37 

28,769 Total by category 29,093

Analysed by member body:

28,769 Admitted bodies 29,093

28,769 Total by authority 29,093

2017/182016/17

 
 
 

9.  Payments to and on account of leavers 
 

       £'000         £'000

Transfers out

147 Individual transfers out to other schemes and personal pensions 882 

147 Total 882 

2017/182016/17

 
 

During the year, there were eight (2017: one) members who transferred their pensions into 
other schemes and personal pensions. 

  

Page 203



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
15 

 
10. Other payments 

 

       £'000         £'000

8 Interest on late payments 3 

8 Total 3

2016/17 2017/18

 
 
 

11. Management expenses 
 

       £'000         £'000

Administration expenses

120 Administration - City of Wolverhampton Council 120 

120 120 

Investment management expenses

615 Management fees - external 668 

30 Management fees - internal 30 

645 698 

Oversight and governance costs

22 Administration and accountancy - WMCA 22 

8 Subscriptions 8 

3 Actuarial fees 31 

21 Audit fees - external auditor 21 

 -  Audit fees - PSAA refund  (5)

25 Performance monitoring service 22 

 -  Legal fees 9 

20 Professional advisors' fees 23 

2 Bank charges and interest 2 

101 133 

866 Total 951 

2016/17 2017/18

 
 
 

12.  Investment income 
 

       £'000         £'000

7 Interest on cash deposits 6 

16,865 Benefits underwritten 16,337 

1,454 Dividend income 1,500 

18,326 Total 17,843 

2017/182016/17

 
 

Benefits underwritten relates to income received from the insurance contract with Prudential 
meeting the liabilities relating to West Midlands Travel Limited pensioners.  

  

Page 204



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
16 

 
 Dividend income relates to the notional dividend income payment (NDIP) which enables a 
policyholder to draw a regular income from the investment funds. The NDIP is based on the 
underlying yields from UK investments held by the relevant investment funds and is made 
available through cancellation of units of the investment funds at the mid-price. 

 
 

13.  Investment assets 
 

Reconciliation of movements in investments: 
 

Movements during 2017/18
Market value          

1 April 2017

Purchases 

during the 

year

Sales during 

the year

Management 

fees 

deducted

Change in 

market value 

during the 

year

Market value          

31 March 2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pooled investment vehicles

Quoted:

UK - unitised insurance policies 65,028  -  (999)  -  (727) 63,302 

Overseas - unitised insurance policies 87,586  -  (13)  - 3,630 91,203 

Unquoted:

Diversified growth funds 94,559  -  -  (308) 1,837 96,088 

Total investments 247,173  -  (1,012)  (308) 4,740 250,593  
  

 Prior year comparatives: 
 

Movements during 2016/17
Market value          

1 April 2016

Purchases 

during the 

year

Sales during 

the year

Management 

fees 

deducted

Change in 

market value 

during the 

year

Market value          

31 March 2017

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pooled investment vehicles

Quoted:

UK - unitised insurance policies 54,410 3,900  (400)  - 7,118 65,028 

Overseas - unitised insurance policies 74,033  -  (10,800)  - 24,353 87,586 

Unquoted:

Diversified growth funds 79,288 9,900  -  (276) 5,647 94,559 

Total investments 207,731 13,800  (11,200)  (276) 37,118 247,173  
 
Purchases include transfers in of investments, corporate actions, increases in cash deposits 
and increases in net settlements due. Sales proceeds include all receipts from sales of 
investments, transfers out of investments, corporate actions, reductions in cash deposits and 
reductions in net settlements due. The change in market value of investments during the 
year comprises all increases and decreases in the market value of investments held 
including profits and losses realised on sales of investments during the year. 

  

Page 205



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
17 

 
Investments analysed by fund manager: 
 

Market value Market value

£'000 £'000

152,614 62% Legal & General Investment Management 154,505 62%

47,281 19% Baillie Gifford 49,832 20%

47,278 19% Newton 46,256 18%

247,173 100% 250,593 100%

31 March 2017 31 March 2018

% of total fund % of total fund

 
   

Investments analysed by security: 
 

Market value Market value

£'000 £'000

UK equities

9,697 4% UK Equity Index 9,488 4%

9,697 4% 9,488 4%

Overseas equities

24,584 10% Europe (ex UK) Equity Index 25,601 10%

29,002 12% North  America Equity Index 29,381 12%

9,323 4% Japan Equity Index 10,035 4%

14,870 6% World Emerging Markets Equity Index 16,173 6%

9,807 4% Asia Pacific (ex Japan) Dev Equity Index 10,013 4%

87,586 36% 91,203 36%

Gilts and bonds

28,122 11% All Stocks Index-Linked Gilts 27,122 11%

27,209 11% Active Corporate Bond - All Stocks 26,692 11%

55,331 22% 53,814 22%

Diversified growth funds*

47,281 19% Baillie Gifford 49,832 20%

47,278 19% Newton 46,256 18%

94,559 38% 96,088 38%

247,173 100% Total market value 250,593 100%

% of total fund % of total fund

31 March 2017 31 March 2018

 
 
*Diversified growth funds are multi-asset portfolios that are designed to provide equity type 
returns but with less volatility than an equity fund. All tactical asset allocation decisions are 
undertaken by the manager to suit the prevailing market conditions. 
 
As part of its risk management arrangements, the Fund uses pooled investment vehicles 
and has no direct shareholding in companies. 

 
  

Page 206



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
18 

 
14. Bulk annuity insurance buy-in 

 
As an integral part of the Fund’s risk management and reduction strategy, a bulk annuity 
insurance buy-in was put in place during 2012/13. The insurance cover provides that the 
insurer underwrites the risk for meeting the liabilities relating to West Midland Travel Limited 
pensioners on the pension payroll at 11 August 2011 in return for the payment of a one-off 
premium. 
 
Benefits recharged to Prudential during the year have been credited to the Fund account 
and the value of the buy-in recalculated at each year end by the consulting actuary (see note 
18 for methodology) and recognised in the Net Assets Statement as follows:  
 

       £'000         £'000

250,874 Opening market value 255,022

Movements in the year:

4,801 Interest on buy-in 3,572

(16,854) Level pensions paid (16,337)

(2,064) Experience - actuarial loss -

18,265 Change in actuarial assumptions (3,924)

4,148 (16,689)

255,022 Closing market value 238,333

31 March 2017 31 March 2018

 
 
The decrease during the year is mainly due the change in the discount rate which is set with 
reference to the market conditions as at 31 March 2018. Prior year’s gain of £18.2m was the 
result of the 2016 triennial valuation. 

 
 

15. Current assets 
 

31 March 
2017   

  
31 March 2018 

       
£'000             £'000   

          

     Debtors     

 247       Contributions due - employers 240    

 65       Contributions due - members 57    

 2       Other debtors 138    

 314     
  435    

 876     Cash balances  3,018    
           

 1,190      Total  3,453    

            

     Analysis of debtors:     
          

 29     Other local authorities and pension funds  164    

       285     Other entities and indivduals                 271    
          

 314      Total  435    

 
 

Page 207



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
19 

 
Included within cash balances is £2.960m (2017: £0.815m) placed in the West Midlands 
Pension Fund’s STIC Global STG Portfolio. 

 
 

16. Current liabilities 
 

31 March 
2017   

  
31 March 2018 

       
£'000             £'000   

          

 91     Benefits payable  -     

 410     Sundry creditors 340    
           

 501      Total  340    

            

     Analysis of creditors:     
          

 242     Central government bodies 232    

 259     Other entities and individuals 108    
          

 501      Total  340    

 
 

17. Additional voluntary contributions 
 

As well as joining the Fund, scheme members can pay into an additional voluntary 
contribution (AVC) scheme run by two AVC providers. Contributions are paid directly from 
scheme members to the AVC providers.  
 
The contributions and the investments are not included within the Fund accounts, in line with 
regulation 4 (1) (b) of the Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016. The table below shows the activity for each AVC provider in the year. 
 

Equitable Prudential Equitable Prudential

Life Life

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

157 696 Opening value of the fund 172 719 

1 119 Income 1 119 

 -   (141) Expenditure  (100)  (157)

14 45 Change in market value 3 21 

172 719 Closing value of the fund 76 702 

2016/17 2017/18

 
 
 

18. Fair value – basis of valuation 
 
The basis of the valuation of each class of investment is set out below. There has not been 
any change in the valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been valued 
using fair value techniques which represent the highest and best price available at the 
reporting date. 
 

Page 208



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
20 

 

Asset Type
Valuation 

level
Basis of valuation

Observable and Unobservable 

inputs

Key 

sensitivities

Pooled investment 

vehicles - quoted 

unitised insurance 

policies

1 Closing bid price if both bid and 

offer prices are published. 

Not required Not required

Pooled investment 

vehicles - diversified 

growth funds

2 Diversified growth funds invest in 

a variety of liquid assets. Values 

are derived from several sources 

including the use of quoted 

market prices and valuation 

techniques used by external 

managers based on significantly 

observable market data.

NAV based pricing set on a 

forward pricing basis.

Not required

Bulk annuity 

insurance buy-in

3 Provided by the Fund's actuary 

based on a roll-forward of the 

value placed on the buy-in as part 

of the 2016 triennial actuarial 

valuation, allowing for estimated 

level pensions paid and the 

change in the discount rate used 

to value the buy-in.

Key underlying inputs for the 

valuation are the discount rate 

and life expectancy. Discount 

rate has been set at 1.60% with 

reference to the 13-year point of 

the Bank of England nominal gilt 

yield curve, consistent with the 

2016 valuation of the Fund.

Adjustments 

to discount 

rate and life 

expectancy

 
 
Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3 
 
The key underlying inputs for the buy-in valuation are the discount rate and life expectancy. The 
impact of changes as calculated by the Fund’s actuary is shown below: 
 

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 2018

Adjustment to discount rate +0.5% -0.5%

  Value of buy-in (£12.0m) £12.7m

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions +1 Year -1 Year

  Value of buy-in £11.0m (£10.5m)

Increase/(decrease) in value of 

buy-in

 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
Asset and liability valuations have been  classified into three levels, according to the quality 
and reliability of information used to determine fair values. Transfers between levels are 
recognised in the year in which they occur. 
 
Level 1 
Assets and liabilities at level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Products classified as level 
1 comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed securities, quoted index linked securities and unit 
trusts.  
 
Level 2 
Assets and liabilities at level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for 
example, where an instrument is traded in a market that is not considered to be active, or 
where valuation techniques are used to determine fair value.  
 

Page 209



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
21 

 
Level 3 
Assets and liabilities at level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant 
effect on the instrument's valuation is not based on observable market data.  
 
The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Fund 
grouped into Levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which the fair value is observable. There 
have been no transfers between levels during the year. 
 

Quoted market 

price

Using 

observable 

inputs

With significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Values at 31 March 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit and loss 154,505 96,088 238,333 488,926 

Net investment assets 154,505 96,088 238,333 488,926  
 

Quoted market 

price

Using 

observable 

inputs

With significant 

unobservable 

inputs
Values at 31 March 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit and loss 152,614 94,559 255,022 502,195 

Net investment assets 152,614 94,559 255,022 502,195  
 
A reconciliation of fair value measurements within level 3 is shown in note 14. 

 
 

19.  Financial instruments 
 
The following table analyses the carrying amounts of financial instruments by category and 
Net Assets Statement heading. No financial instruments were reclassified during the 
accounting period. 
 

Fair value Loans Financial Fair value Loans Financial 

through and liabilities at through and liabilities at

profit and receiv- amortised profit and receiv- amortised 

loss ables cost loss ables cost

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

247,173 -           -  Investment assets 250,593 -           -  

255,022 -           -  Bulk annuity insurance buy-in 238,333 -           -  

 -  876          -  Cash balances -             3,018  -  

 -  314  -  Debtors -             435  -  

502,195 1,190  -  488,926 3,453  -  

Financial liabilities

 -   -   (259) Creditors  -   -   (108)

502,195 1,190  (259) 488,926 3,453  (108)

31 March 201831 March 2017

 
  

Page 210



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
22 

 
Net (gains) and losses on financial instruments 
 

31 March 2017 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Financial assets

Designated at fair value through profit and loss:

 (37,118) Investment assets  (4,740)

 (4,148) Bulk annuity insurance buy-in 16,689 

 (41,266) 11,949 

 (7) Loans and receivables  (6)

 (41,273) Total 11,943  
 

 
20. Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

   
The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that the Fund’s assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. 
promised benefits payable to members). Therefore, the aim of investment risk management 
is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the value of the Fund and to maximise the 
opportunity for gains across the whole Fund portfolio. The Fund achieves this through asset 
diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price risk, currency risk and interest rate 
risk) and credit risk to an acceptable level. In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to 
ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund’s forecast cash flows. The Fund manages 
these investment risks as part of its overall pension fund risk management programme which 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets, and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the resources available to fund services. 

 
Responsibility for the Fund’s risk management strategy rests with the West Midlands 
Pension Fund Pensions Committee. Risk management policies are established to identify 
and analyse the risks faced by the Fund’s activities. Policies are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in activity and in market conditions. Policies covering specific areas relating to the 
Fund are as follows: 

 
Investment risk 

 
In order to achieve its statutory obligations to pay pensions, the Fund invests its assets, 
including employer and employee contributions, in a way that allows it to meet its liabilities 
as they fall due for payment. It does this by matching assets to liabilities through the triennial 
actuarial valuation and an appropriate asset allocation.  

 
During the year, excluding the bulk annuity buy-in, the Fund targeted a 73-79% exposure to 
equities as ‘growth’ assets and 21-27% to ‘matching’ assets, such as UK bonds or gilts which 
provide the best match for liabilities, i.e. payments of benefits to members in future years. 
Risks in growth assets include market risk (the greatest risk), issuer risk and volatility, which 
are mitigated by diversification across asset classes, markets and sectors. Mitigating interest 
rate risk and inflation risk points to significant investment in bonds, but doing so at the 
expense of ‘growth’ assets may increase the costs of funding. ‘Matching assets’ backed by 
the UK Government are considered low risk, with corporate bonds carrying some additional 
issuer risk. 
 
Counterparty risk 

 
In deciding to effect any transaction for the Fund, considerable steps are taken to ensure 
that the counterparty is suitable and reliable, that the transaction is in line with the Fund’s 
strategy  and  that the  terms and  circumstances of the transaction are the best available in  

Page 211



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
23 

 
the relevant market at the time.  Comprehensive due diligence processes are in place to 
ensure that any potential counterparty is authorized  and  regulated,  competent  to  deal  in 
investments of the type and size contemplated and has appropriate administration 
arrangements with regard to independent auditors, robust administration and accounting, 
relevant legal structure and experienced staff. 

 
Legal agreements are implemented and continuous monitoring of counterparties is 
undertaken by fund officers in relation to suitability and performance, in addition to 
compliance with regulatory and Fund-specific requirements. 
 
Credit risk 

 
The Fund’s deposits with financial institutions as at 1 April 2017 or the 31 March 2018 are 
disclosed in note 15. The Fund’s surplus cash may be placed with an approved financial 
institution on a short-term basis and in accordance with the cash management policy and 
restrictions set out in the Compliance Manual. The policy specifies the cash deposit limit with 
each approved counterparty, as determined by a comprehensive scoring exercise 
undertaken by fund officers using specialist rating and market research data, which is 
reviewed on a regular basis.  

 
Liquidity risk 

 
The Fund has a comprehensive daily cash flow management procedure which seeks to 
ensure that cash is available as needed. When additional deposits are required to meet 
future pension payrolls, cash is provided by one of the investment managers (in accordance 
with the asset allocation) who will liquidate a small proportion of assets under management 
as instructed by the Fund. Due to the cash flow management procedures and the liquidity of 
the assets held, there is no significant risk that the Fund will be unable to raise cash in order 
to meet its liabilities.   

 
Currency risk 

 
Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Even though the 
Fund has no financial assets denominated in foreign currencies, it is exposed to currency 
risk on its overseas equity portfolio as the movement in value takes account of changes in 
exchange rates of the underlying investments.  

The aim of investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the 
value of the Fund and to maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole fund portfolio. 
The Fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price 
risk, currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit risk to an acceptable level. 
 
Price risk sensitivity analysis 
 
Price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result 
of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign 
exchange risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the market. 
 
Potential price changes are determined based on the observed historical volatility of asset 
class returns. ‘Riskier’ assets such as equities will display greater potential volatility than 
bonds as an example, so the overall outcome will depend largely on the Fund’s asset 
allocations. In consultation with the Fund's performance advisors, the Fund has determined 
that the following future  movements in  market  price risk are reasonably possible based on  
 

Page 212



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
24 

 
2017/18 closing values: 

 

Asset type Value % Change

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£'000 £'000 £'000

UK equities 9,488 16.8% 11,082 7,894

Overseas equities 91,203 17.9% 107,528 74,878

Total bonds 26,692 8.7% 29,014 24,370

Index linked 27,122 8.3% 29,373 24,871

Diversified growth funds 96,088 12.6% 108,195 83,981

Cash 3,018 0.5% 3,033 3,003

Total assets 253,611 288,225 218,997  
 

The potential price changes on the 2016/2017 closing values are shown below for 
comparison purposes: 
 

Asset type
Value % Change

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£'000 £'000 £'000

UK equities 9,697 15.8% 11,229 8,165 

Overseas equities 87,586 18.4% 103,702 71,470 

Total bonds 27,209 10.9% 30,175 24,243 

Index linked 28,122 23.0% 34,590 21,654 

Diversified growth funds 94,559 12.5% 106,379 82,739 

Cash 876 0.0% 876 876 

Total assets 248,049 286,951 209,147  
 

Interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis 
 
The Fund’s investments are subject to interest rate risks, which represent the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.  

 
The Fund's direct exposure to interest rate movements as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 
2018 is set out below. These disclosures present interest rate risk based on the underlying 
financial assets at fair value:  

 

Carrying 

amount as at 

31 March 

2017 Asset type

Carrying 

amount as at 

31 March 

2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

+100BPS* -100BPS* +100BPS* -100BPS*

876 9  (9)  Cash and cash equivalents 3,018 30  (30)

55,331 553  (553)  Fixed interest securities 53,814 538  (538)

56,207 562  (562)  Total change in assets 56,831 568  (568)

Change in year in the 

net assets available to 

pay benefits

Change in year in the 

net assets available 

to pay benefits

 
*BPS – basis points 

  

Page 213



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
25 

 
Regulatory risk 

 
These include any changes to pension regulations e.g. more favourable benefits packages 
and/or HMRC rules. In order to manage this risk, changes to regulations are continuously 
monitored. 
 
 

21.  Funding arrangements  
 

In line with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the Fund’s actuary 
undertakes a funding valuation every three years for the purpose of setting employer 
contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period. The last such valuation took place as 
at 31 March 2016. As a result, employers’ contributions have been adjusted from 1 April 
2017. 

 
The key elements of the funding policy are: 
 

 to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, i.e. that sufficient funds are available to 
meet all pension liabilities as they fall due for payment 

 to ensure that employer contribution rates are as stable as possible 

 to minimise the long-term cost of the scheme by recognising the link between assets 
and liabilities and adopting an investment strategy that balances risk and return 

 to reflect the different characteristics of employing bodies in determining contribution 
rates where the administering authority considers it reasonable to do so 

 to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and, ultimately, to 
the council tax payer from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations. 

 
The results of the valuation as at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2016 and the actuarial 
assumptions used are shown below. 
 

31 March 31 March 

Valuation results 2016 2013

Valuation Valuation

Funding target as % of existing and prospective liabilities 100% 100%

Common rate of employer’s contributions 25.1% 21.5%

(calculated using the attained age method)

Market value of the fund £464m £449m

Actuarial value of the fund £569m £563m

Funding level in relation to past service liabilities 82% 84%

Offset to allow for market changes after the valuation date* n/a (£28m)

Deficit in relation to past service (£105m) (£86m)
 

*allows for impact on assets and liabilities 
  

Page 214



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
26 

 

Valuation assumptions 2016 valuation 2013 valuation

Discount rate - West Midlands Travel Limited

Pre-retirement (non-retired members) 4.5% p.a. 5.5% p.a.

Post-retirement (non-retired members) As above 3.5% p.a.

Post retirement (retired members - non buy-in) As above 3.5% p.a.

Post retirement (retired members - buy-in) 1.9% p.a. 3.0% p.a.

Buy-in asset valuation 1.9% p.a. 2.5% p.a.

Discount rate - Preston Bus Limited

Pre-retirement 2.8% p.a. 5.0% p.a.

Post-retirement As above 3.0% p.a.

Salary increases 2.3% p.a. 2.6% p.a.

Pension increases in payment 2.3% p.a. 2.6% p.a.

Retired members' mortality - base tables

S2PA tables with a 

multiplier of 110% for 

current pensioners (both 

normal and ill-health) and 

future dependants

CMI self administered 

pensions schemes (SAPS) 

tables with scheme and 

member category specific 

adjustments

Retired members' mortality - future improvements

CMI 2015 model 

methodology with 1.5%p.a. 

long-term trend

CMI 2013 model 

methodology with 

1.25%p.a. long-term trend

Commutation assumption

Members will commute 

pension to provide a lump 

sum of 50% of the 

additional maximum 

allowed under HMRC rules 

and this will be at a rate of 

£12 lump sum for £1 of 

pension

50% of retiring members 

will take the maximum tax-

free lump available and 

50% will take the standard 

3/80ths cash sum for pre 

April 2008 service

 
 
Key: 
CMI – The Continuous Mortality Investigation 
S2PA – Post retirement mortability tables 

 
Following the 31 March 2016 valuation, employers' contribution rates for the period from 1 
April 2017 to 31 March 2020 have been set at 25.1% per annum plus £7,300,000 (2017/18), 
£7,467,900 (2018/19) and £7,639,700 (2019/20) for West Midlands Travel Limited. The 
contributions have taken into consideration the support of the Group guarantee which has 
been extended following discussions as part of the valuation process. The contributions 
certified are conditional on the guarantee remaining in place for the employer relating to its 
participation in the Fund. 

A rate of 0% plus £325,000 per annum was determined as the appropriate rate for Preston 
Bus Limited following the 31 March 2016 valuation. This followed the decision by Preston 
Bus Limited to opt out of the scheme in February 2006. The annual lump-sum only payment 
will continue to be paid in order to cover the past service default that has accrued. 

If non ill-health retirements exceed those provided for in the valuation, it may be necessary 
to review the employers' contribution rate. The funding method adopted is known as the 
‘attained age method’ which is consistent with the funding objective and appropriate as the 
Fund is closed to new members and has an ageing membership profile. 

 

Page 215



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Continued  
 

 
                     West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund 
           Financial Report  2018 
27 

 
The Fund’s assets at 31 March 2016 valuation was £464m, of this £256m was in respect of 
the buy-in asset value with the remaining representing the Fund’s invested assets. 

 
 

22. Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 
 
In addition to the triennial funding valuation, the Fund’s actuary also undertakes a valuation 
of the Fund liabilities, on an IAS 19 basis, every year using the same base data as the 
funding valuation rolled forward to the current financial year, taking account of changes in 
membership numbers and updating assumptions to the current year. 
 
In order to assess the value of the benefits on this basis, the actuary has updated the 
actuarial assumptions (set out below) from those used for funding purposes (see note 21). 
The actuary has also used valued ill health and death benefits in line with IAS 19. 
Demographic assumptions are the same as those used for funding purposes.  
 
The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits at 31 March 2018 was £619.3m 
(2017: £650.6m). The Fund accounts do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and 
other benefits in the future. 
 
The liabilities above are calculated on an IAS 19 basis and therefore differ from the results 
of the 2016 triennial funding valuation because IAS 19 stipulates a discount rate rather than 
a rate which reflects market rates. 
 

31 March 2017 Assumptions used 31 March 2018

2.40% Discount rate 2.50%

2.50% Salary increases 2.35%

2.50% Pensions increases 2.35%
 

 
 

23. Related party transactions 
 
The West Midlands Combined Authority recharges administrative costs incurred to the Fund. 
The recharges for the year ended 31 March 2018 are £22,000 (2017: £22,000), as detailed 
in note 11. There are no other related party disclosures, as none of the members of the West 
Midlands Pension Fund Pensions Committee or the employees of the Fund’s advisors and 
officers who hold key positions are members of the Fund. 
 
 

24. Events after the Reporting Date 
 

Following guidance from Central Government, local authority investment pools have been 
created to bring together the investment assets of local authority pension funds into eight 
investment pools across England and Wales. Authorities across the Central region joined 
together to form LGPS Central which was set up in October 2016 to manage one of these 
eight national investment pools. LGPS Central Limited, an FCA-regulated company, began 
trading on 1 April 2018 in line with government regulations following FCA authorisation 
earlier in the year. The Fund and eight other LGPS funds across the Midlands are the 
participating funds in the LGPS Central investment pool. Whilst the Fund participates in 
LGPS Central Limited, it is not a shareholder. No assets in the Fund have been transitioned 
to date and proposals to transition future assets will be given full consideration to ascertain 
the suitability of the offering by the company to meet the strategic requirements of the Fund. 

 

Page 216



Document is Restricted

Page 217

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2018
	6 Forward Plan
	7 Strategic Risk Register
	Appendix 1 - Strategic Risk Register

	9 Review of Arrangements for Standards and Conduct in the Combined Authority
	10 Devolution Deal - Update on Changes to Fire Service Governance
	11 Internal Audit Update
	12 Investment Portfolio Governance Audit Update 2018
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	13 Annual Accounts 2017/18 for West Midlands Combined Authority
	WMCA and ITA Audit Findings Summary
	WMCA - Audit Findings Report
	WMITA Pension Fund - Audit Findings
	WMCA Letter of Representation
	WMITA Pension Fund Letter of Representation
	WMCA Accounts 2017-18
	Pension Fund Accounts 2017-18

	15 Health & Safety Governance Structures
	Appendix 1


